DO IMPACTS FROM FOREST HARVESTING SPATIALLY ACCUMULATE

IN STREAM NETWORKS?

by

Kelli Charbonneau

Bachelor of Science, Queen's University, 2016

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in the Graduate Academic Unit of Biology

 Supervisors: Karen Kidd, PhD., Biology Department & Canadian Rivers Institute
 Michelle Gray, PhD., Faculty of Forestry and Environmental Management & Canadian Rivers Institute
 Examining Board: Donald Baird, PhD., Biology Department & Canadian Rivers Institute, Chair
 Paul Sibley, PhD., School of Environmental Sciences, University of Guelph
 Dave Kreutzweiser, PhD., Canadian Forest Service, Natural Resources Canada

This thesis is accepted by the Dean of Graduate Studies

THE UNIVERSITY OF NEW BRUNSWICK

October, 2018

© Kelli Charbonneau, 2019

ABSTRACT

Despite a suite of provincial guidelines working in concert with federal policy to promote sustainable forest management in Canada, legacies of ecosystem degradation from forestry persist, particularly within nearby streams. Harvesting-induced impacts to small headwaters tend to be well-studied and reasonably predictable, but it is lesser known how impacts manifest in larger downstream areas and if best management practices (BMPs) designed to protect against such impacts are effective at broader spatial scales. To address this uncertainty, I examined ecosystem indicators affected by selection-based harvesting under BMPs within mixed hardwood forest catchments along a spatial gradient (1st to 4th order streams, drainage areas 49 to 1856 ha). Indicators included water chemistry, dissolved organic matter (DOM) quality, sediment deposition and organic matter content, leaf litter decomposition and associated macroinvertebrate community structures, analysis of the algal contribution to stream consumer diet, and mercury (Hg) in water and biota. Indicator responses along the spatial gradient for streams within paired harvested and reference catchments were compared using twofactor ANOVAs. A significant interaction between treatment (reference vs. harvested) and sample site location (upstream, middle-reach, and downstream) was used as evidence for spatially cumulative trends within the harvested catchment (i.e., indicator response over spatial range differed in harvested catchment compared to reference catchment). A treatment effect with potential to have adverse implications at downstream sites in harvested catchments indicated that BMPs were not effective at preventing impacts at broader spatial scales. Overall, I found strong evidence for forest harvesting-induced spatially cumulative trends for % organic content of coarse sediment

ii

and various endpoints for Hg in water and biota. BMPs were effective at preventing an adverse impact from harvesting at downstream sites for all indicators except sediment deposition, % dietary algae, Hg(II) in biota, and bioaccumulation factor for MeHg in biota, but they were not effective at upstream sites (i.e., local spatial scale) for conductivity, total nitrogen, % organic content of sediment, % shredders, % dietary algae, and MeHg and Hg(II) in water and biota. My study contributes to a comprehensive and predictive understanding of the potential for spatially cumulative trends within harvested catchments, which is critical to help forest managers maintain healthy forest streams and their provisioning of aquatic ecosystem services for future generations of humans and wildlife alike.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Karen Kidd, for the opportunity to participate in this research, and for her ongoing support, direction, and patience throughout the course of my project. I would also like to acknowledge my co-supervisor, Dr. Michelle Gray, for graciously stepping in part-way through the project, and for her willingness to provide thoughtful feedback. A sincere thank you to my examining committee members, Drs. Donald Baird, Paul Sibley, and Dave Kreutzweiser, for providing edits, expertise, and guidance throughout the course of my degree, as well as for offering a host of in-kind support. Thank you also to Dr. Erik Emilson, my pseudo-committee member, for his continuous help with planning and conducting my field work, as well as for his support with data analysis and statistics. The time and energy you have all invested in me have helped to make this project a success and pushed me to be a better researcher, for which I am extremely grateful. I am also very thankful to NSERC-CNAES, NSERC-CGS, UNB, and NBIF for financially supporting my research and related travel.

My field work would not have been possible without the help of so many people at the Great Lakes Forestry Centre (GLFC): Scott Capell, Kristin Daoust, Kevin Good, Ken McIlwrick, Mark Primavera, Kerry Keizer, and Erik and Caroline Emilson. Thank you all for braving some often miserable weather (heavy downpours and the occasional blizzard) and brutal terrain (deep mud, washouts, and overgrown trails) to ensure I was able to collect all of the required samples. My biggest thanks goes to Scott, who was there with me in the field every day and worked tirelessly to ensure everything was completed and completed well. I am also indebted to Kristin, who began as a field

iv

partner and grew to be a close friend. Kristin made every rainy day brighter, every stressful task easier, and every field meal tastier. Scott and Kristin both went above and beyond their duties to help me out, and I credit them the most with the success of my field work. David Krabbenhoft and Jake Ogorek at the USGS also provided a lot of advice and equipment to help with my sample design for seston collection. Working in the field with this great team was by far the highlight of my research project.

I also received a lot of help with my lab analyses. Again, thank you to Scott and Kevin for teaching me the basics of macroinvertebrate identification, to Mikkealla for picking a large portion of my invertebrates, and to Scott for taking on the bulk of the sample IDing. I am also very grateful to Kevin for his GIS expertise, including making the maps included in my thesis and providing catchment characteristic data. Thank you to Linda Vogel, Laura Hawdon, and Kristi Broad at the GLFC water quality lab for performing all of my water chemistry and dissolved organic matter analyses. At Acadia, a huge thank you to Nelson O'Driscoll for his generous hospitality during my stays in Wolfville and help troubleshooting my MeHg data. I would also like to sincerely thank Sara Klapstein for her guidance with my MeHg analyses not only during early mornings/late nights in the lab, but also through many e-mails and Skype calls afterwards. Another thanks to Jocelyn Kickbush and Rachel Clarke for their help analyzing Hg in my sediment samples.

In the lab at UNB, Angella Mercer, Maitane Erdozain, Bethany Reinhart, Jon Fischer-Rush, Jennifer Loughery, and Jennifer Thera were great resources for lab analyses and feedback with presentations and written work, and became great friends during my time in Saint John. In particular, I am grateful to Maitane for fielding my

v

infinite list of questions and concerns, and for sharing her forestry research expertise. At McMaster, I would like to thank the Wilson, Dworkin, and Weretylnik labs, as well as the Geography Department, for allowing me to use their equipment before Karen's lab was up and running. A special thank you to Katarina Aleksa , Eliza Wu, Elise Millar, and Victoria Restivo for being great office mates and keeping my spirits up during the final months of my degree.

Last but certainly not least, I would like to thank my family for supporting and encouraging me throughout this entire process, even when I forced them to help me move to New Brunswick just to move back to Ontario a year later. Thank you also to my friends and to Saad, who likely know as much about streams as I do at this point for how much they have had to listen to me talk about them, for the unrelenting support, reassurance, and motivation.

This project undoubtedly would not have been possible without you all, and I am so, so grateful.

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	xii
List of Abbreviations	xvii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Forests and Forest Streams	1
1.2. Forest Management in Canada	3
1.3. Impacts of Forest Management Activities on Streams	3
1.3.1. Temperature & Hydrology	3
1.3.2. Transport of Particulate & Dissolved Materials	4
1.3.3. Organic Matter Cycling	6
1.3.4. Stream Biota	8
1.3.5. Mercury	11
1.4. Regulations & Guidelines for Forest Management in Canada	13
1.5. Cumulative Impacts	14
1.6. Research Ouestion & Objectives	17
1.7. Hypotheses	17
1.8. Approach	18
1.8.1. Study Area.	18
1.8.2. Experimental Design	19
1.8.3. Indicators	20
1.9. Project Significance	20
2 Methods	23
2.1 Study Area & Site Selection	23
2.2. Indicators of Spatially Cumulative Impacts	
2.2.1. Sampling Details	
2.2.2. Stream Temperature	
2.2.3. Stream Size & Flow	
2.2.4. Water Chemistry & Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) Quality	
2.2.5. Sediment Deposition	
2.2.6. Leaf Litter Decomposition & Associated Macroinvertebrates	
2.2.7. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes	36
2.2.8. Mercury (Hg)	
2.3. Statistical Analysis	
2.3.1. Principal Component Analysis	45
2.3.2. Non-Metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling	
2.3.3. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)	46
2.3.4. Linear Mixed Effects Models	
3. Results	53

Table of Contents

3.1. Site Characteristics	53
3.1.1. Stream Temperature	53
3.1.2. Stream Size & Velocity	53
3.2. Indicators of Spatially Cumulative Impacts	55
3.2.1. Water Chemistry	55
3.2.2. DOM Quality	61
3.2.3. Sediment Deposition	65
3.2.4. Leaf Litter Decomposition	72
3.2.5. Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates	74
3.2.6. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes	88
3.2.7. Mercury (Hg)	91
3.2.8. Summary	107
4. Discussion	110
4.1. Indicators of Spatially Cumulative Impacts	110
4.1.1. Water Chemistry	110
4.1.2. DOM Quality	112
4.1.3. Sediment Deposition	114
4.1.4. Leaf Litter Decomposition	116
4.1.5. Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates	118
4.1.6. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes	122
4.1.7. Mercury (Hg)	124
4.2. Study Limitations & Future Directions	128
5. Conclusions & Management Implications	132
6. Bibliography	136
Appendix I	155
A.1. Stream Temperature	155
A.2. Stream Hydrology	158
A.3. Water Chemistry	159
A.4. DOM Ouality	166
A.5. Sediment Deposition	172
A.6. Leaf Litter Decomposition	177
A.7. Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates	181
A.8. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes	201
A.9. Mercury	215
-	

Curriculum Vitae

List of Tables

Table 1: Catchment and site/sub-catchment characteristics and harvesting information for 13 study sites. Note: Site "BAT 2 new*" added in the second season of sampling; no data for this site in 2016
 Table 2: Summary of indicators and their corresponding response variables (RVs) that were assessed using the statistical analyses described above. RVs in bold are shown in the "Results" section; all others are included in the Appendix. Note: % algae in Hydropsychids' diet with values less than 0 or above 100 were changed to 0 and 100, respectively.
 Table 3: Summary of environmental and sampling characteristics considered for inclusion as explanatory variables (EVs) in linear mixed effects models. Select response variables (RVs) act as EVs for other indicators. Note: % algae in Hydropsychids' diet with values less than 0 or above 100 were changed to 0 and 100, respectively, and flow and Hg in seston in 2016 were assumed to be the same as in that month in 2017 for a given month (to help differentiate between sites as opposed to year). 52
Table 4: Stream width and mean depth in August, September, and October 2017. Notethat no width or depth measurements were taken for site PAN 2 in August due toadverse weather conditions.54
Table 5: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for conductivity (μ mho/cm), as determined via AICc model selection (Δ AICc < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded. 59
Table 6: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for totalnitrogen (TN, ppm), as determined via AICc model selection ($\Delta AICc < 7$).Statistically significant EVs are bolded. 61
Table 7: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for SUVA, as determined via AICc model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). Statistically significant EVs are bolded. 64
Table 8: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence interval, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for fineand coarse inorganic sediment deposition per day determined via AIC _c modelselection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). Statistically significant EVs are bolded. 68
Table 9: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for %

- **Table 10:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in average model for % leafmass lost per degree day, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$).Statistically significant EVs are bolded.74

- **Table 13:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for %shredders in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AICc model selection ($\Delta AICc < 7$).Statistically significant EVs are bolded.**84**
- **Table 15:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for %algae of Hydropsychid diets, as determined via AICc model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$).Statistically significant EVs are bolded.91
- **Table 16:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model forMeHg in filtered stream water, as determined via AICc model selection ($\Delta AICc <$ 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.95
- **Table 17:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variableimportance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model forMeHg in Hydropsychids, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$).Statistically significant EVs are bolded.99
- **Table 18:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in average model for Hg(II) in

Hydropsychids, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). Statistically significant EVs are bolded. **102**

List of Figures

Figure 1: Map of study location on northeast shore of Lake Superior in Ontario, Canada (A, Google Earth 2017) and location of study catchments and sample sites therein (B).26
Figure 2: Example of sample site positioning within a catchment: headwater/upstream (A), middle-reach (B), and downstream (C)
Figure 3. Fall mean (± SD) temperature (FMT; orange squares, average of bi-hourly recordings from September 1 st until temperature logger removal in late October) and summer maximum temperature (SMT; green Xs, maximum of bi-hourly recordings 12.5 from July 1 st until August 31 st) for all study sites in A) 2016 and B) 2017. Note that no temperature data was recorded for sites PAN 3 and PAN 1 in 2016 as temperature loggers were lost/dead upon retrieval. See Appendix Table 1 to Appendix Table 4 for exact logger deployment and removal dates and monthly temperature data.
 Figure 4: Mean (± SD; orange, mean of measurements in August, September, and October) and maximum (green, maximum of measurements in August, September and October) stream velocity (m/s) for all study sites in 2017. No velocity measurements were taken for site PAN 2 in August due to adverse weather conditions.
Figure 5: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) for water chemistry parameters (red arrows) for all sites (black text), with values averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=2 for all sites except BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3)
Figure 6: Average (\pm SD) conductivity (μ mho/cm) in 2016 and 2017 (N=5 except for BAT middle-reach, where N=3) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B. The asterisk (*) indicates significant difference among average conductivity between the two paired catchments at that site. The letters indicate significant difference among average conductivity between site locations within a treatment. 58
Figure 7: Mean (± SD) total nitrogen (TN, ppm) averaged for 2016 and 2017 measurements (N=5 except for BAT middle-reach, where N=3) in at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference among average TN (log-transformed) between the two paired

- **Figure 10:** Mean (\pm SD, N=3-7) fine (1.5-250 µm), inorganic sediment deposition (g/day) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average deposition between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate significant difference among average deposition between site locations within treatments.
- **Figure 11:** Mean (± SD, N=3-7) % organic content of fine (1.5-250 μm) sediment at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference among average % organic between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate significant difference among average % organic between site locations within a treatment. **.. 70**
- Figure 12: Mean (± SD, N=3) % leaf mass lost per degree day at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The letters indicate significant difference among average % leaf mass lost between site locations within a treatment.
- **Figure 13:** NMDS ordination plots of leaf-litter invertebrate community composition (based on average abundance per site) at A) 6 reference and 6 harvested sites in 2016. (Stress = 0.073) and at B) 6 reference and 7 harvested sites in 2017. (Stress =

- Figure 16: Average (± SD, N=3) leaf pack % shredders (% of invertebrates with shredding feeding strategy) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment in average % shredders between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate a significant difference in average % shredders between site locations within treatments.
- Figure 18: Average (± SD, N=1-3) hydrogen isotope values (δ²H, ‰) for Hydropsychids (consumer) and all possible food sources in the BAT_{HARV} catchment in October 2016.
 88
- **Figure 19:** Average (\pm SD, N=1-3) % algae in Hydropsychid diets (% organic matter in Hydropsychid diet with algal δ^2 H signature) at upstream, middle-reach, and

- **Figure 20:** Average (\pm SD, N = 3) concentration of methylmercury (MeHg, ng/L) in filtered (0.45 µm) water at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average MeHg in filtered water between the two paired catchments. The letters indicate significant difference among average MeHg in filtered water between site locations. **94**

- **Figure 23:** Average (±SD, N=1-3) concentration of methylmercury (MeHg, µg/kg dw) in seston in 2017 at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the

reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B. 104

Abbreviation	Full Term
AES	Aquatic Ecosystem Services
AICc	Akaike Information Criteria (adjusted for small sample sizes)
ANOSIM	Analysis of Similarities
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
BAF	Bioaccumulation Factor
BAT	Batchawana Catchment
BMF	Biomagnification Factor
BMP	Best Management Practice
CH_3Hg^+	Methylmercury (Organic)
CRM	Certified Reference Material
CV-AFS	Cold Vapour-Atomic Fluorescence Spectroscopy
Dec	Deciduous
DD	Degree Days
Dist to DS	Distance to Downstream
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
DOM	Dissolved Organic Matter
DOM PC1 &	
\overline{DOM}_{PC2}	Dissolved Organic Matter Principal Components 1 & 2
dw	Dry Weight
E2E3	E2-to-E3 Ratio
EPT	Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera
EV	Explanatory Variable
EVSA	Effective Variable Source Area
FI	Fluorescence Index
FMR	Forest Management Regulation
FMT	Fall Mean Temperature
GLFC	Great Lakes Forestry Centre
HARV	Harvested
HCl	Hydrochloric Acid
Hg	Mercury
Hg(II)	Divalent Mercury (Inorganic)
Hg^0	Elemental Mercury
HIX	Humification Index
KER A	Kerwin A Catchment
KER B	Kerwin B Catchment
LOI	Loss on Ignition
LRD	Logging Road Density
MeHg	Methylmercury
NMDS	Non-Metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling
PAN	Pancake Catchment
PC	Principal Component
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PF	Polyestersulfone Filter

List of Abbreviations

ppb	Parts Per Billion
ppm	Parts Per Million
QFF	Quartz Fiber Filter
REF	Reference
RV	Response Variable
SAC ₃₄₀	Specific Absorbance Coefficient at 340 nm
SD	Standard Deviation
SMT	Summer Maximum Temperature
SRP	Soluble Reactive Phosphorus
SUVA	Specific UV Absorbance at 254 nm
TAH	Total Area Harvested
THg	Total Mercury
TIC	Total Inorganic Carbon
TN	Total Nitrogen
TOC	Total Organic Carbon
TP	Total Phosphorus
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor
WC_PC1 & WC_PC2	Water Chemistry Principal Components 1 & 2
WW	Wet Weight
β:α	Freshness Index
β:α	Freshness Index
δ^{13} C	Stable Isotopes of Carbon
$\delta^2 H$	Stable Isotopes of Hydrogen

1. Introduction

1.1. Forests and Forest Streams

In order to understand and address the impacts of forest harvesting on streams over broad spatial scales, it is necessary to first examine forests in Canada, their linkages to adjacent aquatic ecosystems, and current forest management practices. Thirty-five percent of Canada's land mass is forested, collectively accounting for nine percent of the world's total forested lands (Natural Resources Canada 2016). The majority of forests in Canada are dominated by coniferous species, and the leading forest age class is between 81 and 120 years old (Natural Resources Canada 2017a). Canadian forests are important carbon sinks, provide habitat for a wide variety of species of plants, animals, and microbes, and hold extreme economic, recreational, aesthetic, and spiritual value for Canadians (Natural Resources Canada 2017b). Within Canada, distinct topography, soils, climate, and vegetation allow for forest classification by ecozone, forest region, forest composition, and plant hardiness zone (Natural Resources Canada 2017c). Forest lands are almost entirely publicly owned in Canada (94%; Natural Resources Canada 2016); in concert with federal policy, each province and territory is responsible for sustainable management of its forests, with advisory boards and councils representing private, non-profit, and academic stakeholder interests. This management includes the forest terrestrial landscape, but also adjacent aquatic systems (e.g., lakes, streams, and wetlands) within the forest.

There are strong linkages between land and water in a forest, and subsidies of matter, energy, and nutrients routinely cross terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem boundaries. For instance, terrestrial organic matter inputs (e.g., leaf litter and dissolved

organic matter) constitute over 90% of total organic matter in small forested streams (Richardson et al. 2005). Conversely, aquatic insects are a source of food for riparian terrestrial consumers (e.g., arthropods, birds, bats, herptiles) when they emerge from the water as adults (Baxter et al. 2005). In particular, there is direct ecological feedback between headwater streams and the terrestrial catchment (Hynes 1970). Positive feedback is amplified in headwater streams due to their high edge-to-volume ratio, which maximizes the interface between land and water (Vannote et al. 1980). Forest headwater streams are also critical components of larger river networks because they provide water and organic matter to support downstream food webs (Wipfli et al. 2007). However, this land-water linkage potentially puts stream ecosystems at risk as disturbances in the terrestrial catchment may translate into disturbances in the aquatic environment. For example, disturbances to forest soils (e.g., by logging or forest fire) can impact the quantity and quality of nutrients, sediments, and organic matter delivered to a stream, or perhaps mobilize contaminants from the soil to the stream (e.g., Kreutzweiser et al. 2004; Bishop et al. 2009). Terrestrial catchment disturbance has also been noted to impact the delivery of downstream aquatic ecosystem services (AES) that include mitigating large hydrologic fluxes, filtration of pollutants, production and maintenance of clean water supplies, and habitat provisions for invertebrates, fish, and other wildlife (Furniss et al. 2010; PEW Environment Group 2011; Brogna et al. 2017). Accordingly, the value of healthy forest catchments for providing AES is being increasingly recognized. For instance, New York City has avoided building a multibillion-dollar water treatment facility by purchasing and preserving undeveloped forest lands in the Catskill/Delaware Watershed which are deemed to be hydrologically

sensitive for water quality (Pires 2004). Moreover, forests have been shown to positively influence raw water quality and even decrease water prices for consumers in France (Fiquepron et al. 2013).

1.2. Forest Management in Canada

Forest management involves any activity that extracts and replaces forest resources, and as a result can alter the composition or structure of a forest. These activities may include harvesting, site preparation, road construction, pesticide application, vegetation management, and stand tending. Forests in Canada are managed for timber, fiber, biomass, non-timber forest products, and conservation values. The majority of managed forests are in Southern Canada because forest quality tends to decrease as you move northward in terms of tree quantity, size, and suitability for market goods. Despite a decrease in demand for Canadian wood products within the last ten years, forest products remain a staple of Canada's economy, contributing over \$20 billion to the country's GDP and employing over 200 000 people in 2016 (Natural Resources Canada 2017c). However, accessing timber stocks comes with an environmental cost. In 2013, forestry activities accounted for 4% of total water use and 5% of total industrial and household greenhouse gas emissions (Statistics Canada 2017). Forest managers are thus tasked with balancing the economic and environmental sustainability of one of the country's most important resources while meeting consumer demand for forest products.

1.3. Impacts of Forest Management Activities on Streams

1.3.1. Temperature & Hydrology

The impacts of forest management on small headwater streams have been wellstudied and are, as a result, reasonably predictable. For instance, removal of over-stream canopy vegetation can increase the reception of incident radiation and decrease the evapotranspiration capacity of a forest. Increased solar radiation may elevate stream temperatures, either through direct exposure to the stream or via transport of warmed soil or soil-water in overland run-off (Moore et al. 2005). Higher stream temperatures may increase the rate of metabolism and other biochemical reactions in stream fauna, as well as potentially alter life-cycle timing and species composition due to thermal stress (Holtby 1988; Clapcott and Barmuta 2010). Primary productivity will increase as more sunlight reaches the stream, which can lead to a cascade of increasing biomass at all trophic levels as food availability and foraging conditions improve (Murphy and Hall 1981). Decreased evapotranspiration and loss of canopy interception can also result in heavier snow cover, increased run-off, prolonged waterlogged suboxic pockets in the soil, increased groundwater levels, and greater run-off flashiness and discharge (Bosch and Hewlett 1982; Eklöf et al. 2016). Additionally, construction and use of logging roads, landings, and skid trails may compact soil and prevent infiltration (i.e., reducing groundwater recharge), capture or re-direct surface run-off to streams, and leave streams more susceptible to changes in peak flows during storm events (Harr et al. 1975).

1.3.2. Transport of Particulate & Dissolved Materials

Ground disturbance associated with tree removal, road construction/use, and stand tending can cause soil erosion, destabilization of debris slopes, and disrupt biogeochemical processes in the soil. These activities, especially in combination with increased overland run-off, can increase the delivery of particulate and dissolved matter

to forest streams. One study observed that mean bedload estimates of fine, inorganic sediment in low-order forested streams increased to approximately 4000 g/m^2 in catchments that were highly disturbed by logging road activities compared to 400 g/m^2 pre-manipulation (Kreutzweiser and Capell 2001). Fine particles are of high concern because they tend to travel the farthest downstream, and may reduce the porosity and hydraulic connectivity of gravel stream beds, interfere with movement, respiration, and feeding of invertebrates, and shift dominant substrate cover for biota (Lenat et al. 1979; Lemly 1982; Brunke and Gonser 1997; Hand 1997). In addition, increased overland runoff and groundwater rising through new soil horizons may elevate the export of dissolved organic material (DOM) to nearby streams, including dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and various nutrients. Numerous studies have reported DOC increased 1.3 to 2.6 times in streams of logged catchments relative to undisturbed catchments, even with the application of riparian buffers, as a result of increased run-off (Lamontagne et al. 2000; Laudon et al. 2009; Schelker et al. 2012; Eckley et al. 2018). An increase in DOC can affect food web structure, increase transport of trace metals complexed to DOC, act as a microbial substrate, and decrease pH (Tipping et al. 1991; Köhler et al. 2002; Berggren et al. 2007; Jansson et al. 2007). Nitrogen, phosphorus, and base cations (Ca, Mg, and K) may also leach from forest soils or become bound to soil particles and increase in concentration in aquatic ecosystems (Lamontagne et al. 2000; Eklöf et al. 2012; De Wit et al. 2014). Their mobility may be enhanced by increased microbial activity in the upper soil layers of the forest floor as the water table rises, soil erosion following vegetation removal, or increased input of nutrients from logging residues and decreased uptake of nutrients as vegetation is removed (Rosen and

Lundmark-Thelin 1987; Hornberger et al. 1994; Creed et al. 1996). Higher nutrient concentrations can increase primary productivity and microbial activity and disrupt biogeochemical processes (Planas et al. 2000; Kreutzweiser et al. 2008b)

1.3.3. Organic Matter Cycling

Autumn leaves and, to a lesser degree, harvesting residues provide fresh organic carbon to forest streams as they decompose and are critically important sources of energy for lotic food webs. When wetted by the stream, leaves begin to leach inorganic and organic components, primarily soluble carbohydrates and polyphenols (Suberkropp et al. 1976). Because the dissolved organic fraction is 45 to 50% organic carbon by mass, this leached material is often referred to as DOC (Allan 1995). Wetted leaves are colonized by microbial communities of bacteria and fungi, and subsequently fragmented by leaf-shredding macroinvertebrates (e.g., families of Trichoptera, Plecoptera, Crustacea, and Diptera). Colonisation by microbes increases the nutritional quality and palatability of stream leaf-litter to higher level consumers, possibly because the addition of microbial tissue and exoenzymes increases nutrient content, and/or due to partial exoenzymatic digestion of polysaccharides from plant cell walls (Bärlocher 1982, 1985). Shredders feeding on leaf litter can increase the availability of fine, organic particulate matter as a food source for suspension-feeders and the release of DOC (Short and Maslin 1977; Meyer and O'Hop 1983). As a result, lotic ecosystems in temperate regions derive most of their energy from terrestrial organic matter (Allan 1995; Richardson et al. 2009; Tank et al. 2010). However, forest harvesting can influence the amount of leaf material delivered to streams as well as the rates of decomposition of leaf litter in-stream, which can affect the provision of energy and particulate matter

downstream. Leaf litter decomposition rate and associated cycling of energy and nutrients have been found to decrease in recently logged headwater streams, a likely result of burial by sediments, reduced microbial function, and/or fostering of conditions that are favourable to macroinvertebrates that are less efficient at decomposing leaf litter (Pozo et al. 1998; Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a; Lecerf and Richardson 2010; Emilson et al. 2016). Alternatively, leaf litter breakdown in clear-cut streams has also been found to accelerate post-harvest, perhaps due to increased nitrate concentrations stimulating microbial decomposition and attracting shredders, or due to physical abrasion from high sediment loads and increased variability of hydrologic regimes (Benfield et al. 2001; McKie and Malmqvist 2009). Other impacts from harvesting operations, such as changes in flow, reduced water quality, elevated conductivity, and lower organic matter content of sediment, may also influence leaf litter decomposition (Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a; Emilson et al. 2017).

In addition, DOM leached from leaves, forest residues, and soils controls geochemical processes, transport of bound contaminants, dissolution and precipitation reactions, photic zone depth, and others (Weishaar et al. 2003). DOM molecules can vary widely in structure, weight, protein content, aromaticity, and lability (i.e., the quality of DOM), often reflecting source, processing time, biological activity, and hydrologic connectivity (Ravichandarn 2004). Generally, low-molecular weight and aliphatic compounds tend to be more easily degraded and labile than high-molecular weight and aromatic compounds, which are more reactive (Kiikkilä et al. 2014). The degradability or quality of DOM influences the ability of microorganisms to uptake carbon and cycle it through the food web. Watershed disturbances like forest harvesting

have been noted to influence DOM quality, particularly by altering water table level and associated aerobic/anaerobic conditions (Kiikkilä et al. 2014).

1.3.4. Stream Biota

Impacts of forest harvesting on physical and chemical components of stream ecosystems are more commonly reported than those on the abundance and diversity of stream biota, though the two are inherently linked. For instance, harvesting to stream sides may increase periphyton biomass, particularly filamentous algae, due to higher availability of nutrients and light to support algal growth (Graynoth 1979; Shortreed and Stockner 1983; Noel et al. 1986). Increased algal growth in streams with harvested catchments has been associated with an increase in scraper taxa who feed on periphyton on substrate surfaces (Newbold et al. 1980). Alternatively, transport of fine sediment from logging may reduce species richness and biomass of filter-feeding invertebrates (e.g., Trichoptera and Diptera) due to clogging of nets and filtering apparatuses, and may also reduce photosynthetic production as higher turbidity precludes light penetration (Lemly 1982; Ryan 1991). Abundance of shredder taxa and taxonomic richness in leaf litter-dwelling invertebrate communities have also been noted to be lower in logged catchments; lower shredder abundance may be associated with lower leaf litter decomposition, which may also decrease the amount of fine, particulate organic matter produced by shredders as a food source to support downstream taxa (Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a; Yeung et al. 2017). Furthermore, decreased access to detritus due to vegetation removal may cause an increase in the abundance of specialist herbivores, a decrease in the consumption of detritus by generalist and detritivore

species, and an increase in the consumption of algae across most functional feeding groups (Richardson 1991; Göthe et al. 2009).

Changes in abundance and/or species richness of macroinvertebrates may have cascading impacts within aquatic food webs, including reduced efficiency in utilization of energy inputs, or increased biomass at higher trophic levels owing to greater inputs of nutrients and sunlight (Wallace et al. 1977; Gregory et al. 1987). Additionally, higher trophic level consumers may be directly influenced by harvesting activities; for example, incidence and density of juvenile Atlantic Salmon have been noted to decline as areal coverage of logging increased, a potential result of deteriorating habitat quality from fine sediment deposition (Deschênes et al. 2007). Density and biomass of salmonid fishes have alternatively been observed to increase in response to recent clear-cut logging, likely due to the creation of refuge habitat by large woody debris or due to the cascade of increasing biomass providing greater food availability (Gregory et al. 1987; Mellina and Hinch 2009).

Another important biotic consideration is the determination of food sources for primary stream consumers (i.e., the basal energy resources in stream food webs) as terrestrial (allochthonous) or aquatic (autochthonous). Terrestrial organic matter is generally considered the quantitatively dominant basal energy source for headwater stream food webs through contribution of large amounts of detritus and because shading by riparian vegetation limits in-stream autotrophic production (Hynes 1975; Vannote et al. 1980). Webster and Meyer (1997) reported a median ratio of leaf litter to algal production in 28 streams of 2.8. As stream size increases, so does the importance of autochthonous primary production and residual fine organic matter transported from

upstream, with a decrease in reliance on direct allochthonous inputs (Vannote et al. 1980). Accordingly, the morphology and feeding behaviour of stream invertebrates reflects these shifts in organic matter source; shredders typically dominate headwater assemblages, and collectors typically dominate assemblages in larger, downstream areas (Vannote et al. 1980). However, it has recently been suggested that the importance of autochthonous material (algae) in the diet of stream consumers is greater than previously thought due to its higher nutritional quality (i.e., the accessibility of energy and suitability for synthesizing new biomass) relative to allochthonous material (Brett et al. 2009, 2017; Guo et al. 2016b). The lignocellulose comprising terrestrial organic material is highly resistant to enzymatic breakdown by most consumers, and detritus is a poor source of the biochemical compounds essential for growth and reproduction in stream biota (Martin et al. 1991; Brett et al. 2009). Furthermore, amino acid stable isotope analyses and profiles of essential fatty acids in stream consumers increasingly indicate a much stronger reliance on algae than previously believed (Guo et al. 2016a; Thorp and Bowes 2017). Therefore, the biochemical composition of algae may outweigh the higher quantity of terrestrial organic matter, and algae consumption may have a significant influence on the growth and development of consumers in a given stream system. However, the relative contribution of either source to the diet of stream consumers may be altered by harvesting activities. Many studies have reported an increase in autochthonous contributions to consumer diet, likely due to increased delivery of nutrients and light to streams stimulating aquatic primary production, or due to streamside vegetation removal limiting the subsidization of terrestrial detritus (Rounick et al. 1982; England and Rosemond 2004; Göthe et al. 2009).

To determine the relative contribution of allochthonous and autochthonous food sources to the diet of consumers, ecologists often use stable isotope analysis. Stable isotopes provide a time-integrated measure of trophic energy flow because stable isotope ratios in consumers tend to reflect their diet (Peterson and Fry 1987). Stable isotopes of carbon (δ^{13} C) are commonly used as tracers of diet, but isotopic separation between potential terrestrial and aquatic sources of organic matter may be limited (Finlay et al. 2010). Environmental variation or physiological differences in organic matter may result in overlap in δ^{13} C and prevent isotopic separation of allochthonous and autochthonous dietary sources (Finlay and Kendall 2007). Hydrogen stable isotopes $(\delta^2 H)$ have been proposed as an alternative to $\delta^{13}C$ due to the distinct isotopic separation between terrestrial and aquatic sources of organic matter, even across broad environmental gradients and where δ^{13} C values have overlapped (Doucett et al. 2007; Jardine et al. 2009). For example, Doucett et al. (2007) found autochthonous organic matter to be depleted in δ^2 H by approximately 100% relative to allochthonous organic matter due to preferential loss of hydrogen to the atmosphere during evapotranspiration in terrestrial autotrophs (i.e., kinetic fractionation), and overall concluded that hydrogen stable isotopes are useful tools in tracing energy sources and flows in aquatic food webs.

1.3.5. Mercury

Various functional groups comprising the organic matter of forest soils, particularly thiols and carboxylic acids, may bind and retain atmospherically deposited or weathered contaminants, such as mercury (Hg) and other metals (Haitzer et al. 2002; Wood et al. 2011). Atmospheric Hg may be of natural (e.g., from geologic weathering, volcanic eruptions) or anthropogenic (e.g., from fossil fuel combustion, artisanal gold

mining) origin, where it exists in two forms: elemental Hg (Hg⁰) and divalent inorganic Hg (Hg(II)). Following atmospheric oxidation of Hg⁰ to Hg(II), Hg(II) may reach the earth's surface by wet deposition in precipitation or dry deposition via scavenging and settling of airborne particles. Soil erosion and changes to hydrologic regimes from forest harvesting can enhance Hg mobilization from the catchment and increase Hg concentrations in stream water. Many studies have found that logging in forested watersheds increases loading of organic matter-bound Hg to aquatic systems and in biota (e.g., Garcia and Carignan 2000; Povari et al. 2003; Ward et al. 2010; De Wit et al. 2014; Wu et al. 2018). Inorganic Hg may be methylated, primarily during the oxidation of DOM by sulphate- and iron-reducing bacteria in anoxic environments, to its organic form, methylmercury (CH_3Hg^+ , MeHg). MeHg is a potent neurotoxicant that binds preferentially to cysteine amino acids in the protein of muscle tissue due to its strong affinity for thiol or sulphhydryl functional groups, resulting in a tendency to bioaccumulate in stream consumers (i.e., accumulation that exceeds catabolism or excretion) and biomagnify in stream food webs (i.e., magnification of concentration with trophic level) (Harris et al. 2003). In high-level stream consumers like fish, MeHg has been noted to exceed Canadian wildlife consumption guidelines of 33 µg/kg ww (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment 2000), and has been shown to negatively impact the nervous system, physiology, immune function, and reproduction of stream biota and their human consumers (Clarkson 1990; Wiener et al. 2003; Burgess and Meyer 2008).

In addition to mobilization of Hg, harvesting activities may stimulate methylating microbes, via the creation of labile sources of DOC and mobilization of

nutrients, as well as create waterlogged suboxic environments (e.g., standing water in skidder tracks) that increase Hg methylation (Eklöf et al. 2016). However, DOC plays a dual role in influencing the incorporation of MeHg into stream food webs: terrestrial DOC may facilitate the solubility and transport of MeHg to surface waters, but when complexed to Hg(II) may limit its bioavailability to methylating bacteria as its molecular weight is too large to cross their cell membranes (Winfrey and Rudd 1990; Ravichandran 2004). The relationship between DOC and Hg methylation, including its implications for MeHg bioaccumulation, is complex and under ongoing investigation. *1.4. Regulations & Guidelines for Forest Management in Canada*

To mitigate the impacts of forestry operations on terrestrial catchments and their adjacent water bodies, provincial/territorial governments provide forest management regulations (FMRs), which are mandated operational requirements, and a set of guidelines known as best management practices (BMPs), which are voluntary measures to reduce environmental impacts. FMRs and BMPs are proactive and practical considerations that aim to minimize disturbances to forests and associated habitats caused by forestry activities and promote their sustainable management. Contemporary FMRs and BMPs guide forest harvesting method and intensity (including licensing and restrictions for forestry companies), road construction, soil rutting, soil compaction, trail orientation, stream crossings, managing designated protected areas, and others. Among the most commonly used BMPs is the application of a no-harvest buffer, typically about 30 m wide or more, maintained along the length of the watercourse to minimize bank erosion, stream-side vegetation removal, and sediment deposition (Jeglum et al. 2003). However, studies have noted their variable effectiveness. For example, Davies and

Nelson (1994) found that logging did not significantly decrease riffle macroinvertebrate abundance when riparian buffers of 30 m or more were maintained, and Kreutzweiser et al. (2010) found that even partially-harvested riparian buffers posed little risk of harm to aquatic invertebrate communities. Broadmeadow and Nisbet (2004) also deemed 10 to 30 m buffers adequate to replicate the canopy cover necessary to maintain the ecological integrity (e.g., shading, provision of woody debris) of a woodland stream. Conversely, Kreutzweiser et al. (2008a) noted declines in leaf litter decomposition in logged catchments even with application of over 30 m no-harvest buffer zones. Application of riparian buffers also does not emulate patterns of natural disturbance, and often results in an unnatural strip of older-growth forest stands around streams and lakes (Buttle 2002; Macdonald et al. 2004). While the application of several BMPs to protect water resources has been frequently studied and usually found to be effective, less is known about their effectiveness over large spatial and temporal scales.

1.5. Cumulative Impacts

Environmental processes in lotic ecosystems and disturbances thereof naturally operate at a variety of spatial and temporal scales; for instance, disturbances to headwater streams can disrupt material and energy provisions for downstream consumers (e.g., Wipfli et al. 2007), and can be exacerbated by fluctuating hydrologic regimes as seasons change (e.g., Brown et al. 2005). Forestry operations are also undertaken at various times and locations within the catchment, and can integrate to impact downstream ecosystems (Richardson 2008). Paradoxically, studies that observe impacts from harvesting and BMP effectiveness are typically bound by discrete spatial and temporal scales. The potential for these impacts to accumulate over space and time

is uncertain and under-investigated, particularly when compounded with expansion of harvesting into previously unmanaged forests, intensification of harvesting in currently managed forests, overlap with other resource developments, and interactions with climate change (Kreutzweiser et al. 2013). Cumulative impacts occur when individual effects integrate in an additive, synergistic, or antagonistic manner over space and/or time, and can be non-linear and difficult to predict. The ecological thresholds for cumulative impacts from harvesting activities from which aquatic ecosystem biodiversity cannot reasonably recover are largely unknown (Kreutzweiser et al. 2013). While cumulative effects assessment is a requirement for industrial development or installations under many provincial environmental assessment laws, little is known about the potential for cumulative impacts resulting from forest management practices as they exist in Canada. Consideration of cumulative impacts may be an impetus for forest managers to adjust scales of thinking from site-specific to the broader landscape, as well as from immediate concerns to periods of several years or decades.

To understand whether impacts from harvesting are accumulating *spatially* in forest drainage networks (i.e., the focus of this thesis), it is necessary to consider how rivers naturally change and accumulate changes at the watershed scale. Many conceptual models for how physical, chemical, and biological processes change along the length of a river have been proposed, including the river continuum concept (Vannote et al. 1980), the riverine productivity model (Thorp and Delong 2002), the process domain concept (Montgomery 1999), and the patch dynamics theory (Pringle et al. 1988). Each model attempts to describe the gradient in environmental processes, physical characteristics, and biota from headwaters to downstream reaches (i.e., along the "river continuum").

For example, in a study measuring the variance in carbon-to-nitrogen ratio of fine particulate organic matter in streams of increasing width (a proxy for size), variance was found to be lower in wider streams (indicating a lower sensitivity to extrinsic environmental factors and a spatially homogenous biogeochemical condition) and higher in narrower streams (indicating a higher sensitivity to extrinsic environmental factors and a less stable biogeochemical condition) (Sakamaki and Richardson 2013). Deviations from the environmental baseline along the river's length can help to quantify impacts from harvesting relative to the natural "river continuum" (Vannote et al. 1980). Indicators used to quantify impacts must therefore not only well-represent baseline ecosystem health, but should also be sensitive to changes over broad spatial ranges.

While much of the published literature has focused on the reach-scale when examining impacts from forestry operations (e.g., Kreutzweiser et al. 2005; Klimesh et al. 2015; Clapott and Barmuta 2010), a few studies have noted impacts at large spatial scales. For example, Zhang et al. (2009) observed the impact of past forestry practices on current stream habitats and benthic invertebrate assemblages at large spatial scales. Zhang et al. (2009) found a significant decrease in taxon richness, relative abundance, and overall biomass at sites with a legacy of past forest management (i.e., up to 40 years prior) and at sites with drainage areas ranging from 0.54 to 6.74 km². A study by Deschênes et al. (2007) examined the incidence and density of juvenile Atlantic Salmon at the sub-basin and 8, 2, and 0.5 km upstream of study sites in response to forestry activities. Fish have been known to relate to their local environment differently than to catchment-level characteristics, and trends noted at smaller spatial scales do not always extrapolate to larger spatial scales (Wiens 1989; Folt et al. 1998). Deschênes et al.

(2007) found that incidence and density of the salmon declined with areal coverage of harvesting, but only at larger spatial scales (sub-basin and 8 km). Therefore, there is a need for studies quantifying the impact of forest management on stream ecosystems to address impacts at reach-level and broader spatial scales, including whether these impacts accumulate throughout the stream network.

1.6. Research Question & Objectives

In this Master's thesis, I assess how impacts to forest streams from harvesting of northern hardwood stands in Central Ontario, Canada changed with spatial scale to answer the question: do impacts from forest harvesting spatially accumulate in stream networks? The objectives of this research were to (1) assess and quantify the effect of (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs and (b) spatial location of sample site on indicator responses; (2) determine if indicators exhibit spatially cumulative trends between headwaters and larger downstream areas in managed catchments relative to minimally-managed catchments (where spatially cumulative trends are interpreted as a *difference* in spatial trends between treatments); and (3) appraise if BMPs designed to minimize local or stand-level impacts were effective at protecting against adverse treatment impacts at broader spatial scales (where an adverse treatment impact is a significant difference between treatments for an indicator value, with the direction of change in the harvested catchment linked to a negative outcome for the ecosystem).

1.7. Hypotheses

The first null hypothesis for my research question is that there was no difference (i.e., in magnitude and/or direction) in the spatial trend of an indicator between the

harvested and reference catchments, suggesting there was not a spatially cumulative trend in indicator response in the harvested catchment. The first alternative hypothesis is that there was a difference in the spatial trend of an indicator between the harvested and reference catchments, suggesting that there was a spatially cumulative trend in indicator response in the harvested catchment. The second null hypothesis is that there was no adverse impact of harvesting at downstream sites, suggesting that BMPs applied at the operational and local scale are effective at mitigating impacts at broader spatial scales. The second alternative hypothesis is that there was an adverse treatment impact at downstream sites, suggesting that BMPs applied at the operational and local scales are not effective at mitigating impacts at broader spatial scales. Due to the lack of studies that have addressed spatially cumulative impacts related to forest management, it was difficult to anticipate whether indicators will behave similarly over space in harvested and reference catchments, and at what scale BMPs will be effective at preventing adverse treatment effects.

1.8. Approach

1.8.1. Study Area

My research was conducted in the Lower Batchawana River Watershed and the adjacent Pancake River Watershed, located in the Great Lakes-Saint Lawrence forest region on the northeast shore of Lake Superior in Ontario, Canada. Both watersheds consist of mixed conifer and hardwood forest but are dominated by hardwood stands in the lower reaches of the watersheds where my study occurred. The predominant hardwood tree species are sugar maple (*Acer saccharum* Marsh) and yellow birch (*Betula alleghaniensis* Britton). Within the watersheds, four smaller catchments were
selected for my study: three in the Lower Batchawana River Watershed, and one in the Pancake River Watershed. Two of the catchments have been subject to substantial forest management within 5 years prior to sampling (i.e., the harvested catchments), and two that have been minimally managed within 20 years prior to sampling (i.e., the reference catchments). Harvesting in the managed catchments was mostly selection-based, usually at a rate of 30 to 50% basal area removal, with very small clear-cut sections. This method of harvesting creates forest openings that emulate the patchy and small-scale natural disturbances (e.g., windthrow) typical of hardwood forests (Lorimer 1989). All harvesting was conducted according to Ontario's FMRs and BMPs, including the application of 30 m or wider no-harvest buffers along all mapped or observed streams.

1.8.2. Experimental Design

This study involved two paired-catchment comparisons; each of the two harvested catchments are paired with a reference catchment similar in size, forest composition, and geomorphology. The paired comparison design has been widely used to isolate the effects of vegetation removal and natural resource development from baseline levels (Brown et al. 2005). Each study catchment contained three sample sites positioned along a spatial gradient, from headwaters (1st to 2nd order stream), to middle-reaches (2nd to 3rd order stream), to downstream reaches (3rd to 4th order stream). Each site within a harvested catchment was assessed using a suite of indicators and compared with its sister site (i.e., the site with the same spatial orientation) within its reference catchment pair. This design allowed for the spatial trend in indicators in harvested catchments to be compared to that of reference catchments to assess change from the natural river continuum, and if these impacts accumulated over the spatial range (i.e.,

magnified or accumulated treatment impact at downstream sites). In addition to the paired-catchment comparisons, all sites were considered collectively to examine the impact of various explanatory variables (harvesting, catchment, and reach characteristics) on each indicator using linear models.

1.8.3. Indicators

Abiotic, biotic, and contaminant indicators were used to quantify impacts to stream condition from harvesting. The indicators used to quantify harvesting-induced impacts to forest streams were chosen on the basis of the fundamental characteristics of lotic environments as described by Hynes (1970), as well as to reflect both abiotic and biotic ecosystem components. Abiotic indicators assessed in this study include water chemistry, DOM quality, and sediment deposition. Water temperature and water flow were also measured for descriptive purposes, but were not used as indicators because they were not adequately characterized throughout the sampling period. Biological indicators assessed in this study include leaf litter decomposition, leaf litter macroinvertebrate community structure, and aquatic versus terrestrial organic matter contribution to the diet of stream consumers. An additional contaminant indicator used was the concentration of Hg in various environmental compartments.

1.9. Project Significance

Aquatic ecosystems are dynamic and multi-faceted, with components responding differently to disturbance over varying spatial and temporal scales. For example, abiotic characteristics like water chemistry and sediment deposition tend to respond rapidly to catchment disturbance, whereas biotic characteristics such as invertebrate community structure tend to change over longer timeframes. Therefore, to understand how forest

harvesting will impact the structure and function of stream ecosystems, it is necessary to use indicators that reflect multiple components of the system and are adequately sensitive to respond to such perturbations. Surprisingly, many harvesting-impact studies observe only one or a few indicators (e.g., Carignan et al. 2000; Macdonald et al. 2003; Kibler et al. 2013), and often focus on abiotic parameters (e.g., hydrology, temperature, and water quality) with a lack of emphasis on food web structure. There is a current paucity of research integrating information from multiple indicators, particularly in the context of cumulative impacts over space and time. In this study I used abiotic, biotic, and contaminant indicators to obtain a holistic and comprehensive understanding of stream condition in response to forest harvesting at multiple spatial scales. The use of multiple indicators can help to identify changes to the entire ecosystem from harvesting, as well as shortcomings in current BMPs at preventing impacts locally and downstream. Moreover, indicators used herein were chosen to reflect concerns relevant to the current ecological and social context. For example, the use of Hg in biota as an indicator is particularly timely given recent concerns surrounding Hg biomagnification in the Great Lakes region (e.g., Omara et al. 2015; Rolfhus et al. 2015) and Hg poisoning in indigenous communities, such as legacy contamination from Hg-contaminated pulp mill effluent in the Grassy Narrows First Nation (Porter 2017).

Forestry has been predicted to intensify in the near future in response to a growing world population, demand for lignocellulosic feedstocks to fuel biorefineries, and interest in forest products for innovative applications (e.g., nanocrystalline cellulose as an alternative to stainless steel) (Ferguson 2012; Creed et al. 2016). In response to this intensification, it is ever more critical that a framework for cumulative impacts

assessment for forest management be developed and integrated into Canadian environmental assessment legislation. My research will address knowledge gaps surrounding the potential for spatially cumulative trends resulting from forestry operations and provide insight on their potential magnitude and/or direction in similar northern hardwood forests. Ultimately, the significance of my research lies in its challenge of the status-quo for environmental protection guidelines surrounding forest management activities in Canada by determining if BMPs designed to minimize local or stand-level impacts are effective at larger spatial scales. My study will also contribute to establishing a comprehensive and predictive understanding of the individual and cumulative effects associated with forest management in northern hardwood catchments, a keystone to maintaining healthy future forests and their provision of aquatic ecosystem services.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Area & Site Selection

My research was conducted approximately 10 to 30 km inland of the northeastern shore of Lake Superior and 60 km north of the city of Sault Ste. Marie in Ontario, Canada (Figure 1). The watersheds delineating the study area are the Lower Batchawana River and Pancake River Watersheds, which ultimately drain in to Batchawana Bay and Pancake Bay of Lake Superior, respectively. The watersheds are captured by the Boreal Shield ecozone and the Great Lakes-Saint Lawrence forest region, and accordingly their forests include mixed hardwood stands predominated (>90%) by sugar maple (*Acer saccharum* Marsh), with some yellow birch (*Betula alleghaniensis* Britton), white birch (*Betula papyrifera*), red maple (*Acer rubrum*), trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*), white pine (*Pinus strobus*), and white spruce (*Picea glauca*). From 1980 to 2007, the mean annual air temperature was $4.63 \pm 1.15^{\circ}$ C (increasing at a rate of 0.09°C per year), and the mean annual precipitation was 1198 ± 143 mm (2/3 rain, 1/3 snow) (Environment Canada 2014).

Within the watersheds are four smaller catchments: two with either little or no recent harvest (PAN and KER A, <6% catchment area harvested within five years of sampling) and two with substantial selection-based harvest under BMPs (BAT and KER B, >32% catchment area harvested within five years of sampling) (Figure 1, Table 1). Catchment characteristics were determined using the Arc-GIS flow accumulation grid based on the digital elevation model (DEM) obtained from the Land Information Ontario (LIO) database (20 m x 20 m resolution) and WhiteBox (Lindsay 2016). Harvesting on crown land in the managed catchments was conducted in accordance with

Ontario FMRs (OMNR 2010), and harvesting on private lands was managed by VanderMolen Forestry Inc. following similar BMPs (Ron VanderMolen, personal communication). In both the crown and private forests, no-harvest buffers of at least 30 m wide were retained along permanent or obvious stream channels. Other BMPs included minimizing sensitive soil disturbances, avoidance of stream-side wet areas, approved stream crossings and culverts, and sediment abatement procedures associated with logging roads and skid trails.

Both harvested catchments were paired with a minimally-harvested catchment to isolate the effects of harvesting; accordingly, PAN (reference) and BAT (harvested) are one pair, and KER A (reference) and KER B (harvested) are a second pair (Figure 1). The PAN and BAT catchments were comprised of 75 to 95% deciduous tree species (primarily sugar maple and yellow birch) and had a road density of 12.9 to 13.8 m/ha; the KER A and KER B catchments were comprised of 67 to 87% deciduous tree species and had a road density of 6.8 to 10.4 m/ha (Ontario Forest Resource Industry Database) (Table 1). All catchments were dominated (>70%) by bedrock knobs (dominant landform) and ground moraines composed of glacial till (subordinate landform) with high relief and a generally dry ground surface (Ministry of Norther Development and Mines Geology Terrain Database).

Within each catchment are three sample sites (i.e., ~30 m long reaches) positioned along a spatial gradient (Figure 2). Our ability to achieve a spatial gradient adequate for detecting both the natural river continuum and potential cumulative trends from forest harvesting was difficult to due limited access to sites within the forested landscape. When possible, sites were chosen on the basis of (1) increasing stream order,

(2) increasing drainage area (generally positively related to stream size, Downing et al. 2012), and (3) were ideally hydrologically connected along the same channel. Because the total area of the catchment and the total area harvested increased with stream size (i.e., greater in lower reaches than in headwaters), this design allowed for detection of an accumulation of effects throughout the catchment. Selected sites ranged from headwaters (1^{st} to 2^{nd} order streams, average stream width = 1.48 m), to middle-reach (2^{nd} to 3^{rd} order, average stream width = 2.56 m), to downstream (3^{rd} to 4^{th} order, average stream width = 5.23 m) (Figure 2). In 2017, the middle-reach site in the BAT catchment was changed (i.e., from BAT 2 to a new site, BAT 2new*) as to have a site that was better positioned along the stream network to represent a mid-way point between upstream (BAT 3) and downstream (BAT 1). Therefore, BAT 2 represented the middle-reach site for 2016 data, but BAT 2new* represented the middle-reach site for 2017 data. All sites were assessed for natural changes or impacts from harvesting using indicators of impact (see below).



Figure 1: Map of study location on northeast shore of Lake Superior in Ontario, Canada (A, Google Earth 2017) and location of study catchments and sample sites therein (B).

Catchment	Site/Sub- Catchment	Latitude	Longitude	Position	Dist to DS (km)	Area (ha)	% EVSA	% Dec	TAH (ha)	% Harv	LRD (m/ha)
Catchment Pair 1											
PAN (Reference)	PAN 3	47.01053	-84.6239	HW	5	74	17.02	95.00	0	0	1.77
	PAN 2	47.00508	-84.6473	MR	4.1	544	11.27	89.27	0	0	17.45
	PAN 1	46.97642	-84.633	DS	0	1856	13.37	87.49	0	0	13.79
	BAT 3	47.12349	-84.5088	HW	4.36	49	13.78	86.67	47.79	97.53	27.52
BAT	BAT 2	47.11725	-84.5065	MR	3.56	497	11.57	75.32	301.91	60.75	11.99
(Harvested)	BAT 2new*	47.11535	-84.49937	MR	2.96	921	8.75	76.21	301.29	32.71	13.73
	BAT 1	47.10231	-84.4692	DS	0	1688	9.55	75.15	736.79	43.65	12.87
Catchment Pair 2											
KER A (Reference)	KER 3	46.98988	-84.4691	HW	3.66	189	16.90	81.43	0	0	3.66
	KER 2	46.97781	-84.4875	MR	1.2	959	11.37	67.74	0	0	9.04
	KER 1	46.96698	-84.4891	DS	0	1278	10.92	71.04	66.72	5.22	10.37
KER B (Harvested)	KER 6	46.96558	-84.4547	HW	3.02	392	11.25	86.50	0.95	0.241	11.15
	KER 5	46.96192	-84.4684	MR	1.82	594	11.68	86.18	130.03	21.89	8.18
	KER 4	46.96579	-84.4893	DS	0	785	11.35	86.16	34.94	31.94	6.77

Table 1: Catchment and site/sub-catchment characteristics and harvesting information for 13 study sites. Note: Site "BAT 2new*" added in the second season of sampling; no data for this site in 2016.

¹Position = Categorical description of site location (HW = Headwater, MR = Middle-Reach, DS = Downstream); Dist to DS = Stream distance (km) from current site to farthest downstream site within the catchment; Area = sub-catchment area (Ha); % EVSA = % Effective Variable Source Area (indicates % soil wetness as determined using the topographic index within catchment); % Dec = % of deciduous tree species in sub-catchment; TAH = Total area of sub-catchment harvested (ha) within the last 5 years; % Harv = % Area of sub-catchment harvested within the last 5 years; LRD = Logging road density of sub-catchment (m road per ha catchment).



Figure 2: Example of sample site positioning within a catchment: headwater/upstream (A), middle-reach (B), and downstream (C).

2.2. Indicators of Spatially Cumulative Impacts

2.2.1. Sampling Details

Sampling was carried out at 12 sites (i.e., all except BAT 2new*) in September and October in 2016 and at all 13 sites in August, September, and October in 2017 (Table 1). When sites were near road crossings, sampling occurred immediately upstream. Collections/measurements were taken by the same individual(s) of the field team during each sampling event to ensure consistency over time.

2.2.2. Stream Temperature

Stream water temperature was recorded bi-hourly from July to October in 2016 and from June to October in 2017 using submersible temperature loggers (HOBO TidbiT v2 water temperature data loggers, Onset Computer Application). Mean fall temperature (Sept 1st until temperature logger removal in October), summer maximum temperature (from deployment in June (2017) or July (2016) until August 31st), and monthly degree days (sum of daily average temperatures for a given month) were calculated in °C. No temperature data was collected for sites PAN 3 and 1 and BAT 2 in 2016 as temperature loggers were lost or dead upon retrieval. See Appendix Table 1 & Appendix Table 2 for site-specific logger deployment and removal dates.

2.2.3. Stream Size & Flow

Stream water flow characteristics, including mean water depth, stream width, flow velocity, and discharge volume, were determined in August, September, and October of 2017 (with the exception of PAN 2, which was not measured in August due to adverse weather conditions). Mean water depth and stream width were measured using a meter stick and a tape measurer, respectively, with depth averaged for measurements recorded at 0.1 to 0.5 m intervals across the width of the stream. Water flow velocity and discharge were also recorded at 0.1 to 0.5 m intervals across the width of the stream using a current meter (Global Flow Probe model FP201; Global Flow Instrumentation, Gold River, California) at mid-depth at the same locations as depths and width, and averaged for each study reach.

2.2.4. Water Chemistry & Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) Quality

Stream water samples for water chemistry analyses (N=1/site) were collected in September and October in 2016 and August, September, and October in 2017. Subsurface grab samples of water were stored in clean, 500 mL polyethylene bottles upstream of stream activity (i.e., road crossings, other sampling, etc.) and stored at 4°C until analysis. Prior to analysis, samples were passed through Whatman No. 41 filters to remove particulate matter. The parameters measured were pH, conductivity, alkalinity, cations and anions (Ca, K, Mg, Na, SO₄, Cl, SiO₂), nutrients (NO₂+NO₃, NH₄, total N, total organic carbon (TOC), total inorganic carbon (TIC), soluble reactive P (SRP), and total P (TP)), and metals (Al, Fe, Mn, Zn, Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb). Water chemistry analyses were conducted by the Water Chemistry Laboratory at the Great Lakes Forestry Centre (GLFC) in Sault Ste. Marie, ON, using standardized procedures and quality-control methods (Nicholson 1988). Stream water pH was measured using an Orion Ross Ultra Glass Electrode (Man-Tech PC Titrate, Orion Thermo combination pH electrode, Version 3 Software). Conductivity (µmho/cm at 25°C) was measured using a PCE-96-CT1003 conductivity cell (Man-Tech PC Titrate with 4510 conductivity meter, Version 3 Software). Alkalinity (meq/L) was measured using electrometric titration (Man-Tech PC-Titrate, Titra-Sip titrator, Orion Thermo combination pH electrode, Version 3 Software). Ca, K, Mg, Al, Fe, Mn, Zn, Cd, Ni, and Pb (ppm) were measured using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP MS; Agilent 7700x Inductively Coupled Plasma Instrument, Masshunter Software). Sulfate and chlorine (ppm) were measured using conductance-ion exchange suppression (Dionex ICS 1100 Ion Chromatograph, Chromeleon 7.0 Software). SiO₂ (ppm) was measured by automated ascorbic acid (Technicon Autoanalyzer II, N.A.P. Software Version 4.4). NO₂+NO₃ and NH_4 (ppm) were measured by automated cadmium reduction and automated sodium nitroprusside, respectively (Seal Analytical AA3 Autonanalyzer, AACE 6.07 Software). TOC and TIC (ppm) were measured by autoclave digestion – cadmium reduction, acid – and sulfuric acid – carbon dioxide methods, respectively (Seal Analytical AA3 Autoanalyzer, AACE 6.07 Software). Soluble reactive P and total P were measured using automated molybdophosphoric blue (Technicon Autoanalyzer II, N.A.P. Software Version 4.4 – Autoclave Digestion). Total N was measured using automated cadmium

reduction (Technicon Autoanalyzer II, NO₂ and NO₃ channel – autoclave digestion, N.A.P. Software Version 4.4).

Stream water samples for DOM quality analyses (N=1/site) were collected in September and October in 2016 and August, September, and October in 2017. The quality of DOM refers to the ease of its microbial decomposition (i.e., higher ease = higher quality), which is dependent on molecular weight and structure (Thurman 1985). Sub-surface grab samples of water were collected in clean, 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tubes upstream of stream activity and stored at 4°C until analysis. Prior to analysis, samples were passed through Whatman No. 41 filters to remove particulate matter. Using Cary eclipse and Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometers (three-dimensional fluorescence scans at 5 nm excitation steps from 250 to 450 nm and 2 nm emission steps from 300 to 600 nm), optically-derived properties of DOM were obtained from corrected and adjusted excitation-emission matrices for each water sample. These properties include humification index (HIX, an indicator of the degree of DOM humification; Ohno 2002), fluorescence index (FI, an indicator of terrestrially- (1.8) vs. microbially- (1.2) derived DOM; Johnson et al. 2011), freshness index (β : α , an indicator of recently derived (β) or older (α) DOM; Huguet et al. 2009), specific UV absorbance at 254 nm (SUVA, an indicator of DOM aromaticity; Weishaar et al. 2003), E2-to-E3 ratio (E2E3, an indicator of DOM molecular weight and aromaticity; Peuravuori and Pihlaja 1997), and specific absorbance coefficient at 340 nm (SAC₃₄₀, an indicator of the amount of aromatic DOM; Wood et al. 2011).

2.2.5. Sediment Deposition

Sediment deposition was measured over a six-week period between September and October in 2016 and again between September and October in 2017 (see Appendix Table 14 & Appendix Table 15 for exact deployment and removal dates). Sediment deposition was measured by deploying six (2017) to seven (2016) collectors (50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tubes with caps removed) on the stream floor in depositional areas of each 30 to 50 m reach. To keep their position in the stream, the collectors were wedged into the holes of a brick (protruding about 2 cm above) and tied to a branch or root on the bank. Previous studies have suggested that this collector design is sufficiently deep to retain fine particles deposited from the water column (Kreutzweiser and Capell 2001). Following the six-week deployment period, the collectors were capped, removed, and then preserved with formaldehyde until analysis.

Sediment retained in the collectors was size-fractionated to obtain the fine (1.5 μ m to 250 μ m) and coarse (1 mm to 250 μ m) fractions. To separate the fractions, collector contents were rinsed through a bank of 4 mm, 1 mm, and 250 μ m sieves. The material retained in the 250 μ m sieve was the coarse fraction. The filtrate washed through the sieves was vacuum-filtered onto pre-ashed, 1.5 μ m glass microfiber filters, with the mass on the filter representing the fine fraction. The sediment fractions were oven dried in pre-weighed aluminum dishes at 60°C for two days and weighed, and then combusted at 500°C for two hours to remove their organic components and re-weighed. The sediment remaining after combustion was the inorganic fraction. The organic fraction was calculated by subtracting the inorganic weight from the initial dry weight (i.e., prior to combustion). Inorganic sediment deposition per day was calculated by dividing coarse or fine deposition by the number of days the collectors were deployed.

The percentage of organic material in the sediment fractions was calculated by dividing the organic mass by the total dry mass.

2.2.6. Leaf Litter Decomposition & Associated Macroinvertebrates

Leaf litter decomposition and associated macroinvertebrate community structure were measured in standardized leaf packs deployed over a six-week period between September and October at the time of natural leaf fall in 2016 and 2017 (see Appendix Table 19 & Appendix Table 20 for exact deployment and removal dates). Leaf packs are plastic coarse-mesh bags (5 mm x 10 mm mesh size) containing approximately 10 g of leached, air-dried, and pre-weighed senescent speckled alder leaves (Alnus rugosa, a ubiquitous deciduous species in the riparian zone of all study reaches) and a circular wire frame (20 cm x 15 cm, to help leaf pack keep its shape and facilitate movement of water/oxygen and macroinvertebrates) (Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a). Leaf packs have been suggested to be ecologically relevant for assessing the effects of land use on stream health due to the critical role of allochthonous litter in stream ecosystem functioning, the sensitivity of leaf-litter breakdown to anthropogenic disturbance, and the relative ease of leaf pack implementation and processing (Gessner and Chauvet 2002). The mesh size used in this study was chosen such that stream macroinvertebrates were able to penetrate the bag and access the leaf litter; mass loss of leaf material in these coarse mesh leaf packs was therefore the cumulative result of macroinvertebrate feeding, microbial decomposition, and physical abrasion. Previous studies have suggested a deployment period of at least five weeks to be adequate time for measurable decomposition; this time period was also employed to avoid rain- and snow-induced flooding common to the region after late October (Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a).

Three leaf packs were deployed in depositional areas of the stream floor along a 30 to 50 m reach. Leaf packs were attached to the same brick as the sediment collectors, being careful to avoid pools with heavy silt, areas of high turbulence, and plunge pools (Kreutzweiser and Capell 2001). Upon their retrieval in October, a 0.5 mm mesh net was placed under and downstream of the brick to prevent loss of material or invertebrates. Leaf packs (and material retained in the net) were placed in a collection container and preserved with formaldehyde until analysis.

At the GLFC in Sault Ste. Marie, ON, the contents of the collection containers were rinsed through a 250 μ m sieve to remove the preservative. The rinsed material was transferred to an elutriation trough to facilitate separation of macroinvertebrates from leaf material. The contents of the trough were then rinsed through a stack of 4 mm, 2 mm, and 500 μ m (2016) or 250 μ m (2017) sieves and transferred to sorting trays. The use of sieves eased identification of macroinvertebrates in leaf litter and debris, and all material in sieves was sorted (i.e., no sub-sampling). Inter-year differences in sieve sizes was unintentional (human error). Leaf material was retained in a pre-weighed aluminum dish, while macroinvertebrates, made more visible by addition of a protein-binding dye (phloxine B), were retained separately in vials with ethanol. The leaf fragments were dried to constant mass in a drying oven at 60°C and weighed.

Percent leaf mass lost per degree day was calculated as the difference between initial and post-deployment dry leaf mass divided by the initial leaf mass, then divided again by the number of degree days (sum of daily mean temperatures during deployment period). Leaf breakdown rates were determined using the following equation (Petersen and Cummins 1974):

$$k = -\ln\left(\frac{M_t}{M_0}\right)/t$$

where k is breakdown rate, M_t is the post-deployment dry leaf mass, M₀ is the initial dry leaf mass, and t is the total degree days over the deployment period. Both percent leaf mass lost and breakdown rate were corrected for temperature and duration of deployment because mass lost and decomposition are known to slow with time and temperature (Irons III et al. 1994; Lecerf and Richardson 2010). Note that because no temperature data was recorded for sites PAN 3 and 1 and BAT 2 in 2016, degree days at sites within the other catchment with the same treatment (i.e., KER 3, 1, and 5, respectively) were used to correct percent leaf mass lost and breakdown rate for temperature.

The macroinvertebrates separated from the leaf material were identified to genus by conventional taxonomic methods, with the exception of Chironomidae (3 subgroups identified: Tanypodinae, Tanytarsini, and "other"), Ceratopogonidae, Tabanidae, Gomphidae, Elmidae, and Dytiscidae, which were identified to family, and Oligochaeta, Gastropoda, and Hirudinea which were identified to order. Metrics used to compare macroinvertebrate community structure include total abundance (average of total number of individuals in leaf packs), taxonomic richness (average number of taxa present in leaf packs), % EPT (average % of individuals in orders Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera in leaf packs), % shredders (average % of detritivores consuming coarse particulate organic matter in leaf packs, as identified by Merritt and Cummins (1996)), % Chironomidae (average % of individuals belonging to the Family Chironomidae in leaf packs), Margalef's Richness (average measurement of richness independent of sample size in leaf packs), and Shannon's Diversity Index (average

diversity index accounting for abundance and richness in leaf packs; higher index = more diverse community). These metrics were chosen due to their common use in many biomonitoring programs (e.g., Davis et al. 2001) and due to their relevance to leaf-litter decomposition (Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a).

2.2.7. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes

Hydrogen stable isotope values (i.e., the ratio of deuterium (²H) to hydrogen (H)) were measured in late instars of larval caddisflies (Family: Hydropsychidae), leaves, biofilm, sediment, and water in October 2016 and August, September, and October 2017 to determine diet autochthony (i.e., % algae in diet) for Hydropsychids. Hydropsychids are filter-collectors who spin silken nets to capture food particles (e.g., phytoplankton or smaller items) from the water column, and account for approximately 80% of all Trichopterans in North American streams (Robach 1962). Hydropsychids were chosen for hydrogen stable isotope analysis because they were present at all study sites, and because they use a filter-collecting feeding strategy, which renders their diet a good indicator of the source of organic matter within the suspended pool (Jonsson et al. 2018). For each sampling event, single composite samples of 50 to 100 Hydropsychids were collected by electro-shocking and disturbing rocks around cobble-based riffles over a 30 to 50 m reach at each study site and placed in Whirl-pak® bags with stream water for transport to the lab. In the lab, Hydropsychids were transferred to petri dishes with stream water overnight to facilitate egestion of gut contents, and then frozen at -20°C until analysis (Haro et al. 2013). No results are reported for caddisflies at site PAN 3 in October 2016 due to insufficient sample mass. Leaves (N=1 composite sample per site per sampling event) were scavenged from the water surface or debris jams, placed in

Whirl-pak® bags, and frozen at -20°C until analysis. Biofilm (N=1 composite sample per site per sampling event) was scraped from in-stream rock surfaces with a toothbrush, rinsed with stream water into a Whirl-pak® bag, and stored at -20°C until analysis. Sediment (N=1 composite sample per site per sampling event) was collected using a turkey baster in depositional areas of study streams and stored in Whirl-pak® bags at -20°C until analysis. Stream water (N=3 samples per site per sampling event) was collected at each site using a 10 mL syringe with 0.22 µm filter and stored in 1.5 mL amber glass vials in the dark at 4°C until analysis.

Hydropsychid, leaf, biofilm, and sediment samples were examined for impurities (e.g., invertebrates and sediment on leaf material or in biofilm matrix), then freezedried, homogenized, and weighed into silver microcapsules (5 x 3.5 mm). Sample mass required for analysis was determined based on % hydrogen of the material in order to produce a return of 0.1 mg hydrogen (i.e., 1.4 mg for Hydropsychids, 1.6 mg for leaves, and 8 mg for biofilm). Composite samples were analyzed in triplicate for bulk hydrogen stable isotopes by converting sample hydrogen to hydrogen gas and measuring the isotopic composition using a Thermo-Finnigan Delta Plus XP continuous-flow-isotoperatio mass spectrometer at the G.G. Hatch Stable Isotope Laboratory (Ottawa, ON). Internal standards included hair, kaolinite, and cellulose, and were calibrated to international standards with precision of $\pm 2\%$ (SD) for organic material and $\pm 3\%$ (SD) for inorganic material. Samples and standards were acclimated to local atmospheric hydrogen prior to analysis to correct for exchangeable hydrogen (Wassenaar and Hobson 2003). Hydrogen stable isotope values in water were measured using an LGR Liquid Water Isotope Analyzer DLT-100 at the Colorado Plateau Stable Isotope Laboratory (Flagstaff, Arizona, USA).

Hydrogen stable isotope values are relative to the Vienna Standard Mean Ocean Water and expressed as δ^2 H in parts per thousand (‰), according to this equation:

$$\delta^{2} \mathrm{H} = \left(\frac{\mathrm{R}_{\mathrm{sample}} - \mathrm{R}_{\mathrm{standard}}}{\mathrm{R}_{\mathrm{standard}}} - 1\right) * 1000$$

where R is the corresponding 2 H/H ratio (Fry 2006).

Furthermore, because a consumer's isotope ratio is a combination of environmental water and assimilated food, the environmental water contribution (δ^2 H w_C) was accounted for before calculation of % algae, according to this equation:

$$\delta^2 H_{WC} = \delta^2 H_{cons} - (\delta^2 H_{cons} - \omega_{tot} * \delta^2 H_{water})/(1 - \omega_{tot})$$

where $\delta^2 H_{water}$ is the isotopic value (‰) of stream water, and ω_{tot} is the total contribution of dietary water to the isotopic value (‰) of the consumer ($\delta^2 H_{cons}$), calculated according to:

$$\omega_{\rm tot} = 1 - (1 - \omega)^{\tau}$$
,

where ω is the per-trophic-level contribution of dietary water to consumers and τ is the trophic level ($\tau = 1$ for primary consumers, including Hydropsychids). A ω of 0.20 ± 0.1 was assumed based on previous studies by Solomon et al. (2009), Wang et al. (2009), and Wilkinson et al. (2015).

The relative contribution of aquatic organic matter to the diet of Hydropsychids (% algae of diet) was estimated using a two-source mixing model, according to this equation:

% Algae of Diet =
$$(\delta^2 H_{cons} - \delta^2 H_{ter}) - (\delta^2 H_{aq} - \delta^2 H_{ter}) * 100$$

where $\delta^2 H_{cons}$ is the isotope value (‰) of the consumer (Hydropsychids, corrected for environmental water contribution), $\delta^2 H_{ter}$ is the isotopic value (‰) of the terrestrial food source (leaves), and $\delta^2 H_{aq}$ is the isotope value (‰) of the aquatic food source (biofilm).

Sediment was excluded from the analysis of % algae of diet as plots of $\delta^2 H$ indicated it was well outside the diet range of caddisflies (Appendix Figure 4). Additionally, Hydropsychid δ^2 H values were often found outside the boundaries of terrestrial and aquatic food sources, or there was overlap between the two food sources, rendering the mixing model variably informative. It is proposed that this was due to biofilms not reflecting the isotopic value of aquatic primary producers, but instead being more representative of the mix of components (i.e., algae, bacteria, fungi, sediment, etc.) included in the biofilm matrix. As a solution to this issue, an attempt was made to determine % algae of diet by calculating algal isotope values by subtracting $170 \pm 15\%$ from the δ^2 H value for environmental water for that site, as per studies that suggest primary producers have 160 to 170% lower δ^2 H than environmental water due to fractionation against deuterium during photosynthesis (Solomon et al. 2011; Hondula et al. 2014). Therefore, the two sources used in mixing models for 2016 and 2017 were leaves (measured, terrestrial/allochthonous food source) and algae (calculated, aquatic/autochthonous food source).

2.2.8. *Mercury* (*Hg*)

Different species of Hg were measured in multiple environmental compartments over the two sampling years. In October 2016, MeHg was measured in stream water and MeHg and Hg(II) were measured in Hydropsychids. In August, September, and October 2017, MeHg was measured in stream water, MeHg and Hg(II) were measured in seston and Hydropsychids, and THg was measured in sediment.

Stream water samples (N=4 to 6 samples per site per sampling event) were collected in 250 mL amber glass bottles with Teflon caps by grab-sampling with powder-free gloves upstream of steam activity. Within 12 hours, half of the samples collected at each site were filtered via vacuum filtration using 0.45 µm polyestersulfone (2016) or pre-ashed quartz fibre (2017) filters. Polyestersulfone filters (PFs) were swapped for quartz fibre filters (QFFs) in 2017 as QFFs are known to have low background Hg levels but produce results comparable to PFs (Lewis and Brigham 2004). All water samples (filtered and unfiltered) were preserved with 0.5% HCl (ACS reagent grade, ~34%) and stored in the dark at 4°C until analysis.

Hydropsychids were collected as described above (i.e., same composite sample used as for hydrogen isotope analyses). In October 2017, no Hydropsychids were available for collection for Hg analysis at sites BAT 2 and BAT 3, presumably because they had been washed away by strong flows caused by an extended period of heavy rainfall.

In 2016, an attempt was made to determine Hg in seston by subtracting Hg in filtered stream water from Hg in unfiltered stream water. However, since dissolved Hg often makes up the majority of the waterborne pool, the difference between unfiltered and filtered water, in combination with instrument error, was too small to determine sestonic Hg concentration (Morrison and Watras 1999). In 2017, an alternative method was developed to collect seston in the field (J. Ogorek, USGS, personal communication). Stream water (100 to 300 L) was poured through a clean, 4"-diameter

PVC pipe containing a 63 µm Nitex screen. The retained material was back-washed from the screen into a clean, 500 mL Teflon bottle using deionized water, producing one composite sample per site per sampling event in 2017. Within 12 hours, the retained material was size fractioned to 63 to 500 µm and frozen at -20°C until analysis. This size fraction was chosen to represent the size of particulate matter filtered by the nets of the Hydropsychid caddisflies (Fuller and Mackay 1980). Due to the low concentrations of suspended material in study streams, insufficient seston mass for Hg analysis was collected for 67% of sites over the three sampling events (Appendix Table 36), so monthly data were combined to produce a single 2017 data set for Hg in seston.

In 2017, sediment was collected for total Hg (THg) analysis as described above (i.e., same composite sample used as for hydrogen isotope analyses). THg in sediment was size-fractioned from 63 to 500 μ m (i.e., same fraction as seston) and frozen at -20°C until analysis. Data and analyses for THg in sediment are shown in Appendix Table 37 and Appendix Table 38.

MeHg was extracted from water samples via direct aqueous ethylation and analyzed with a Brooks-Rand automated MERX system. Direct ethylation required pH adjustment to 4.5 to 5.0 using 25% KOH to ensure effectiveness of the 2 M acetate buffer and ethylating agent (1.33 M tetraethylborate in 2% KOH). MeHg was measured using derivatization, purge and trap, and cold vapour atomic fluorescence spectrometry with the Model II Brooks-Rand detector (US EPA Method 1630 modified for direct ethylation (Mansfield and Black 2015; Brooks Rand Analytical notes)). MeHg concentration was calculated based on external calibration curves with minimum five data points for known standards ($R^2 = 0.99$) and reported as ng MeHg per L water.

Samples with 50 pg matrix spike recoveries below 90% and above 110% were recoverycorrected (2016 and 2017). The method blank concentration was subtracted from all samples in 2017 (no method blank in 2016). MeHg in all samples was above the method detection limit (0.59 pg for 2016 and 0.50 pg for 2017), calculated as three times the standard deviation of the calibration (2016) or the method (2017) blanks. Relative standard deviation for sampling triplicates was 17.6% (n=48) for 2016 and 7.9% (n=12) for 2017. Relative standard deviation for analytical triplicates was 15.8% (n=8) for 2016 and 8.3% (n=48) for 2017.

MeHg and Hg(II) in freeze-dried and homogenized Hydropsychids (average moisture = 85%) were extracted and measured following the same analytical procedure and instrumentation as for water, with the addition of prior sample digestion in 25% KOH in MeOH, shaking for one hour, and baking for one hour at 90 to 95°C. Triplicate composite samples for each site were analyzed. MeHg and Hg(II) concentrations were calculated based on external calibration curves with minimum five data points for known standards ($R^2 = 0.99$) and reported as μg MeHg or Hg(II) per kg dry weight (dw) of Hydropsychid. Certified reference material (CRM; DOLT-5, National Research Council Canada) was additionally used to ensure instrument precision and accuracy, and recovery was on average $108.2 \pm 30.6\%$ for MeHg (n = 4) and $69.0 \pm 17.6\%$ for Hg(II) (n=4) in 2016 and 111.7 ± 11.6% for MeHg (n=6) and 75.5 ± 7.5% for Hg(II) (n=6)in 2017. Hg(II) was recovery-corrected based on CRMs in 2016, and based on a rolling average of ongoing recovery check standards in 2017. MeHg and Hg(II) in all samples were above the method detection limit (0.82 pg for MeHg and 8.69 pg for Hg(II) in 2016, and 0.52 pg for MeHg and 1.56 pg for Hg(II) in 2017). The method blank

concentration was subtracted from all samples in 2016 and 2017. Relative standard deviation for analytical triplicates was 16.2% (n=12) for MeHg and 20.2% (n=12) for Hg(II) in 2016, and 11.1% (n=6) for MeHg and 17.6% (n=6) for Hg(II) in 2017. The % MeHg was calculated as the concentration of MeHg divided by the sum of concentrations of MeHg and Hg(II) (assumed to represent total mercury species in tissue) and multiplied by 100.

MeHg and Hg(II) in freeze-dried and homogenized seston was determined following the same digestion, ethylation, and analytical procedure as described for invertebrate tissue. Composite samples for each site were analyzed individually due to mass restrictions (i.e., not run in triplicate as for Hydropsychids), with the exception of two samples run in duplicate to determine analytical precision. MeHg and Hg(II) concentrations were calculated based on external calibration curves with minimum five data points for known standards ($R^2 = 0.99$) and reported as µg MeHg or Hg(II) per kg dw of seston. MeHg and Hg(II) in all samples were above the method detection limit (0.37 pg for MeHg and 2.24 pg for Hg(II)). Relative standard deviation for analytical duplicates was 3.4% (n=2) for MeHg and 1.1% (n=2) for Hg(II). % MeHg was calculated as for Hydropsychids.

THg in freeze-dried sediment was measured using a Nippon Instruments Corporation Mercury Analyzer (NIC-MA 3000). THg was not measured at the upstream site in KER A (site KER 3) for August 2017 due to insufficient sample mass. CRM (MESS-3, National Research Council Canada) recovery was on average $102.3 \pm 2.2\%$ for THg (n = 3). THg in all samples were above method detection limit (0.002 ng). Relative standard deviation for analytical triplicates was 14.9% (n=3). THg in sediment was reported as ppb (dw). Organic matter content of sediment was also determined by combusting pre-weighed samples at 550°C for two hours. The mass of the sediment following combustion was subtracted from the initial mass to determine the proportion of organic matter lost on ignition (LOI). LOI was reported as a percentage of mass lost relative to the initial sample mass (data shown in Appendix Figure 8).

Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) for MeHg in Hydropsychids was calculated for October 2016 and August, September, and October 2017 using the following equation:

$$BAF = \frac{[MeHg]_{H}}{[MeHg]_{FW}}$$

where $[MeHg]_H$ is the monthly average concentration of MeHg in Hydropsychids (dw) and $[MeHg]_{FW}$ is the monthly average concentration of MeHg in filtered water (e.g., Rolfhus et al. 2011).

Biomagnification factor (BMF) for MeHg in Hydropsychids was calculated for August, September, and October 2017 using the following equation:

$$BMF = \frac{[MeHg]_{H}}{[MeHg]_{S}}$$

where $[MeHg]_H$ is the monthly average concentration of MeHg in Hydropsychids (dw) and $[MeHg]_S$ is the 2017 average concentration of MeHg in seston (dw) (e.g., Rolfhus et al. 2011).

2.3. Statistical Analysis

Data for stream temperature, size, and flow are reported in the results for descriptive purposes but were not analyzed statistically or used to make inferences about harvesting impacts because they were not adequately characterized throughout the sampling period and/or were unlikely to be influenced by a selection-based harvesting approach. The remaining indicators underwent statistical analysis using a combination of multi-variate techniques, analysis of variance, and multiple linear regression.

2.3.1. Principal Component Analysis

Because many parameters were measured for water chemistry (N=25) and DOM quality (N=7), Principal Component Analyses (PCAs) were used to reduce the number of variables for each indicator and identify the parameters contributing most significantly to variation among sites. Prior to conducting PCAs, all values for water chemistry and DOM quality were averaged among the five sampling events (i.e., September and October of 2016 and August, September, and October of 2017) to obtain a more robust measurement, and all averaged values were scaled and centered (i.e., to minimize the influence of large values due to differences in units or ranges among variables). Both PCAs were done in R (R Core Team 2016). Variables with the highest correlations with the first two PC axes for water chemistry (WC_PC1 and WC_PC2) and DOM quality (DOM_PC1 and DOM_PC2) were selected for further analysis of spatially cumulative trends and spatial scale of harvesting impact using analysis of variance. Scores for each site on WC_PC1, WC_PC2, DOM_PC1, and DOM_PC2 were used as explanatory variables in mixed effects linear models.

2.3.2. Non-Metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling

Non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (NMDS) analyses were used to observe leaf pack invertebrate community structures in multi-variate space among sites (i.e., all catchments considered, not just within pairs) in 2016 and in 2017. Prior to NMDS analyses, taxa that were present at less than 10% of sites were removed from the data set to minimize potential bias from highly uncommon taxa (Appendix Table 31). Average

abundance of taxa within sites for each year were auto-transformed (Wisconsin's double standardization and square-root transformation) to reduce the influence of dominant taxa on the ordination. NMDS analyses were carried out in R (R Core Team 2016) using the following packages: *vegan* (Oksanen et al. 2017) and *MASS* (Venables and Ripley 2002). An analysis of similarities (ANOSIM) was conducted for both years to test for significant differences in invertebrate communities with varying treatment (i.e., reference vs. harvested) and/or site (i.e., upstream, middle-reach, and downstream locations).

2.3.3. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

Two-factor analyses of variance (ANOVA) were conducted within pairedcatchment comparisons and sampling events to test the null hypothesis of no interaction between treatment (i.e., reference vs. harvested, a categorical variable) and site (i.e., upstream, middle-reach, and downstream positions, a categorical variable), as well as no individual effect of treatment and/or site, on average indicator response within catchment comparisons (GraphPad Prism Version 7.0 d Software, GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Rejection of the null hypothesis ($\alpha = 0.5$) for the interaction between the treatment and site was used as evidence of spatially cumulative trends, as it indicated that the spatial trend in indicator values in harvested catchments was different than in reference catchments. "Limited evidence", "some evidence", and "strong evidence" of spatially cumulative trends was provided if >50%, 50 to 75%, and >75%, respectively, of paired catchment comparisons had a significant interaction between treatment and site. The presence of an interaction was supplemented by testing for an effect of treatment within sites and an effect of site within treatments using the same

two-factor ANOVA. The same criteria for strength of evidence (i.e., "limited", "some", or "strong" evidence among paired comparisons) were used for individual effects of treatment and site. When no interaction was found, a multiple comparisons test was used to test for effects of treatment (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons) or site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons). When an interaction was found, a t-test or a one-factor ANOVA was used to test for the individual effects of treatment or site, respectively. The presence of an adverse treatment effect at the downstream site within a paired comparison was used as evidence for lack of effectiveness of BMPs at broader spatial scales. Prior to running ANOVAs, the normality of the distribution for an indicator response across all sites and years was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilks test and values were transformed as necessary to improve normality and homogeneity of variance.

2.3.4. Linear Mixed Effects Models

Linear mixed effects models were built to identify the combination of explanatory variables (EVs; i.e., catchment, reach, harvesting, and sampling characteristics) that best predicted variance in response variables (RVs; i.e., abiotic, biotic, and contaminant indicators) (Table 2 & Table 3). This approach supplemented ANOVA results by determining if treatment (% area harvested within the last five years, a continuous variable) and site (distance to the farthest downstream site multiplied by -1, a continuous variable), and/or an interaction between the two, were significant predictors of variability in the RVs. This approach also allowed for determination of the influence of other EVs (e.g., year, % EVSA) on variation in the RVs. Site positions (PAN 3, 2, 1; BAT 3, 2 or 2new*, 1; KER A 3, 2, 1; KER B 6, 5, 4) and catchment treatment (PAN_{REF}, BAT_{HARV}, KER A_{REF}, KER B_{HARV}) were included in models as random effects, unless their standard deviation was 0, in which case they were changed to fixed effects or excluded from the model. All other EVs were included as fixed effects. The mixed effects design is desirable for a nested study with limited replication as it models the error structure to overcome omitted variable bias and facilitates more general conclusions (Zuur et al. 2007). All models were built in R (R Core Team 2016) using the following packages: *effects* (Fox 2003), *car* (Fox and Weisberg 2011), *lme4* (Bates et al. 2015), *influence.ME* (Nieuwenhuis et al. 2012), *lmerTest* (Kuznetsova et al. 2017), and *MuMIn* (Bartoń 2018).

For each RV, values for all reference (PAN and KER A) and harvested (BAT and KER B) catchments were analyzed collectively in one model as opposed to upholding the paired-catchment comparison design as was done for the ANOVAs (i.e., PAN vs. BAT, KER A vs. KER B). While catchments were originally chosen to be more similar within pairs than among pairs, all were ultimately dominated by the same geology and forest composition, so it was deemed acceptable to combine catchments within treatments for modelling purposes. The rationale behind doing this was to increase the sample size and thus statistical power of the models. Values were not averaged or separated by year as was done for ANOVAs, with the exception of macroinvertebrate community metrics which were separated by year due to different sieve sizes among years (see above).

Prior to building models, the normality of the distribution for RVs across all sites and years was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilks test and values were transformed as necessary to improve normality and homogeneity of variance. All proportions (in EVs or RVs) were logit-transformed and all EVs were scaled to minimize the influence of

large values due to differences in units or ranges among variables. Proportions below 0 or above 100 were changed to 0 and 100, respectively, to meet the assumptions of the logit transformation (see % algae in Hydropsychid diets). Note that RVs were sometimes used as EVs in models for other indicators; for example, sediment deposition was included as an EV in models where macroinvertebrate abundance was the RV. Individual replicates were used in models as opposed to averages when applicable.

For EV selection, a group of potential EVs and interactions among EVs was compiled based on an a priori determination of those that are likely to be ecologically significant in modelling the RV. Next, a Pearson's correlation analysis was used to identify correlated EVs. When two or more variables (PCA scores for water chemistry and DOM quality) were more than 70% correlated, one of the highly correlated EVs was chosen as the representative variable based on the strength of correlation with other variables within the group (Montgomery and Peck 1992; Allison 2001). The ecologically-relevant EVs filtered by those chosen as representative from the correlation analysis were then used to build a mixed effects model. Variance inflation factors (VIFs) were further screened for co-linearity among EVs included in the model; EVs with VIFs greater than 5 indicated strong multi-collinearity, and one of the co-linear variables was used as the representative variable for that group, and the others were removed from the model (O'Brien 2007). The model containing all ecologically-relevant but not correlated or co-linear EVs was the "full" or "global" model used for model selection. Variables that were identified as correlated or co-linear by Pearson's correlation analysis or VIFs and accordingly not included in the full model are reported in the text as they may be alternative predictors of RVs.

Model selection was conducted using an automated model selection function in R. Using the full and null models, the *dredge* function (MuMIn package; Bartoń 2018) identified combinations of EVs that maximized goodness of fit and model complexity, with a lower Akaike Information Criteria adjusted for small sample sizes (AIC_c) value indicating a better model fit for the data (Zuur et al. 2009). The *model.avg* function was used to find the average model from all models identified by *dredge* that had Δ AIC_c of 7 or less. Models with a difference in AIC_c of less than 7 are considered plausible and containing variables with relevant information (Anderson 2008). The average model for each RV was determined to be the best-fitting model.

Model validation was carried out by observing the distribution of model residuals to ensure normality, observing a plot of residuals versus model-fitted values to ensure homogeneity, and applying the Cook's Distance test to identify outliers (points with Cook's Distance > 1 were deemed influential and removed from data set; Fox 2002). The average best-fitting model (meeting the above assumptions) for each RV is reported in the text. For each EV in the average model, the estimate for the slope coefficient, the 95% confidence interval, and the relative variable importance are reported. EVs with confidence intervals that do not overlap zero were considered to be statistically significant predictors of the RV. The conditional R^2 (R^2 associated with both fixed and random effects) for the average model is also reported.

	Indicator	Response Variable					
Abiotic	Water Chemistry	 Conductivity (µmho/cm) TN (ppm) 					
	DOM Quality	 SUVA FI β:α 					
	Sediment Deposition	 Fine, inorganic deposition (day⁻¹) Coarse, inorganic deposition (day⁻¹) Fine % organic content Coarse % organic content 					
Biotic	Leaf Decomposition	 % Leaf mass lost (degree day⁻¹) Leaf breakdown rate 					
	Macroinvertebrate Communities	 Abundance Taxonomic Richness % EPT % Shredders % Chironomidae Margalef's Richness Shannon's Diversity Index 					
	Aquatic vs. Terrestrial Contribution to Diet	• % Algae					
Contaminant	Mercury Concentration in Water & Biota	 MeHg in water, Hydropsychids, seston Hg(II) in Hydropsychids, seston % MeHg in Hydropsychids, seston THg in Sediment BAF and BMF in Hydropsychids 					

Table 2: Summary of indicators and their corresponding response variables (RVs) that were assessed using the statistical analyses described above. RVs in bold are shown in the "Results" section; all others are included in the Appendix.

Table 3: Summary of environmental and sampling characteristics considered for inclusion as explanatory variables (EVs) in linear mixed effects models, prior to the EV selection process described above. Select response variables (RVs) act as EVs for other indicators.

Environmental / Sampling Characteristics	Explanatory Variables				
	• Catchment size (ha)				
Catchment Characteristics	• Effective Variable Source Area (% EVSA, m ²)				
	• Extent of deciduous vegetation (% Dec)				
	• Site (Continuous): Distance from site to farthest				
	downstream site within catchment (multiplied by -1)				
	• Stream flow (velocity, m/s)				
	• Water Chemistry: WC_PC1, WC_PC2				
	• DOM: DOM_PC1, DOM_PC2				
	• Sediment Deposition: Fine, inorganic deposition per day,				
Reach Characteristics	% Organic content of fine sediment				
	• Leaf Litter Decomposition: % Leaf mass lost per degree				
	day				
	Hydrogen Stable Isotopes: % Algae in Hydropsychid				
	diets				
	• Mercury: MeHg in filtered water, MeHg and Hg(II) in				
	seston, BAF				
Harvesting Characteristics	• Treatment: % Area harvested within last 5 years				
	• Logging road density (m/ha)				
	• Year of sampling (ordered 2016, 2017)				
Sampling Characteristics	• Month of sampling (ordered August, September,				
	October)				

3. Results

3.1. Site Characteristics

3.1.1. Stream Temperature

In 2016, summer maximum temperature (SMT) and fall mean temperature (FMT) across all sites ranged from 15.5 to 24.1°C and 11.6 to 12.5°C, respectively (Figure 3). In 2017, SMT and FMT were generally lower than in 2016 (inter-annual differences within sites ranged from 0.6 to 5.1°C and 0.5 to 1.9°C, respectively) at 16.4 to 22.5°C and 10.3 to 13.7°C across all sites, respectively.



Figure 3. Fall mean $(\pm$ SD) temperature (FMT; orange squares, average of bi-hourly recordings from September 1st until temperature logger removal in late October) and summer maximum temperature (SMT; green Xs, maximum of bi-hourly recordings 12.5 from July 1st until August 31st) for all study sites in A) 2016 and B) 2017. Note that no temperature data was recorded for sites PAN 3 and PAN 1 in 2016 as temperature loggers were lost/dead upon retrieval. See Appendix Table 1 to Appendix Table 4 for exact logger deployment and removal dates and monthly temperature data.

3.1.2. Stream Size & Velocity

Measurements for stream size and velocity were taken in August, September,

and October 2017, but not in 2016.

3.1.2.1. Stream Width & Depth

In 2017, stream width and mean depth across all sites and sampling months ranged from 0.4 to 8.0 m and 0.08 to 0.42 m, respectively (Table 4). There was substantial variation in stream width and mean depth across months and, for this reason, monthly measurements were not averaged. Stream width was greatest in October at all sites than in other months (except PAN 1 and 3, higher in August). Stream mean depth was also consistently greatest in October at all sites (except PAN 1, BAT 2new*, and KER 4, higher in August). A strong spatial gradient in stream width (i.e., increasing from upstream to downstream) was observed in the PAN_{REF} and BAT_{HARV} catchments, but less so in the KER A_{REF} and KER B_{HARV} catchments. The spatial gradient in mean stream depth was not consistent among sites.

Catchment Name	Site Name	Aug Width (m)	Sept Width (m)	Oct Width (m)	Aug Depth (m)	Sept Depth (m)	Oct Depth (m)
	PAN 3	1.5	0.4	1.6	0.17	0.09	0.16
PANREF	PAN 2	No data	1.7	2.4	No data	0.16	0.19
	PAN 1	8.0	5.4	4.5	0.22	0.15	0.20
	BAT 3	0.9	0.5	1.3	0.08	0.13	0.15
D A T	BAT 2	3.4	3.0	4	0.32	0.31	0.37
DA I HARV	BAT 2new*	1.7	1.6	1.5	0.33	0.31	0.42
	BAT 1	8.0	7.5	11	0.20	0.18	0.22
VED	KER 3	1.4	1.1	2.3	0.09	0.10	0.21
KEK A	KER 2	3.4	3.5	6.5	0.20	0.22	0.26
AREF	KER 1	2.3	3.6	4.9	0.08	0.10	0.24
	KER 6	2.0	1.9	2.8	0.11	0.12	0.19
KER B _{HARV}	KER 5	2.0	1.4	2.7	0.27	0.28	0.34
	KER 4	3.1	2	2.6	0.16	0.14	0.21

Table 4: Stream width and mean depth in August, September, and October 2017. No width or depth measurements were taken for site PAN 2 in August due to adverse weather conditions.

3.1.2.2. Stream Velocity

In 2017, monthly mean and maximum stream velocity across all sites ranged from 0.11 to 0.45 m/s and from 0.15 to 0.72 m/s, respectively (Figure 4). Mean velocity tended to increase downstream for all catchments except KER B_{HARV} , which is one of
the catchments that also did not display a strong spatial gradient in stream width or mean depth (Table 4). Similar trends for all sites were also noted for mean and maximum stream discharge (Appendix Figure 5).



Figure 4: Mean (\pm SD; orange, mean of measurements in August, September, and October) and maximum (green, maximum of measurements in August, September and October) stream velocity (m/s) for all study sites in 2017. No velocity measurements were taken for site PAN 2 in August due to adverse weather conditions.

3.2. Indicators of Spatially Cumulative Impacts

3.2.1. Water Chemistry

3.2.1.1. Multivariate Water Chemistry Analyses

Water chemistry data are shown in Appendix Table 8, and generally indicate similar concentrations of NH₄, SRP, TP, Zn, Cd, Cu, Ni, and Pb among sites and sampling months in both 2016 and 2017. A PCA of all 25 water chemistry parameters (values averaged for 2016 and 2017 samples) produced two PC axes; the first explained 47.6% of variability within the data, and the second explained 19.3% of variability within the data (Figure 5). The first PC axis (WC_PC1) was strongly and negatively correlated with Mg, conductivity, Fe, alkalinity, Al, and TIC (r<-0.85) and negatively correlated with pH, K, Ca, Na, TOC, TP, and Mn (r<-0.60). The second PC axis (WC_PC2) was positively correlated with TN, NO₂+NO₃, SiO₂, and K (r>0.60). The middle-reach and downstream sites for the KER B_{HARV} catchment (sites KER 5 and 4) were positioned on the far left of WC_PC1, and these sites had among the highest values for conductivity, Mg, Fe, Na, and TP. The upstream site for the BAT_{HARV} catchment (BAT 3) and the middle-reach site for KER A_{REF} (KER 2) exhibited large variation in the PCA and were positioned on opposite ends of WC_PC2; BAT 3 had the highest values for TN, NO₂+NO₃, SiO₂, and K, whereas KER 2 had relatively low values for those parameters. Three out of four sites in BAT_{HARV} (sites BAT 2, BAT 2new*, and BAT 1) were clustered closely together in the PCA, suggesting similar water quality at these sites, but no other obvious clustering was noted among sites on the basis of treatment or site.



Figure 5: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) for water chemistry parameters (red arrows) for all sites (black text), with values averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=2 for all sites except BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3).

The two water quality variables chosen for further analyses (see below) were conductivity (i.e., to represent variation in WC_PC1) and TN (i.e., to represent variation in WC_PC2). Conductivity was chosen because it was strongly correlated with

WC_PC1, pH, alkalinity, Ca, Mg, and TIC (r>0.85), and is a holistic measure of cations in the environment. TN had the strongest correlation with WC_PC2 (r=0.78) and was also correlated with K, Na, SiO₂, and NO₂+NO₃ (r>0.6). See Appendix Figure 2 and Appendix Table 9 for correlation coefficients for all water chemistry parameters among themselves and with first two PC axes.

3.2.1.2. Conductivity

Average conductivity in 2016 and 2017 ranged from 17.5 to 35.9 µmho/cm across all sites (Appendix Table 8). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}), there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, *p*<0.0001) (Figure 6). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average conductivity was higher in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the upstream site and lower in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the downstream site (multiple t-tests, p=0.0031, 0.0031, respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in PAN_{REF} only (one-factor ANOVA, *p*<0.0001); average conductivity was higher at the middle-reach site than the upstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0064), and higher at the downstream site than either the upstream or middle-reach sites (p = < 0.0001, 0.0004, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}), there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.46) and no effect of treatment within sites (p=0.27). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (p < 0.0001); average conductivity at the middle-reach and downstream sites was higher than at the upstream site for KER A_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p < 0.0001) and for KER B_{HARV} (*p*=0.0001, 0.0001, respectively).



Figure 6: Average (\pm SD) conductivity (µmho/cm) in 2016 and 2017 (N=5 except for BAT middle-reach, where N=3) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B. The asterisk (*) indicates significant difference among average conductivity between the two paired catchments at that site. The letters indicate significant difference among average conductivity between site locations within a treatment.

The average best-fitting model for conductivity indicated positive effects of treatment (% area harvested in the last five years), site (distance to farthest downstream site multiplied by -1), and road density, and negative effects of % EVSA and flow velocity (Table 5). The effects of site and treatment were significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R^2 was 0.94, indicating a high proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs.

Table 5: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for conductivity (μ mho/cm), as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables							
Response Variable		Site	Treatment	% EVSA	Road	Flow			
	Slope Coefficient	0.25	0.19	-0.04	0.07	-0.03			
Conductivity (µmho/cm)	95% Confidence Interval	0.11 to 0.39	0.02 to 0.36	-0.24 to 0.17	-0.08 to 0.02	-0.07 to 0.01			
(µmino, cm)	Relative Variable Importance	0.74	0.09	0.05	0.04	0.03			

¹Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Treatment = % subcatchment area harvested within the last 5 years; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); Flow = stream flow velocity (m/s). ²Site highly correlated (r=0.86) with catchment size (not included in full model); % Dec (% deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model.

Overall, there was some evidence of spatially cumulative trends for conductivity in harvested catchments as indicated by an interaction between treatment and site for only one of two (50%) paired comparisons. There was some evidence (50%) of an effect of treatment within sites and strong evidence (100%) for an effect of site within treatments in both paired catchment comparisons, which was also noted in linear models (positive).

3.2.1.3. Total Nitrogen (TN)

Average TN in 2016 and 2017 ranged from 0.22 to 0.61 ppm across all sites

(Appendix Table 8). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs.

BAT_{HARV}), there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA,

p=0.011) (Figure 7). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average TN was

higher in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the upstream and middle-reach sites (multiple t-

tests; p=0.010, 0.016, respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in

BAT_{HARV} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0005); average TN was higher at the upstream site than at the middle-reach and downstream sites (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0005, 0.0058, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}), there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.96), no effect of treatment (p=0.06), and no effect of site (p=0.99).



Figure 7: Mean (\pm SD) total nitrogen (TN, ppm) averaged for 2016 and 2017 measurements (N=5 except for BAT middle-reach, where N=3) in at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference among average TN (log-transformed) between the two paired catchments at a site. The letters indicate significant difference among average TN between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for TN indicated positive effects of treatment,

road density, % EVSA, and fine sediment deposition, and a negative effect of flow velocity (Table 6). The effect of treatment was significant, and this variable also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.53, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. **Table 6:** Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for total nitrogen (TN, ppm), as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables							
Response	e Variable	Treatment	Road	Flow	% EVSA	Dep			
	Slope Coefficient	0.23	0.05	-0.05	0.03	0.03			
TN (ppm)	95% Confidence Interval	0.12 to 0.34	-0.05 to 0.14	-0.12 to 0.03	-0.05 to 0.11	-0.06 to 0.12			
	Relative Variable Importance	0.82	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03			

¹Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha subcatchment); Flow = stream flow velocity (m/s); % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Dep = Fine, inorganic sediment deposition (g/day). ²Site highly correlated (r=0.86) with catchment size (not included in full model).

Overall, there was some evidence of spatially cumulative trends for TN in harvested catchments as indicated by an interaction between treatment and site for one of two (50%) paired comparisons. There was some evidence (50%) for an effect of treatment in paired comparisons, and it was a positive predictor in linear models. There was also some evidence (50%) for an effect of site in paired comparisons, but this was not observed in linear models.

3.2.2. DOM Quality

3.2.2.1. Multivariate DOM Quality Analyses

DOM quality data are shown in Appendix Table 10, and generally indicate similar values for HIX and E2E3 among sites and sampling periods, but more variable concentrations for other DOM measures. A PCA of all seven DOM optical properties (values averaged for 2016 and 2017 samples) produced two PC axes; the first explained 74.6% of variance within the data, and the second explained 15.7% of variance within the data (Figure 8). The first PC axis (DOM_PC1) was strongly and positively correlated with HIX, mHIX, SUVA, E2E3, and SAC₃₄₀ (r>0.85), and negatively correlated with FI (r=-0.82). The second PC axis (DOM_PC2) was strongly and negatively correlated with β : α (r=-0.97). Sites in the KER B_{HARV} catchment grouped relatively close together on the far right of DOM_PC1, and had among the highest values for HIX, SUVA, E2E3, and SAC₃₄₀. The upstream site for the KER A_{REF} catchment (KER 3) has positioned on the bottom end of DOM_PC2, but did not exhibit higher or lower β : α when compared to other sites. No other obvious clustering of sites was noted on the basis of treatment or site position.



Figure 8: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) for DOM optical properties (red arrows) for all sites (black text), with values averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=1 for all sites except for BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3).

The three DOM quality variables chosen for further analyses (see below) were SUVA, FI, and β : α . SUVA was chosen because it was strongly and positively correlated with DOM_PC2, HIX, E2E3, and SAC₃₄₀ (*r*>0.90). Similarly, FI was negatively correlated with DOM_PC1, HIX, SUVA, E2E3, and SAC₃₄₀ (*r*>0.60). β : α was chosen because it was strongly and negatively correlated with DOM_PC2 (*r*=-0.97). While β : α

was weakly and negatively correlated with all parameters besides E2E3 (r>-0.30), it is included to represent variance in a second dimension (see Appendix Figure 3 and Appendix Table 11 for correlation coefficients of all variables among themselves and with PC axes).

3.2.2.2. Specific UV Absorbance at 254 nm (SUVA), Fluorescence Index (FI), & Freshness Index (β : α)

Average SUVA in 2016 and 2017 ranged from 13.8 to 34.6 across all sites (Appendix Table 10). Within both paired-catchment comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV} and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}), there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.10 and p=0.72, respectively) and no effect of treatment (p=0.08, Sidak's Multiple Comparisons p>0.05, respectively) or site (p=0.17 and p=0.99, respectively) (Figure 9). Similar results were noted for FI and β : α (see Appendix Table 12).





The average best-fitting model for SUVA indicated positive effects of road density, site, fine sediment deposition, treatment, and flow velocity, and negative effects

of year, % EVSA, month, and interaction between treatment and site (Table 7). The effects of year, road density, and the interaction between treatment and site were significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance for year and road density and greatest slope coefficients for all). The conditional R^2 was 0.65, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. See Appendix Table 13 for average model for β : α (null model was average best-fitting model for FI).

Table 7: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for specific UV absorbance at 254 nm (SUVA), as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

				Explanatory Variables									
Response Variable		Year	Road	Site	Dep	Treat ment	Flow	% EVS A	Mont h	Treat: Site			
	Slope Coefficient	-0.20	0.13	0.08	0.08	0.02	0.03	-0.03	-0.02	-0.14			
SUVA	95% Confidence Interval	-0.28 to - 0.12	0.03 to 0.22	- 0.004 to 0.16	-0.04 to 0.21	-0.16 to 0.20	-0.06 to 0.13	-0.12 to 0.06	-0.11 to 0.06	-0.23 to - 0.05			
	Relative Variable Importance	0.91	0.39	0.13	0.06	0.06	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01			

¹Year = year of sampling; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Dep = fine, inorganic sediment deposition (g/day); Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Flow = stream flow velocity (m/s); % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Month = month of sampling (1=August, 2=September, 3=October); Treat:Site = interaction between treatment and site. ²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.86) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); Dep highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model).

Overall, there was no evidence of spatially cumulative trends for SUVA in

harvested catchments as indicated by the absence of an interaction between treatment

and site in both paired comparisons. There was also a lack of evidence (0%) for an

effect of treatment or site in both paired comparisons and in linear models.

3.2.3. Sediment Deposition

3.2.3.1. Inorganic Sediment Deposition

Average fine, inorganic sediment deposition in 2016 ranged from 0.02 to 0.28 g/day across all sites (Appendix Table 14). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.036) (Figure 10). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average deposition was higher in PAN_{REF} than BAT_{HARV} at all sites (multiple t-tests, p=0.079, 0.0070, 0.019, respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in PAN_{REF} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.037); average deposition was higher at the downstream site than the middle-reach site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.050). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV} for 2016, sediment deposition overall was approximately 2 to 4 times higher than in PAN_{REF} or BAT_{HARV}, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, *p*=0.34) and no effect of treatment (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p > 0.05). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (two-factor ANOVA, *p*<0.0001): average deposition was higher downstream than middle-reach in KER A_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0059), and higher upstream and downstream than middle-reach in KER B_{HARV} (p=0.0025, 0.0002, respectively). Average coarse, inorganic sediment deposition per day in 2016 followed similar treatment and spatial trends (data are shown in Appendix Table 16).

Average fine, inorganic sediment deposition in 2017 ranged from 0.004 to 0.180 g/day across all sites (Appendix Table 15). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between

treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.78) and no effect of treatment within sites (p=0.11) (Figure 10). Within treatments, however, there was an effect of site (p<0.0001): average deposition was higher downstream than upstream and at the middle-reach site in both PAN_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0005, <0.0001, respectively) and BAT_{HARV} (p=0.0068, 0.0007, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.49). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment (p=0.003): average deposition was higher in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the downstream site only (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.024). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.007): average deposition was higher downstream than upstream for KER B_{HARV} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.012). Average coarse, inorganic sediment deposition per day in 2017 followed similar treatment and spatial trends (data are shown in Appendix Table 16).



Figure 10: Mean (\pm SD, N=3-7) fine (1.5-250 µm), inorganic sediment deposition (g/day) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average deposition between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate significant difference among average deposition between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for fine, inorganic sediment deposition indicated positive effects of % EVSA, site, and road density, and negative effects of year and treatment (Table 8). The effects of year, site, and % EVSA were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance slope coefficients). The conditional R^2 was 0.74, indicating a moderate

proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. See Appendix Table 17

for the average model for coarse, inorganic sediment deposition.

Table 8: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence interval, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for fine, inorganic sediment deposition per day determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c <$ 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

			Explanatory Variables				
Respons	e Variable	Voor	Sito	%	Treat	Pood	
		Tear	Site	EVSA	ment	Koau	
Fine Inorganic	Slope Coefficient	-0.41	0.47	0.32	-0.09	0.05	
Sediment Deposition (g/day)	95% Confidence Interval	-0.52 to - 0.30	0.29 to 0.66	0.15 to 0.49	-0.34 to 0.17	-0.11 to 0.21	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.92	0.89	0.81	0.09	0.05	

¹Year = year of sampling; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment). ²Site highly correlated (r=0.89) with catchment size (not included in full model); Site highly correlated (r=0.79) with Flow (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model.

Overall, there was limited evidence (25%) of spatially cumulative trends for fine, inorganic sediment deposition in harvested catchments in paired comparisons. There was limited evidence (25%) of an effect of treatment and some evidence (75%) of an effect of site in paired comparisons. Site was also a positive predictor in linear models.

3.2.3.2. Organic Content of Sediment

Average organic content of fine sediment ranged in 2016 ranged from 2.4 to

22.6% across all sites (Appendix Table 14). Within the first paired-catchment

comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2016, there was an interaction between

treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.011) (Figure 11). Within sites, there was an

effect of treatment; average % organic content was higher in BAT_{HARV} at all sites

(multiple t-tests, *p*=0.0074, <0.0001, 0.0074, respectively). Within both treatments,

there was an effect of site (one-factor ANOVA, p < 0.0001, < 0.0001, respectively); average % organic content was higher at the upstream and middle-reach sites than the downstream site in PAN_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p = <0.0001, <0.0001, respectively), and higher at the middle-reach site compared to the upstream and downstream sites and at the upstream site compared to the downstream site for BAT_{HARV} (p=0.0005, <0.0001, <0.0001, respectively). Within the second pairedcatchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0047). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average % organic was higher in KER A_{REF} at the upstream and middle-reach sites (multiple t-tests, p=0.0003, 0.0170, respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site for KER A_{REF} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0006); average % organic was higher at the upstream and middle-reach sites than the downstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0004, 0.0430, respectively). Average organic content of coarse sediment in 2016 followed similar treatment and spatial trends (data are shown in Appendix Table 16).

Average organic content of fine sediment in 2017 ranged from 3.4 to 37.0% across all sites (Appendix Table 15). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.91) and no effect of treatment (p=0.13) (Figure 11). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (p<0.0001); average % organic was higher at the upstream and middle-reach sites than the downstream site in PAN_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0028, 0.0002, respectively) and in BAT_{HARV} (p=0.0020, <0.0001, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER

69

 B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.39). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment (p=0.0008); average % organic was higher for KER A_{REF} than KER B_{HARV} at the upstream site only (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0077). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in KER A_{REF} only (p=0.0013); average % organic was higher upstream than at the middle-reach and downstream sites (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0390, 0.0025, respectively). Average organic content of coarse sediment in 2017 followed similar treatment and spatial trends (data are shown in Appendix Table 16).



Figure 11: Mean (\pm SD, N=3-7) % organic content of fine (1.5-250 µm) sediment at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates

a significant difference among average % organic between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate significant difference among average % organic between site locations within a treatment.

The average best-fitting model for organic content of fine sediment indicated positive effects of year and treatment, and negative effects of site, % EVSA, road density, and leaf mass lost (Table 9). The effects of site and year were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance slope coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.79, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. See Appendix Table 18 for the average model for % organic content of coarse sediment.

Table 9: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for % organic content of fine sediment, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables								
Response Variable		Site	Year	% EVSA	Treat ment	Road	% Leaf Lost			
	Slope Coefficient	-0.58	0.39	-0.16	0.03	-0.06	-0.02			
% Organic of Fine Sediment	95% Confidence Interval	-0.77 to -0.39	0.31 to 0.47	-0.38 to 0.05	-0.29 to 0.35	-0.27 to 0.15	-0.15 to 0.11			
	Relative Variable Importance	0.94	0.94	0.19	0.10	0.07	0.03			

¹Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Year = year of sampling; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); % Leaf Lost = % leaf mass lost per degree day.

²Site highly correlated (r=0.89) with catchment size (not included in full model); Site highly correlated (r=0.79) with Flow (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model.

Overall, there was some evidence (50%) of spatially cumulative trends for

organic content of fine sediment in harvested catchments in paired comparisons. There

was strong evidence (100%) of an effect of treatment eand site in paired comparisons.

Site was also a negative predictor in linear models.

3.2.4. Leaf Litter Decomposition

3.2.4.1. Leaf Mass Lost & Breakdown Rate

Average leaf mass lost per degree day in 2016 ranged from 0.05 to 0.10% across all sites (Appendix Table 19). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, 0.024) (Figure 12). There was no effect of treatment (multiple t-tests, p>0.05), but there was an effect of site in BAT_{HARV} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.026); average % leaf mass lost was higher at the upstream site than the middle-reach site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.022). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2016, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.23), no effect of treatment (p=0.33), and no effect of site (p=0.87). Similar treatment and spatial trends were noted for leaf litter breakdown rate for 2016 (data are shown in Appendix Table 21).

Average leaf mass lost per degree day in 2017 ranged from 0.06 to 0.12% across all sites (Appendix Table 20). Within both paired-catchment comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV} and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) in 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.50 and p=0.30, respectively), no effect of treatment (p=0.05 and p=0.09, respectively), and no effect of site (p=0.77 and p=0.19, respectively) (Figure 12). Similar treatment and spatial trends were noted for leaf litter breakdown rate for 2017 (Appendix Table 21).



Figure 12: Mean (\pm SD, N=3) % leaf mass lost per degree day at upstream, middlereach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The letters indicate significant difference among average % leaf mass lost between site locations within a treatment.

The average best-fitting model for leaf mass lost indicated positive effects of year, treatment, % shredders, and % EVSA, and negative effects of DOM_PC2, fine sediment deposition, DOM_PC1, and site (Table 10). The effects of year, treatment, and % shredders were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.37, indicating a limited proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. See Appendix Table 22 for the average best-fitting model for leaf litter breakdown rate.

Table 10: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in average model for % leaf mass lost per degree day, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables									
Response Variable		Year	Treat ment	Shred ders	DOM_ PC2	Dep	DOM_ PC1	Site	% EVSA		
	Slope Coefficient	0.14	0.13	0.11	-0.09	-0.04	-0.02	-0.02	0.002		
% Leaf Mass Lost (Degree Day ⁻¹)	95% Confidence Interval	0.04 to 0.24	0.03 to 0.22	0.002 to 0.22	-0.20 to 0.01	-0.19 to 0.10	-0.15 to 0.11	-0.12 to 0.07	-0.10 to 0.10		
	Relative Variable Importance	0.60	0.13	0.11	0.10	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.01		

¹Year = year of sampling; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Shredders = % of invertebrates with shredding feeding strategy; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Dep = fine, inorganic sediment deposition per day; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area.

²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.86) with catchment size (not included in full model); % EVSA highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with flow (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and DOM_PC2 highly correlated (*r*=-0.68, -0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model; Road and Dep had high VIFs (>4), so Road removed from full model.

Overall, there was limited evidence (25%) of spatially cumulative impacts for %

leaf mass lost per degree day in paired comparisons. There was no evidence (0%) of an

effect of treatment and limited evidence (25%) of an effect of site in paired

comparisons. Treatment was a positive predictor in linear models.

3.2.5. Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates

See Appendix Table 23 and Appendix Table 24 for complete list and counts of

invertebrates identified in leaf packs. Leaf litter macroinvertebrate communities could not be compared between 2016 and 2017 as different sieve sizes were used to separate them from leaf litter. Therefore, separate models were generated for each year. ANOVA and model results for % EPT, Margalef's Richness, and Shannon's Diversity Index metrics are shown in the Appendix Table 28 to Appendix Table 30.

3.2.5.1. Multivariate Invertebrate Community Analysis

In 2016, sites in KER A_{REF} (KER 3, 2, 1) and sites in KER B_{HARV} (KER 6, 5, 4) catchments clustered separately in ordination space, suggesting distinct leaf pack macroinvertebrate assemblages among treatments for these catchments (Figure 13). In contrast, sites in PAN_{REF} (PAN 3, 2, 1) and BAT_{HARV} (BAT 3, 2, 1) were more scattered in ordination space, suggesting that assemblages did not segregate by treatment for these catchments. There was also no obvious clustering of sites by spatial orientation (i.e., headwater, middle-reach, and downstream). Overall, the ANOSIM did not detect statistically significant differences among communities on the basis of treatment or site (R=0.04, -0.07, respectively; *p*=0.24, 0.74, respectively).

In 2017, the grouping of leaf pack macroinvertebrate communities by treatment was similar to 2016, including sites in KER A_{REF} and KER B_{HARV} which also clustered in ordination space (Figure 13). Again, there was no obvious grouping of sites by spatial orientation. Overall, there were no significant differences in communities at sites on the basis of treatments or location in 2017, as indicated by the ANOSIM analysis (R=0.02, - 0.01, respectively; p=0.35, 0.50, respectively).



Figure 13: NMDS ordination plots of leaf-litter invertebrate community composition (based on average abundance per site) at A) 6 reference and 6 harvested sites in 2016. (Stress = 0.073) and at B) 6 reference and 7 harvested sites in 2017 (Stress = 0.12). Sites in harvested catchments are shown in green and sites in reference catchments are shown in black.

3.2.5.2. Abundance

Average abundance of leaf pack macroinvertebrates in 2016 ranged from 42 to 254 individuals across all sites (Appendix Table 23). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2016, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.55) and no effect of treatment (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) (Figure 14). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (p=0.0002): average abundance was higher at the middle-reach and downstream sites than the upstream site for both PAN_{REF} (Tukey Multiple Comparisons, p=0.015, 0.001, respectively) and BAT_{HARV} (p=0.033, 0.014, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2016, there was no

interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.56), and no effect of treatment (p=0.84) or site (p=0.64) on average abundance.

Average abundance of leaf pack macroinvertebrates in 2017 ranged from 243 to 2039 individuals across all sites (Appendix Table 24). Within both paired-catchment comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV} and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.39 and p=0.98, respectively) and no effect of treatment (p=0.17 and p=0.40, respectively) or site (p=0.90 and p=0.28, respectively) on average invertebrate abundance (Figure 14).





The letters indicate a significant difference in average invertebrate abundance between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for leaf pack macroinvertebrate abundance in 2016 indicated positive effects of site, road density, treatment, and DOM_PC2, and negative effects of % EVSA and fine sediment deposition (Table 11). The conditional R² was 0.51, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. The average best-fitting model in 2017 indicated positive effects of % EVSA, DOM_PC1, and road density, and negative effects of treatment, DOM_PC2, and site. The conditional R² was 0.24, indicating a limited proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. In both years, no effects were statistically significant or had great explanatory power.

Table 11: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for leaf pack macroinvertebrate abundance in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$).

				Explai	natory Va	riables		
Response	Variable	% EVSA	Site	Road	Treat ment	Dep	DOM_ PC2	DOM_ PC1
	Slope Coefficient	-0.17	0.14	0.12	0.08	-0.03	0.006	
Abundance 2016	95% Confidence Interval	-0.46 to 0.11	-0.15 to 0.43	-0.17 to 0.41	-0.22 to 0.38	-0.34 to 0.27	-0.30 to 0.31	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.09	0.07	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.05	
Abundance 2017	Slope Coefficient	0.21	-0.06	0.07	-0.23		-0.20	0.19
	95% Confidence Interval	-0.05 to 0.48	-0.32 to 0.20	-0.24 to 0.39	-0.50 to 0.04		-0.47 to 0.07	-0.11 to 0.49
	Relative Variable Importance	0.16	0.03	0.05	0.17		0.14	0.13

¹% EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Dep = fine, inorganic

sediment deposition per day; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1.

²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full models); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full models); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full models); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=-0.70) with Flow (not included in full models); Dep and DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (r=-0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full models); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full models; % Organic and Site had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Organic removed from full models; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016, so DOM_PC1 removed from full model; Road and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2017, so Road removed from full models.

Overall, there was no evidence (0%) of spatially cumulative trends for

invertebrate abundance in paired comparisons. There was no evidence (0%) of an effect

of treatment and limited evidence (25%) of an effect of site in paired comparisons.

Neither treatment nor site were significant predictors in linear models.

3.2.5.3. Taxonomic Richness

Average leaf pack macroinvertebrate taxonomic richness in 2016 ranged from

7.0 to 22.3 taxa across all sites (Appendix Table 25). Within both paired-catchment

comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV} and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2016, there was

no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.18 and p=0.39,

respectively) and no effect of treatment (p=0.98 and p=0.89, respectively) or site

(p=0.35 and p=0.33, respectively) on average taxonomic richness (Figure 15).

Average leaf pack macroinvertebrate taxonomic richness in 2017 ranged from 13.7 to 28.3 taxa across all sites (Appendix Table 26). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.37) and no effect of treatment (p=0.32) on average taxonomic richness (Figure 15). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in BAT_{HARV} only (p=0.0024); average taxonomic richness was higher at the downstream site than the upstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0046). Within the

second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, *p*=0.76), and no effect of treatment (*p*=0.72) or site (*p*=0.35).



Figure 15: Average (± SD, N=3) leaf pack macroinvertebrate taxonomic richness (number of taxa) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The letters indicate a significant difference in average taxonomic richness between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for leaf pack macroinvertebrate taxonomic

richness in 2016 indicated positive effects of site, and negative effects of % EVSA, treatment, DOM_PC2, road density, DOM_PC1, and an interaction between treatment and site (Table 12). No effects of were statistically significant or had great explanatory

power. The conditional R^2 was 0.59, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. The average best-fitting model in 2017 indicated positive effects of site, road density, and an interaction between treatment and site, and negative effects of treatment, DOM_PC2, and % EVSA. The effect of site was statistically significant, and this variable also had the greatest explanatory power (highest relative variable importance and slope coefficient). The conditional R^2 was 0.64, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs.

Table 12: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for leaf pack macroinvertebrate taxonomic richness in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$).

				Expla	natory Va	riables		
Response	Variable	% EVSA	Site	Treatm ent	DOM_ PC2	Road	DOM_ PC1	Treat: Site
	Slope Coefficient	-2.68	1.98	-1.49	-1.28	-0.34	-0.72	-0.29
Taxonomic Richness 2016	95% Confidence Interval	-6.51 to 1.16	-1.90 to 5.85	-5.09 to 2.10	-4.41 to 1.86	-4.72 to 4.04	-4.11 to 2.65	-4.93 to 4.34
	Relative Variable Importance	0.71	0.70	0.64	0.50	0.48	0.45	0.22
	Slope Coefficient	-0.71	2.39	-2.14	-1.92	0.14		1.07
Taxonomic Richness 2017	95% Confidence Interval	-3.43 to 2.00	0.39 to 4.39	-4.99 to 0.70	-3.91 to 0.07	-3.36 to 3.64		-1.36 to 3.49
	Relative Variable Importance	0.40	0.90	0.78	0.73	0.41		0.29

¹% EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; Treat:Site = interaction between Treatment and Site.

²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=-0.70) with flow (not included in full model); Dep and DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full model; % Organic and Site had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Organic removed from full model; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016, so DOM_PC1 removed from full model; Road and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2017, so Road removed from full model.

Overall, there was no evidence (0%) of spatially cumulative trends for invertebrate taxonomic richness in paired comparisons. There was no evidence (0%) of an effect of treatment and limited evidence (25%) of an effect of site in paired comparisons. Site was a positive predictor in linear models in 2017 only.

3.2.5.4. % Shredders

Average leaf pack % shredders in 2016 ranged from 1.6 to 26.2% across all sites (Appendix Table 25). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2016, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.15) (Figure 16). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment (p=0.02); average % shredders was higher for BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the upstream site only (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.04). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in the BAT_{HARV} catchment only (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0029); average % shredders was higher at the upstream site than the middle-reach and downstream sites (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0019, 0.0390, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2016, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.29) and no effect of site (p=0.13) on average % shredders. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment (p=0.016); average % shredders was higher in KER B_{HARV} at the upstream site only (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.049).

Average leaf pack % shredders in 2017 ranged from 2.8 to 21.3% across all sites (Appendix Table 26). Within both paired-catchment comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV})

and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.45 and p=0.20, respectively), and no effect of treatment (p=0.51 and p=0.49, respectively) or site (p=0.75 and p=0.18, respectively) for average % shredders (Figure 16).



Figure 16: Average (\pm SD, N=3) leaf pack % shredders (% of invertebrates with shredding feeding strategy) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average % shredders between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate a significant difference in average % shredders between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for leaf pack % shredders in 2016 indicated

positive effects of treatment, road density, and DOM_PC2, and negative effects of %

EVSA and site (Table 13). The effect of treatment was statistically significant, and this

variable also had the greatest explanatory power (highest relative variable importance and slope coefficient). The conditional R^2 was 0.70, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs. The average best-fitting model in 2017 indicated positive effects of road density, treatment, DOM_PC2, site, % organic of fine sediment, and DOM_PC1, and a negative effect of % EVSA. The effects of road density and DOM_PC2 were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R^2 was 0.54, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs.

Table 13: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for leaf pack % shredders in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables								
Response	Variable	Treat	Deed	DOM_	%	Site	DOM_	%		
_		ment	Koad	PC2	EVSA	Sile	PC1	Organic		
	Slope Coefficient	0.47	0.28	0.004	-0.002	-0.05				
% Shredders 2016	95% Confidence Interval	0.07 to 0.85	-0.21 to 0.77	-0.45 to 0.45	-0.45 to 0.45	-0.48 to 0.37				
	Relative Variable Importance	0.53	0.18	0.08	0.08	0.08				
	Slope Coefficient	0.29	0.43	0.28	-0.27	0.14	0.05	0.12		
% Shredders 2017	95% Confidence Interval	-0.13 to 0.71	0.13 to 0.73	0.0005 to 0.55	-0.58 to 0.05	-0.16 to 0.45	-0.39 to 0.50	-0.21 to 0.45		
	Relative Variable Importance	0.17	0.56	0.28	0.18	0.06	0.06	0.06		

¹Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha subcatchment); DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; % Organic = % organic of fine sediment. ²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full models); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full models); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=0.70) with flow (not included in full model); Dep and DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full models; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016, so DOM_PC1 removed from full model; Interaction between Treatment and Site, Road, and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2017, so Interaction and Dep removed from full model.

Overall, there was no evidence (0%) of spatially cumulative trends for invertebrate % shredder in paired comparisons. There was some evidence (50%) of an effect of treatment and limited evidence (25%) of an effect of site in paired comparisons. Treatment was a positive predictor in linear models in 2016 only.

3.2.5.5. % Chironomidae

Average leaf pack % Chironomidae in 2016 ranged from 30.0 to 63.9% across all sites (Appendix Table 25). Within both paired-catchment comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV} and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2016, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.09 and p=0.64, respectively) and no effect of treatment (p=0.42 and p=0.08, respectively) or site (p=0.70 and p=0.07, respectively) for average % Chironomidae (Figure 17).

Average % Chironomidae in 2017 ranged from 14.4 to 82.2% across all sites (Appendix Table 26). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.71) and no effect of treatment (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) or site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.21) for average % Chironomidae (Figure 17). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) in 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (p=0.11) and no effect of treatment (p=0.35). There was an effect of site (two-factor ANOVA, p<0.0001); average % Chironomidae was higher upstream than downstream in KER A_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons,



p=0.0140), and higher upstream and middle-reach than downstream for KER B_{HARV}



(*p*<0.0001, 0.0042, respectively).

The average best-fitting model for % Chironomidae in 2016 indicated positive effects of % EVSA and DOM_PC2 and negative effects of treatment, road density, and site (Table 14). The effect of treatment was statistically significant, and this variable also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficient). The conditional R^2 was 0.60, indicating a moderate proportion of total

variance was explained by the selected EVs. The average best-fitting model in 2017 indicated positive effects of % EVSA, DOM_PC1, and road density, and negative effects of treatment, site, % organic of fine sediment, and DOM_PC2. The effects of % EVSA and treatment were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.52, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs.

Table 14: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for leaf pack % Chironomidae in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c <$ 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

				Expla	natory Va	riables		
Response	Variable	Treat ment	% EVSA	Road	Site	DOM_ PC2	% Organic	DOM_ PC1
	Slope Coefficient	-0.50	0.22	-0.24	-0.17	0.08		
% Chironomidae 2016	95% Confidence Interval	-0.91 to -0.06	-0.08 to 0.50	-0.54 to 0.06	-0.47 to 0.13	-0.27 to 0.39		
	Relative Variable Importance	0.34	0.19	0.15	0.12	0.06		
% Chironomidae 2017	Slope Coefficient	-0.38	0.36	0.07	-0.30	-0.03	-0.26	0.21
	95% Confidence Interval	-0.70 to -0.05	0.07 to 0.66	-0.37 to 0.51	-0.64 to 0.04	-0.38 to 0.33	-0.57 to 0.06	-0.28 to 0.71
	Relative Variable Importance	0.43	0.45	0.07	0.22	0.05	0.17	0.10

¹Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; % Organic = % organic of fine sediment; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1. ²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full models); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full models); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=0.70) with Flow (not included in full model); Dep and DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Bec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full model; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016, so DOM_PC1 removed from full model; Interaction between

Treatment and Site, Road, and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so Interaction and Dep removed from full model.

Overall, there was no evidence (0%) of spatially cumulative trends for leaf pack % Chironomidae in paired comparisons. There was no evidence of an effect of treatment (0%) and limited evidence of an effect of site (25%) in paired comparisons. Treatment was a negative predictor in linear models in both 2016 and 2017.

3.2.6. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes

3.2.6.1. % Algae in Hydropsychid Diets

Average δ^2 H in Hydropsychids ranged from -170.2 to -95.9‰ across all sites in 2016 and 2017 (Appendix Figure 4 to Appendix Figure 7, Appendix Table 32 and Appendix Table 33). An example plot for δ^2 H values of Hydropsychids and all measured food sources is shown in Figure 18. See Appendix Figure 4 to Appendix Figure 7, Appendix Table 32 and Appendix Table 33 for raw data and plots of δ^2 H for Hydropsychids and all measured food sources for catchments and all sampling events.





 δ^2 H was not measured for the upstream site in PAN_{REF} in October 2016 due to insufficient sample mass, so average % algae in Hydropsychid diets for the PAN_{REF} vs.

BAT_{HARV} paired-catchment comparisons was not assessed for this year. Average % algae in Hydropsychid diets in October 2016 ranged from 4.1 to 28.2% across sites within the KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV} paired comparison (Appendix Table 32). Within this comparison, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.53) and no effect of treatment (p=0.21) for average % algae (Figure 19). There was an effect of site in KER A_{REF} only (p=0.04); average % algae was higher at the downstream than the middle-reach site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.04).

Average % algae in Hydropsychid diets in September 2017 ranged from -7.4 to 23.9% across all sites (Appendix Table 33). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) in September 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.24) (Figure 19); an effect of treatment and site individually could only be calculated for BAT_{HARV} due to limited replication in PAN_{REF}. For BAT_{HARV}, there was no effect of treatment (p=0.93) but there was an effect of site (p=0.0011); average % algae was higher at the middle-reach and downstream sites than the upstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0006). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) in September 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0002) for average % algae. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average % algae was higher at in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the middle-reach site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.027). Within treatments, there was an effect of site for KER B_{HARV} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.023); average % algae was higher at the middlereach site than the upstream and downstream sites (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.037, 0.001, respectively), and higher at the upstream site than the downstream site

(p=0.024). Similar treatment and spatial trends were noted for average % algae in Hydropsychid diets in August and October 2017 (Appendix Table 34).



Figure 19: Average (\pm SD, N=1-3) % algae in Hydropsychid diets (% organic matter in Hydropsychid diet with algal δ^2 H signature) at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, B) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in September 2017, and C) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment difference among average % algae between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate a significant difference in average % algae between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for % algae in Hydropsychid diets indicated positive effects of DOM_PC2, fine sediment deposition, and year, and negative effects of % EVSA, DOM_PC1, % deciduous tree species, treatment, site, flow, % organic of fine sediment, and month (Table 15). The effect of % EVSA only was statistically significant, and this variable also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative
variable importance and slope coefficient). The conditional R² was 0.48, indicating a

moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs.

Table 15: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for % algae in Hydropsychid diets, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

Response Variable		Explanatory Variables										
		% EVSA	DOM_ PC1	% Dec	Treat ment	Site	DOM_ PC2	Dep	Flow	% Organic	Month	Year
0/ A1gaa	Slope Coefficient	- 0.37	-0.21	-0.22	- 0.20	-0.002	0.10	0.03	-0.04	-0.02	-0.04	0.02
[%] Aigae in Hydrops ychid Diets	95% Confidence Interval	- 0.66 to - 0.08	-0.48 to 0.05	-0.57 to 0.13	- 0.50 to 0.09	-0.40 to 0.40	-0.15 to 0.34	-0.20 to 0.27	-0.20 to 0.13	-0.19 to 0.15	-0.17 to 0.08	-0.11 to 0.15
	Relative Variable Importance	0.47	0.17	0.14	0.13	0.07	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01

¹% EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; % Dec= % deciduous tree species; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Dep = fine, inorganic sediment deposition (g/day); Flow = stream velocity (m/s); % Organic = % organic of fine sediment; Month = month of sampling (1=August, 2=September, 3=October); Year = year of sampling.

²Site highly correlated (r=0.70) with catchment size (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep highly correlated (r=-0.74, -0.74) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); Road and Treat:Site Interaction had high VIFs (>4), so Road removed from full model.

Overall, there was some (57%) evidence of spatially cumulative trends for %

algae in paired comparisons (including data shown in Appendix Table 34). There was

also some evidence (57%) of an effect of treatment and site in paired comparisons.

Neither treatment nor site were significant predictors in linear models.

3.2.7. Mercury (*Hg*)

Only MeHg in filtered and unfiltered water and MeHg, Hg(II), and % MeHg in

Hydropsychids were modelled; other Hg endpoints did not have sufficient replication or

had too few or missing data among years and sampling events to be modeled.

3.2.7.1. Water

Average MeHg in filtered water in October 2016 ranged from 0.09 to 0.35 ng/L across all sites (Appendix Table 36). Within the first paired-catchment comparison $(PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV})$ for October 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0002) for average MeHg in filtered water (Figure 20). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in filtered water was higher in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the upstream site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.009). Within treatments, there was an effect of site for KER A_{REF} and KER B_{HARV} (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.027, 0.008, respectively); average MeHg in filtered water was higher downstream than upstream for PAN_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.027), and was higher upstream than at the middle-reach and downstream sites for BAT_{HARV} (p=0.008). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for October 2016, there was also an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.005) for average MeHg in filtered water. There was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in filtered water was higher in KER BHARV than KER AREF at the upstream site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.021). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in KER A_{REF} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.017); average MeHg in filtered water was higher at the middle-reach site than the upstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.014). Average MeHg in unfiltered water for October 2016 followed similar treatment and spatial trends (data are shown in Appendix Table 38).

Treatment and spatial trends for average MeHg in filtered water were similar in August, September, and October in 2017 and sometimes only had one collection per site, so the average of monthly values were used for the ANOVAs (see Appendix Table 37 for monthly concentrations). Average MeHg in filtered water in 2017 ranged from 0.06 to 0.28 ng/L across all sites (Appendix Table 37). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0024) for average MeHg in filtered water (Figure 20). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in filtered water was higher in PAN_{REF} than BAT_{HARV} at the downstream site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.0016). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in PAN_{REF} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0061); average MeHg in filtered water was higher at the downstream site than the upstream site (p=0.0050). Similarly, within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.018) for average MeHg in filtered water. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in filtered water was higher in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the upstream site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.030). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in KER B_{HARV} only (one-way ANOVA, p=0.025); average MeHg in filtered water was higher at the upstream site than the downstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.023). Average MeHg in unfiltered water for 2017 followed similar treatment and spatial trends (data are shown in Appendix Table 38).



Figure 20: Average (\pm SD, N = 3) concentration of methylmercury (MeHg, ng/L) in filtered (0.45 µm) water at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average MeHg in filtered water between the two paired catchments. The letters indicate significant difference among average MeHg in filtered water between site locations.

The average best-fitting model for MeHg in filtered water indicated positive effects of DOM_PC1, DOM_PC2, treatment, % organic content of fine sediment, site, and month of sampling, and negative effects of year, % EVSA, % deciduous tree species, and stream flow (Table 16). The effect of year, DOM_PC1, and % EVSA were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.64, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected

EVs. See Appendix Table 39 for the average model for MeHg in unfiltered water.

Table 16: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for MeHg in filtered stream water, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

Response Variable		Explanatory Variables										
		Year	DOM_ PC1	% EVSA	DOM_ PC2	% Dec	Treat ment	Flow	% Organic	Site	Month	
	Slope Coefficient	-0.24	0.30	-0.16	0.088	- 0.048	0.068	-0.059	0.024	0.01 2	0.026	
MeHg in Filtered Water	95% Confidence Interval	-0.32 to - 0.17	0.16 to 0.43	-0.29 to - 0.030	-0.051 to 0.23	-0.23 to 0.14	-0.084 to 0.22	-0.17 to 0.052	-0.091 to 0.14	- 0.09 9 to 0.12	-0.045 to 0.097	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.89	0.87	0.38	0.07	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.02	

¹Year = year of sampling; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; % Dec= % deciduous tree species; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Flow = stream velocity (m/s); % Organic = % organic content of fine sediment; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Month = month of sampling (1=August, 2=September, 3=October).

²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.75) with Road (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep highly correlated (*r*=-0.73, -0.73) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep had high VIFs (>4), so Dep removed from full model; % Dec and Catchment (as a fixed effect) had high VIFs (>4), so Catchment removed from full model.

Overall, there was strong evidence (100%) of spatially cumulative trends for

MeHg in filtered water in paired comparisons. There was also strong evidence (100%)

of an effect of treatment and site in paired comparisons. However, neither treatment nor

site were significant predictors in linear models.

3.2.7.2. Hydropsychids

3.2.7.2.1. MeHg & % MeHg

Average MeHg in Hydropsychids in October 2016 ranged from 29.7 to 136.1

 μ g/kg dw across all sites (Appendix Table 35). Within the first paired-catchment

comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for October 2016, there was an interaction between

treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p < 0.0001) for average MeHg in Hydropsychids (Figure 21). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the upstream site only (multiple t-tests, p < 0.0001). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0290, 0.0004, respectively); average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher at the middle-reach site than the upstream site for PAN_{REF}, and higher at the upstream and downstream sites than the middle-reach site for BAT_{HARV} (p=0.0240, 0.0004, 0.0019,respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for October 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (twofactor ANOVA, p < 0.0001) for average MeHg in Hydropsychids. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the upstream and middle-reach sites (multiple t-tests, p=0.0003, 0.0003,respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (one-way ANOVA, p = <0.0001, 0.0016, respectively); average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher at the downstream and middle-reach sites than the upstream site and higher at the downstream site than the middle-reach site in KER A_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0001, <0001, 0.0280, respectively), and higher at the middle-reach than the upstream and downstream sites in KER B_{HARV} (*p*=0.0086, 0.0015, respectively).

Treatment and spatial trends in average MeHg in Hydropsychids in 2017 were similar among sampling trips, so only results for September 2017 are shown for the ANOVAs below (see Appendix Table 37 for results for other dates). Average MeHg in Hydropsychids in September 2017 ranged from 58.2 to 192.2 μ g/kg dw across all sites (Appendix Table 37). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs.

 BAT_{HARV}) for September 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, *p*=0.0004) in average MeHg in Hydropsychids (Figure 21). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the upstream site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.0002). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in PAN_{REF} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0007); average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher at the middle-reach and downstream sites than the upstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0008, 0.0017, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV} for September 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0020) in average MeHg in Hydropsychids. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the middle-reach site and higher in KER A_{REF} than KER B_{HARV} at the downstream site (multiple t-tests, p=0.016, 0.032, respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in KER B_{HARV} only (one-factor ANOVA, p < 0.0001); average MeHg in Hydropsychids was higher at the upstream and middle-reach sites than the downstream site, and higher at the middle-reach site than the downstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0001, 0.0200, <0.0001, respectively). Trends in % MeHg were similar to MeHg concentration (data are shown in Appendix Table 38).



Figure 21: Average (\pm SD, N=3) concentration of methylmercury (MeHg, μ g/kg dw) in Hydropsychids for October 2016 at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average MeHg in Hydropsychids between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate a significant difference in average MeHg in Hydropsychids between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for MeHg in Hydropsychids indicated positive effects of treatment, MeHg in filtered water, month, year, DOM_PC1, MeHg in seston, and fine sediment deposition, and negative effects of % EVSA, DOM_PC2, site, % organic of fine sediment, interaction between treatment and year, and interaction between treatment and site (Table 17). The effects of MeHg in filtered water, year, % EVSA, treatment, and month were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope

coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.80, indicating a high proportion of total variance

was explained by the selected EVs. See Appendix Table 40 for the average model for %

MeHg in Hydropsychids.

Table 17: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for MeHg in Hydropsychids, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

Response Variable			Explanatory Variables											
		MeHg F Water	Year	% EVSA	Treat ment	Mo nth	Site	DOM_ PC1	MeHg Seston	DOM_ PC2	Dep	% Organic	Treat: Year	Treat: Site
	Slope Coefficie nt	0.55	0.87	-0.98	0.80	0.31	-0.05	0.25	0.10	-0.21	0.08 1	-0.14	-0.13	-0.17
MeHg in Hydropsy chids (µg/kg dw)	95% Confiden ce Interval Relative	0.23 to 0.87	0.59 to 1.16	-1.74 to -0.22	0.09 to 1.52	0.08 to 0.54	-0.99 to 0.89	-0.56 to 1.05	-0.75 to 0.95	-0.98 to 0.56	0.48 to 0.64	-0.54 to 0.26	-0.36 to 0.10	-1.00 to 0.67
	Variable Importan	0.63	0.63	0.58	0.51	0.50	0.15	0.12	0.12	0.12	0.06	0.05	0.04	0.02

¹MeHg F water = concentration of MeHg (ng/L) in filtered water; Year = year of sampling; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Month = month of sampling (1=August, 2=September, 3=October); Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; MeHg Seston = concentration of MeHg (μ g/kg dw) in seston; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Dep = deposition of fine, inorganic sediment (g/day); % Organic = % organic of fine sediment; Treat:Year = interaction between Treatment and Year; Treat:Site = interaction between Treatment and Site.

²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.85) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.73) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep highly correlated (*r*=0.75, -0.74) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); MeHg in filtered water highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with MeHg in unfiltered water; % Dec and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full models; Road and Treat:Site had high VIFs (>4), so Road removed from full models.

Overall, there was strong evidence (100%) of spatially cumulative trends for

MeHg in Hydropsychids in paired comparisons (including data in Appendix Table 37).

There was also strong evidence (100%) of an effect of treatment and site in paired

comparisons. Treatment was a positive predictor in linear models.

3.2.7.2.2. Hg(II)

```
Average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids in October 2016 ranged from 31.4 to 157.2
```

 μ g/kg dw across all sites (Appendix Table 35). Within the first paired-catchment

comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for October 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0007) for average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids (Figure 22). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids was higher in BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the middle-reach and downstream sites (multiple t-tests, p=0.024, 0.024, respectively). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in BAT_{HARV} only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0002); average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids was higher in the middle-reach and downstream sites than the upstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0003, 0.0004, respectively). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for October 2016, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p < 0.0001) for average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids was higher in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the upstream site (multiple t-tests, p=0.0045). Within treatments, there was an effect of site in both KER A_{REF} and KER B_{HARV} (one-way ANOVA, p=0.0002, 0.0180, respectively); average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids was higher at the middle-reach and downstream sites than the upstream site in KER A_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0002, 0.0008,respectively), and higher at the middle-reach site than the downstream site in KER B_{HARV} (*p*=0.0170).

Treatment and spatial trends in average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids in 2017 were similar among sampling trips, so only results for September 2017 are shown for the ANOVAs below (see Appendix Table 37 for results for other dates). Average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids in September 2017 ranged from 38.7 to 213.6 μ g/kg across all sites (Appendix Table 37). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs.

BAT_{HARV}), there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.46) and no effect of treatment (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) for average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids (Figure 22). Within treatments, there was an effect of site (two-factor ANOVA, p<0.0001); average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids was higher at the middle-reach and downstream sites than the upstream site in both PAN_{REF} (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0016, 0.0075, respectively) and BAT_{HARV}-(p=0.0001, 0.0006, respectively). Within the second-paired comparison (KER_{REF} vs. KER_{BAT}), there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.32) and no effect of treatment (p=0.96) or site (p=0.09) for average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids.



Figure 22: Average (\pm SD, N=3) concentration of divalent mercury (Hg(II), μ g/kg dw) in Hydropsychids at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in 2016, B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in 2016, C) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT in September

2017, and D) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B in September 2017. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate significant difference in average Hg(II) in Hydropsychids between site locations within treatments.

The average best-fitting model for Hg(II) in Hydropsychids indicated positive effects of year, MeHg in filtered water, DOM_PC2, Hg(II) in seston, MeHg in seston, and site, and negative effects of % EVSA, treatment, DOM_PC1, month, fine sediment deposition, and % organic of fine sediment (Table 18). The effects of year, % EVSA, treatment, and MeHg in filtered water were statistically significant, and these variables also had the greatest explanatory power (greatest relative variable importance and slope coefficients). The conditional R² was 0.74, indicating a moderate proportion of total variance was explained by the selected EVs.

Table 18: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in average model for Hg(II) in Hydropsychids, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

Response Variable			Explanatory Variables											
		Year	% EVSA	Treat ment	MeHg F Water	DOM_ PC2	Site	DOM_ PC1	Hg(II) Seston	MeHg Seston	Dep	Month	% Organic	
Hg(II) in Hydrops ychids (µg/kg dw)	Slope Coefficient	0.15	-0.31	-0.15	0.08	0.10	0.08	-0.04	0.06	0.06	-0.04	-0.04	-0.02	
	95% Confidence Interval	0.09 to 0.21	-0.47 to - 0.15	-0.29 to - 0.01	0.004 to 0.15	-0.074 to 0.28	-0.16 to 0.31	-0.20 to 0.12	-0.11 to 0.24	-0.12 to 0.24	-0.16 to 0.08	-0.10 to 0.01	-0.12 to 0.07	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.73	0.66	0.16	0.10	0.06	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	

¹Year = year of sampling; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; MeHg F water = concentration of MeHg (ng/L) in filtered water; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1); DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; Hg(II) Seston = concentration of Hg(II) (μ g/kg dw) in seston; MeHg Seston = concentration of MeHg (μ g/kg dw) in seston; Dep = Deposition of fine, inorganic sediment (g/day); Month = month of sampling (1=August, 2=September, 3=October); % Organic = % organic of fine sediment. ²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.85) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.73) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with MeHg in unfiltered water; % Dec and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model; Road and Treat:Site had high VIFs (>4), so Road removed from full model. Overall, there was limited evidence (29%) of spatially cumulative trends for Hg(II) in Hydropsychids in harvested catchments, as indicated by an interaction between treatment and site for two of seven paired comparisons (including data in Appendix Table 37). There was also limited evidence of an effect of treatment (29%) and some evidence of an effect of site (71%) in paired comparisons. Treatment was a negative predictor in linear models.

3.2.7.3. Seston

Hg in seston was measured only in 2017. Due to missing data for many sites throughout the three sampling trips in 2017, values for Hg in seston were averaged/compiled for all trips in 2017 in the ANOVAs below (see Appendix Table 37 for results for individual sampling events).

3.2.7.3.1. MeHg, % MeHg, & Hg(II)

Average MeHg concentration in seston in 2017 ranged from 2.3 to 13.9 μ g/kg across all sites (Appendix Table 37). Within both paired-catchment comparisons (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV} and KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, *p*=0.29 and *p*=0.82, respectively) and no effect of treatment (*p*=0.51 and *p*=0.34, respectively) or site (*p*=0.24 and *p*=0.80, respectively) for average MeHg in seston (Figure 23). Trends in % MeHg and Hg(II) in seston were similar to those for MeHg concentration (data are shown in Appendix Table 38). Overall, there was no evidence (0%) of spatially cumulative trends for MeHg in seston. There was also no evidence (0%) of an effect of treatment or site in paired comparisons.



Figure 23: Average (\pm SD, N=1-3) concentration of methylmercury (MeHg, μ g/kg dw) in seston in 2017 at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B.

3.2.7.4. Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF) & Biomagnification Factor (BMF) for Hydropsychids

Due to sample compositing, only single BAF values were calculated for MeHg in Hydropsychids for each site in 2016 (i.e., not an average) and this precluded conducting ANOVAs. Hence, ANOVAs were only conducted on BAFs in 2017 (see Appendix Table 37 for 2016 BAFs). Treatment and spatial trends in BAF in 2017 were similar among sampling trips, so monthly values were averaged for the ANOVAs described below (see Appendix Table 37 for results for individual months).

Average MeHg BAFs in 2017 ranged from 538 324 to 1 727 663 across all sites (Appendix Table 37). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was no interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p>0.99) and no effect of site (p=0.99) for average BAF (Figure 24). Within sites, there was an effect of treatment (p=0.047); average BAF was higher for BAT_{HARV} than PAN_{REF} at the downstream site (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.047). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there

was no interaction between treatment and site (p=0.14) and no effect of site within treatment (p=0.96) for average BAF. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment (p=0.035): average BAF was higher in KER A_{REF} than KER B_{HARV} at the upstream site only (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.026). Overall, there was no evidence (0%) of spatially cumulative trends for MeHg BAFs in paired comparisons. There was strong evidence (100%) of an effect of treatment and no evidence (0%) of an effect of site in paired comparisons.



Figure 24: Average (±SD, N=3) bioaccumulation factor (BAF) for MeHg in Hydropsychids for 2017 at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B). The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average BAF for MeHg in Hydropsychids between the two paired catchments within a site.

BMFs for MeHg in Hydropsychids were not calculated in 2016 as there was no data for MeHg in seston. Treatment and spatial trends in BMFs in 2017 were similar among sampling trips, so monthly values were averaged for the ANOVAs described below (see Appendix Table 37 for results for other dates). BMFs for MeHg in 2017 ranged from 7.3 to 58.5 across all sites (Appendix Table 37). Within the first paired-catchment comparison (PAN_{REF} vs. BAT_{HARV}) for 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0098) for average BMF (Figure 25). There was no effect of treatment (multiple t-tests, p>0.05), but there was an effect

of site for PAN_{REF} (one-way ANOVA, p=0.032); average BMF was higher at the middle-reach site than the downstream site (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.037). Within the second paired-catchment comparison (KER A_{REF} vs. KER B_{HARV}) for 2017, there was an interaction between treatment and site (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.033) for average BMF. Within sites, there was an effect of treatment; average BMF was higher in KER B_{HARV} than KER A_{REF} at the middle-reach site only (multiple t-tests, p=0.037). Within treatments, there was an effect of site for KER A_{REF} only (one-way ANOVA, p=0.0002); average BMF was higher at the downstream site than the upstream and middle-reach sites (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0007, 0.0003, respectively). Overall, there was strong evidence (100%) of spatially cumulative trends for MeHg BMFs in paired comparisons. There was some evidence (50%) of an effect of treatment and strong evidence (100%) of an effect of site in paired comparisons.



Figure 25: Average (± SD, N=3) biomagnification factor (BMF) for MeHg in Hydropsychids in 2017 at upstream, middle-reach, and downstream sites in A) the reference catchment PAN compared to the harvested catchment BAT, and B) the reference catchment KER A compared to the harvested catchment KER B). The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference in average BMF for MeHg in Hydropsychids between the two paired catchments within a site. The letters indicate a significant difference in average BMF for MeHg in Hydropsychids between site locations within treatments.

3.2.8. Summary

The table below summarizes the strength of evidence for an interaction between

treatment and site, an effect of treatment, and an effect of site, as well as the statistically

significant EVs in average best-fitting linear mixed effects models, for all RVs

presented above and those included in the Appendix.

Table 19: Summary table of the presence of an interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site identified in ANOVA analyses, and statistically significant explanatory variables (EVs) identified in the average best-fitting model, for all response variables (RVs) examined in this section, as well as those included in the Appendix (indicated by an *). Strength of evidence (i.e., based on proportion of paired comparisons with interaction or effect present compared to absent) and/or direction of effect are indicated in brackets, where R = reference catchment, H = harvested catchment, U = upstream, M = middle-reach, and D = downstream.

Indicator	RV	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?	Significant EVs
	Conductivity	Yes (Some)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	Yes (Strong; D>M+U)	Treatment (+) Site (+)
Water Chemistry	Total Nitrogen	Yes (Some)	Yes (Some; H>R)	Yes (Some; Treatment (+) U>M+D)	
	Specific UV Absorbance at 254 nm	No	No	No	Year (-) Road density (+) Interaction Treatment & Site (-)
DOM Quality	*Fluorescence Index	No	No	No	N/A
	*Freshness Index	No	Yes (Some; R>H)	Yes (Some; U>M)	Year (-) Fine sediment (+)

	Fine, Inorganic Deposition Per Day	Yes (Limited)	Yes (Some; R>H)	Yes (Strong; D> M+U)	Year (-) Site (+) % EVSA (+)
S. Parat	*Coarse, Inorganic Deposition Per Day	Yes (Limited)	Yes (Limited; R>H)	Yes (Strong D>M+U)	Year (-) Site (+)
Sediment Deposition	% Organic Content of Fine Sediment	Yes (Some)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	Yes (Strong; U>M+D)	Site (-) Year (+)
	*% Organic Content of Coarse Sediment	Yes (Strong)	Yes (Some; Variable)	Yes (Strong; U>M+D)	Site (-) Year (+)
Leaf Litter	% Leaf Mass Lost Per Degree Day	Yes (Limited)	No	Yes (Limited; U>M)	Year (+) % Shredders (+) Treatment (+)
	*Leaf Litter Breakdown Rate	Yes (Limited)	No	Yes (Limited; U>M)	Year (+) Treatment (+)
	Abundance	No	No	Yes (Limited; M+D>U)	2016: None 2017: None
	Taxonomic Richness	No	No	Yes (Limited; M+D>U)	2016: None 2017: Site (+)
	% Shredders	No	Yes (Some; H>R)	Yes (Limited; U>M+D)	2016: Treatment (+) 2017: Road density (+), DOM_PC2 (+)
Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates	% Chironomidae	No	No	Yes (Limited; U>D)	2016: Treatment (-) 2017: Treatment (-), % EVSA (+)
	*% EPT	No	No	No	2016: None 2017: Treatment (+)
	*Margalef's Richness	No	Yes (Limited; H>R)	Yes (Limited; M+D>U)	2016: % EVSA (+) 2017: % Organic (+)
	*Shannon's Diversity Index	Yes (Limited)	No	Yes (Some; Variable)	2016: % EVSA (-), Site (+) 2017: % EVSA (-), Site (+)

Hydrogen Stable Isotopes	% Algae in Hydropsychid Diets	Yes (Some)	Yes (Some; H>R)	Yes (Some; Variable)	% EVSA (-)
	MeHg in Filtered Water	Yes (Strong)	Yes (Strong; H>R)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	Year (-) DOM_PC1 (+) % EVSA (-)
	*MeHg in Unfiltered Water	Yes (Strong)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	Year (-) DOM_PC1 (+)
	MeHg in Hydropsychids	Yes (Strong)	Yes (Strong; H>R)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	MeHg in filtered water (+) Year (+) % EVSA (-) Treatment (+) Month (+)
	MeHg in Seston	No	No	No	N/A
	Hg(II) in Hydropsychids	Yes (Limited)	Yes (Limited; H>R)	Yes (Some; M+D>U)	Year (+) % EVSA (-) Treatment (-) MeHg in filtered water (+)
Mercury	*Hg(II) in Seston	No	No	No	N/A
	*% MeHg in Hydropsychids	N/A	No	No	Year (-) Interaction Treatment & Year (-) % EVSA (+) % Organic (-)
	*% MeHg in Seston	N/A	No	No	N/A
	*THg in Sediment	Yes (Some)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	Yes (Some; M>U>D)	N/A
	MeHg BAF for Hydropsychids	No	Yes (Strong; Variable)	No	N/A
	MeHg BMF for Hydropsychids	Yes (Strong)	Yes (Some; H>R)	Yes (Strong; Variable)	N/A

4. Discussion

4.1. Indicators of Spatially Cumulative Impacts

4.1.1. Water Chemistry

Conductivity is a surrogate for total ions in stream water. There was some evidence of spatially cumulative trends for conductivity in the paired comparisons, indicating that spatial trends in conductivity may not have followed the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 6). Generally, one would expect conductivity to increase downstream as it typically increases with stream volume (Robson et al. 1992). This was observed in my study in both reference catchments and one harvested catchment, and supported by the fact that site location was a positive predictor of conductivity in linear models (Table 5). Harvesting increased conductivity (considered an adverse treatment response due to its impacts on organism physiology and osmolarity) at an upstream site in one paired comparison (some evidence), but there was no evidence of an adverse treatment effect at downstream sites, indicating that BMPs were potentially effective at broader spatial scales. Other researchers have also noted increases in conductivity post-harvest. For example, stream water conductivity increased for two to eight years following clear-cutting and clearing of riparian forest in studies by Feller and Kimmins (1984) and Richardson and Béraud (2014), respectively. Higher conductivity may be caused by run-off from logging roads and skid trails carrying dissolved materials and ions to streams, or increased nutrient and ion supply from leaching of logging residues (Trombulak and Frissell 2000; Kreutzweiser et al. 2008b; Emilson et al. 2017). Higher conductivity after harvesting may also be related to the regeneration of forests after tree removal as younger trees and sparse or non-

vegetated patches are less efficient at intercepting precipitation; the result is greater infiltration to deeper soils where conductivity is higher, with this highly conductive water being subsequently delivered to the stream (Chang 2003; Gordon et al. 2004; Musetta-Lambert et al. 2017).

Nitrogen is a critical forest nutrient as it is a major component of protein, urea, and chlorophyll, and is essential for all organisms to grow, reproduce, and survive. There was some evidence of spatially cumulative trends for TN in the paired comparisons, indicating that spatial trends in TN may not have been following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 7). Nitrogen cycles while it is carried downstream; its denitrification rate (i.e., the rate of anaerobic microbiallymediated reduction of nitrate to nitrogen gas, which is lost to the atmosphere) increases downstream due to higher ambient nitrate concentrations, suggesting that TN concentrations are not expected to increase downstream (Kellman and Hillaire-Marcel 1998). This is consistent within most catchments in my study, as well as the fact that site was not a significant predictor of TN in linear models (Table 6). Harvesting increased TN (considered an adverse treatment response due to stimulation of primary productivity that can cause cascading increases in biomass at higher trophic levels) at an upstream and a middle-reach site in one paired comparison (some evidence), but there was no evidence of an adverse treatment effect at the furthest downstream sites, indicating that BMPs were likely effective at broader spatial scales. Harvesting-induced impacts on TN in headwaters is in agreement with other studies that noted higher TN and nitrate (up to an order of magnitude) in clear-cut forests (Dahlgren and Driscoll 1994; Danehy et al. 2007). Greater export of nitrogen to streams with harvested

catchments can be caused by associated alterations in soil temperature, moisture, organic matter content, and uptake of nutrients, because the resulting warm, aerated soil conditions can increase microbial metabolism and therefore enhance mineralization and nitrification (Kreutzweiser et al. 2008b; Webster et al. 2015).

Overall, the observed RVs for stream water chemistry were impacted by (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs (some evidence) and (b) spatial position of the sample site (some or strong evidence) (Objective 1), and there was some evidence of spatially cumulative trends in harvested catchments for both conductivity and TN (Objective 2; H_0 #1 rejected). While the lack of an adverse treatment effect at downstream sites in harvested catchments indicates that BMPs were effective at preventing impacts from forest management at broader spatial scales, the presence of an effect at the upstream and middle-reach sites indicates that these guidelines did not prevent water chemistry changes at the local or reach-level (Objective 3; H_0 #2 not rejected).

4.1.2. DOM Quality

Highly aromatic DOM (i.e., indicated by higher SUVA values) may be of lower quality/less available for microbial decomposition, which can decrease overall stream metabolism and influence in-stream nutrient cycling (Weishaar et al. 2003). There was no evidence of spatially cumulative trends for SUVA in paired catchment comparisons, indicating that spatial trends in SUVA were following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 9). However, a negative interaction between treatment and site was a significant predictor in linear models, which may alternatively suggest evidence of spatially cumulative trends for this indicator (Table 19). There was no

difference in SUVA among site locations in either treatment, but this is contrary to what may be expected in stream systems, as high molecular weight, recalcitrant DOM is typically exported downstream and lower molecular weight, labile DOM is preferentially taken up at the headwaters (Aiken 2014). Moreover, higher SUVA values in downstream lotic waters compared to lakes have been reported, a result of surrounding peatlands and/or increased photodegradation in open waters which lowers SUVA values (Cory et al. 2007; Lescord et al. 2018). The lack of impact of harvesting at all sites is consistent with the literature (e.g., Skyllberg et al. 2009; De Wit et al. 2014; Glaz et al. 2015; Eckley et al. 2018). In addition, road density was a positive predictor of SUVA in linear models, which may be the result of altered hydrologic connectivity of the sub-catchment enhancing the delivery of terrestrially-derived DOM (i.e., DOM that is more humic, aromatic, and complex) to my study streams (McKnight et al. 2001; Roiha et al. 2012; Erdozain et al. 2018). Year was a negative predictor of SUVA, which may be related to substantially greater precipitation and run-off in September of 2016 than in 2017 (Appendix Table 5).

Overall, SUVA (an RV of DOM quality) did not appear to be affected by (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs or (b) spatial position of sample site (Objective 1), and there was evidence from linear models only of spatially cumulative trends for SUVA in harvested catchments (Objective 2; H_0 #1 possibly rejected). However, there was no evidence of an adverse treatment effect on DOM quality at any spatial location, indicating that BMPs were likely effective at preventing impacts from forest management at broader spatial scales (Objective 3; H_0 #2 not rejected).

4.1.3. Sediment Deposition

Increased deposition of fine, inorganic sediments in streams of harvested catchments is commonly associated with heavy logging road construction and use (e.g., Kreutzweiser et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2013). There was limited evidence of spatially cumulative trends for fine, inorganic sediment deposition, indicating that this response variable was likely following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 10). Generally, downstream areas are expected have higher deposition as they receive sediment inputs from both adjacent overland run-off and their headwaters (Vannote et al. 1980). Higher deposition downstream was noted in most reference catchments and some harvested catchments in the paired comparisons, and site was a positive predictor in linear models (Table 8). In my study, harvesting increased fine, inorganic sediment deposition (an adverse treatment effect due to the tendency of fine, inorganic sediments to cause scouring, clogging, and increase water turbidity) at the downstream site in one paired comparison, providing limited evidence that BMPs were not effective at broader spatial scales. However, road density was not a significant predictor of fine, inorganic sediment deposition in linear models, possibly because there was no actual construction of logging roads during the time of sampling (personal observation), as well as due to the presence of riparian buffers, which reduce soil movement and run-off velocity (Cooper et al. 1987; Lakel III et al. 2006), and other sediment abatement practices. There was a positive association with % EVSA in linear models, which is likely due to greater hydrologic connectivity, and therefore sediment transport, in areas with a higher proportion of EVSAs. This may have been exacerbated by tertiary roads and/or skid trails crossing EVSAs, although I did not measure the

degree of equipment intrusions into EVSAs. A negative effect of year was also noted, and may be related to higher degree of run-off transporting inorganic particles in September 2016 than in 2017 (Appendix Table 5).

The organic content of fine sediment transported to forest streams is a function of the structural characteristics of the stream channel, the physical properties of terrestrial organic matter, and the hydrology of the catchment and stream (Richardson et al. 2009). There was some evidence of spatially cumulative trends for organic content of fine sediment in the paired comparisons, indicating that this indicator was not following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 11). Generally, organic content of sediment is higher in headwater streams due to higher terrestrial inputs from surrounding vegetation that are lost by breakdown or consumption downstream, and more storage by woody debris (i.e., in pools, backwaters, and debris jams) in the headwaters as wood loading decreases with channel size (Bilby and Likens 1980). This trend was generally consistent with reference catchments in my paired comparisons, as well as in linear models, where site was a negative predictor (Table 9). In the current study, harvesting increased and decreased organic content of fine sediment (both of which can be considered an adverse treatment impact due to changing the provision of organic carbon at the base of the food web) at headwater (some evidence), middle-reach (some evidence), and downstream (limited evidence) sites, indicating that BMPs were not completely effective at preventing adverse treatment impacts at multiple spatial scales. Other studies have similarly noted logging activities increasing and decreasing the transport of organic particulate matter in forest streams. Organic content of sediment may increase due to the fresh sources of terrestrial detritus from logging residues and

higher delivery in run-off, or it may decrease as vegetation removal limits the contribution of woody debris to trap and store organic matter in streams (Palviainen et al. 2004; Hassan et al. 2005). However, in my study area, neither of these mechanisms were likely to occur because the riparian buffers prevented harvesting within at least 30 m of stream edges. As discussed previously for DOM quality and inorganic sediment deposition, the positive effect of year in linear models may be related to lower precipitation or run-off in 2017, resulting in more retention of organic matter and higher % organic content at headwater sites (Appendix Table 5).

Among the RVs observed for sediment deposition, both daily inorganic deposition and organic content of fine sediment were affected by (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs (limited or some evidence) and (b) spatial position of the sample site (strong evidence) (Objective 1). There was limited or some evidence of spatially cumulative trends for fine, inorganic deposition and % organic content of sediment in harvested catchments, respectively (Objective 2; H₀#1 possibly rejected). There was limited evidence for an adverse treatment effect downstream for both sediment deposition RVs, indicating limited evidence that BMPs were not effective at broader spatial scales (Objective 3; H₀#2 possibly rejected). There was also some evidence for an adverse treatment impact at upstream and middle-reach sites for % organic content of fine sediment, further indicating that BMPs may not have been effective at local spatial scales as well.

4.1.4. Leaf Litter Decomposition

Leaf litter is a critical source of particulate and dissolved organic matter to forest streams, but its importance generally decreases downstream where land and water are

less tightly coupled and less shading facilitates larger contributions of autotrophic production to the food web (Hynes 1970; Vannote et al. 1980). There was limited evidence of spatially cumulative trends for % leaf mass lost, indicating this indicator was likely following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 12). One might expect lower leaf decomposition at downstream sites as there is a general shift from shredder-dominated macroinvertebrate communities to collector- and scraperdominated communities (Vannote et al. 1980). However, this trend was not noted in reference or harvested paired comparisons in my study, perhaps because the gradient of stream size was not sufficiently large to observe changes in the functional feeding groups of macroinvertebrates. There was also no evidence of an effect of harvesting at any site, indicating that BMPs were effective at all spatial scales. Both decreases (e.g., Pozo et al. 1998; Lecerf and Richardson 2010) and increases (e.g., Benfield et al. 2001; McKie and Malmqvist 2009) in leaf decomposition have been observed in other studies of streams with managed catchments. The lack of response at my sites may be due to the relatively low intensity of selection-based harvesting compared to clear-cutting and/or the maintenance of riparian buffers. Treatment was, however, a positive predictor in the average best-fitting models for both RVs (Table 10), which could be a result of increased microbial decomposition stimulated by higher TN at some harvested sites (see above) and/or the increased activity of shredding macroinvertebrates (supported by % shredders as a positive predictor in the linear model and by higher % shredders at some harvested sites, see below). There was also a positive effect of year in linear models; yearly variation in leaf decomposition in boreal forest streams was also noted by Kreutzweiser et al. (2010).

Overall, there was (a) evidence from linear models only that % leaf mass lost (indicator of leaf decomposition) was affected by selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs, and (b) limited evidence from paired comparisons of an effect of spatial position of the sample site (Objective 1). There was also limited evidence for spatially cumulative trends in harvested catchments (Objective 2; H_0 #1 not rejected). The lack of an adverse treatment impact at the downstream sites indicates that BMPs were likely effective at preventing negative impacts of forest management at all spatial scales (Objective 3; H_0 #2 not rejected).

4.1.5. Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates

Leaf litter macroinvertebrate communities were similar among years but did not ordinate based on treatment or site (Figure 13), suggesting that other catchment or reach factors were likely driving macroinvertebrate community assemblages in my study area. For example, in comparing macroinvertebrate NMDS plots to PCAs for water chemistry (Figure 5) and DOM quality (Figure 8), some similarities can be noted. The BAT 3 and PAN 3 sites are highly isolated in both the NMDS plots and in the PCA for water chemistry, suggesting that water chemistry may be influencing the unique community structures at these sites. In addition, the KER B_{HARV} sites clustered together on the NMDS plots and the PCA for DOM quality, suggesting that DOM quality attributes may be influencing their similar community structures. Catchment topography, surficial geology, channel substrate, riparian vegetation, stream morphology, and hydrology are also important determinants of stream macroinvertebrate community structure (e.g., Richards et al. 1996, 1997; Sandin and Johnson 2004; Petkovska and Urbanič 2015). However, the sites in my study had similar catchment characteristics; variability in

invertebrate communities may therefore have been more related to reach and patch level differences, such as local water chemistry, DOM quality, proportion of organic matter availability, and others.

The abundance and taxonomic richness of leaf litter macroinvertebrates are commonly used to observe the impacts of land use on biotic assemblages (e.g., Davis et al. 2001). There was limited evidence of spatially cumulative trends for abundance and taxonomic richness, indicating that these indicators were following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 14 & Figure 15). Abundance and taxonomic richness of invertebrates in stream networks is dependent on many factors, including the export of invertebrates and organic matter from headwater streams (Richards et al. 1996; Wipfli et al. 2007). There was limited evidence for an effect of site in my study for both metrics, but site was a positive predictor of richness in linear models for 2017 (Table 12). There was no evidence of an effect of treatment on either metric, as in Erdozain (2018), indicating that BMPs were effective at preventing adverse treatment effects at broader spatial scale. The lack of treatment impact contrasts with, for example, Erman et al. (1977) and Newbold et al. (1980), who observed increases in abundance and diversity, and Lemly (1982) and Lenat (1979) who observed decreases in abundance and richness. The reported impacts of harvesting on invertebrate abundance and impact in these earlier studies almost certainly reflect the fact that forestry BMPs were less developed and applied in those studies than under current forestry operations.

Shredding invertebrates (e.g., *Leuctra*, *Lepidostoma*) are particularly abundant in many forested headwater streams, and are responsible for breaking down coarse, particulate organic matter (namely leaves) into finer particles that are transported

downstream, where they act as an important food source for filter-collector and detritivorous invertebrates (e.g., *Baetis*) (Vannote et al. 1980). There was limited evidence of spatially cumulative trends for leaf pack % shredders, indicating that this indicator followed the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 16). According to the River Continuum Concept, shredder abundance is expected to be highest in the headwaters (where leaves from overhanging canopy are more abundant) and decrease at downstream reaches (Vannote et al. 1980). This trend was true for only one catchment in my study, so therefore there was limited evidence for an effect of site on % shredders (Figure 16). As noted previously for leaf decomposition, the gradient in stream size used in my study may have been too small observe measurable changes in functional feeding groups, particularly within the KER A and B catchments where average difference in stream width between upstream and downstream sites was 1.2 m (Table 4). Distribution of shredders may also be influenced by other factors, such as hydrology and topography. There was, however, some evidence for an effect of treatment in my study; higher % shredders (considered an adverse treatment impact due to changing the provision of coarse organic matter downstream) at two upstream sites indicated that BMPs were not protective at the headwater scale. Treatment was also a positive predictor of % shredders in linear models (Table 13). This is consistent with the findings of Jackson et al. (2007), Medhurst et al. (2010), and Kreutzweiser et al. (2010), and is a likely result of increased terrestrial detritus delivered to the stream post-harvest. Although harvesting was excluded from within 30 m of streams, organic particles from upland site disturbance and tree removal may have been delivered to streams at or near stream crossings and/or from overland flow under higher run-off events such as

snowmelt. Shredders have also been noted to decline in harvested catchments (e.g., Kreutzweiser et al. 2008a; Klimesh et al. 2015), possibly because nutrient fluxes alter the microbial communities colonizing the leaf litter and thereby reduce leaf palatability to the shredders, or due to decreased input of particulate organic matter following vegetation removal (Pozo et al. 1998; Klimesh et al. 2015). In my study, there was also evidence for a positive association with road density (which is positively correlated with DOM_PC1) and fine sediment deposition in linear models, which supports the notion that increased shredder presence is related to higher inputs of terrestrial organic matter.

Chironomidae are known to be a disturbance-tolerant taxon due to their short generation times, rapid colonization rates, generalist feeding strategy, and ability to use fine, particulate organic matter as a habitat and food source (Hynes 1970; Vannote et al. 1980; Reid et al. 2010). There was no evidence of spatially cumulative trends for leaf pack % Chironomidae, indicating that this indicator followed the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 17). Chironomids are generalist feeders that tend to be distributed along entire stream corridors (Vannote et al. 1980). This was also true in my study, as there was limited evidence of an effect of site on % Chironomidae. There was also no evidence of an effect of treatment on % Chironomidae at any site, indicating that BMPs were likely effective at local and broader spatial scales. However, treatment was a negative predictor of % Chironomidae in linear models (Table 14). This result is contrary to what would be expected, as Chironomids are often more abundant in disturbed streams due to their ability to tolerate environmental stressors such as low oxygen levels and increased fine sediment deposition (Walshe 1947; Noel et al. 1986; Reid et al. 2010). There was a positive effect of % EVSA in linear models for 2017,

which may have influenced % Chironomidae through the delivery of fine sediment for use as a habitat or food source (Campbell and Doeg 1989). The % of deciduous tree species (correlated with % EVSA) may also have had a positive effect, but this contrasts with Noel et al. (1986) who suggest that reduced canopy cover (i.e., unlike that of a highly deciduous forest) is related to greater density of Chironomids due to higher light intensity and water temperature.

Overall, there was evidence indicating an effect of selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs on macroinvertebrate % shredders (some evidence) and % Chironomidae (linear models only), but no evidence for effects on abundance and taxonomic richness (Objective 1). There was evidence of an effect of spatial position of the sample sites on abundance and richness (limited evidence plus linear models), % shredders (some evidence), and % Chironomidae (linear models only) (Objective 1). However, there was no evidence of spatially cumulative trends for leaf pack macroinvertebrate communities in harvested catchments for any of the discussed metrics (Objective 2; H_0 #1 not rejected). Overall, there was some evidence of an adverse impact of harvesting on % shredders at the upstream site (i.e., indicating BMPs were perhaps not effective at this spatial scale), but no effect of treatment at downstream sites for all discussed metrics (Objective 3; H_0 #2 not rejected).

4.1.6. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes

The % algae in Hydropsychid diets (i.e., as determined by hydrogen stable isotope values) has important implications for growth and survival because algae is a higher quality food source and results in more efficient energy transfer to higher trophic levels than does terrestrial organic matter (Brett et al. 2009, 2017; Guo et al. 2016a). In

my study, there was up to 30% contribution of algae to the diet of Hydropsychids, adding to recent evidence that consumers use algae even in forested streams where there are high levels of allochthonous inputs and autochthony is generally considered to be low (Guo et al. 2016a; Thorp and Bowes 2017). There was some evidence from paired comparisons for spatially cumulative trends in % dietary algae, suggesting that this indicator did not follow the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 20, Appendix Table 34). A general increase in % algae used by stream consumers from upstream to downstream is expected as a more open canopy allows greater light penetration for in-stream photosynthesis (Vannote et al. 1980). In my study, there was some evidence for an effect of site, but % algae did not always increase downstream. A recent study by Jonsson et al. (2018) on the autochthony of blackfly and caddisfly larvae noted no effect of drainage area (surrogate for stream size); autochthony was instead promoted by higher lake and wetland cover in the catchment and decreased by forest cover and the presence of forestry. None of my streams originated from lakes, but there were beaver ponds interspersed throughout my catchments and those pond outlets may have contributed to the observed increases in % algae of Hydropsychid diets at some sites, regardless of treatment. There was also some evidence for an effect of treatment on % algae in the diet of Hydropsychids in my study, but the direction of the effect was variable: higher % algae at harvested sites in some comparisons, but lower in others. Lower % dietary algae (an adverse treatment impact because of algae's higher nutritional quality compared to terrestrial organic matter) was noted at upstream and downstream sites in harvested catchments (limited evidence), suggesting that BMPs were potentially not effective at either spatial scale. This is in agreement with other

studies, which have noted that % algae can decrease with a higher degree of forestry due to greater input of terrestrial organic matter from harvesting residues and run-off, or increase in clear-cut streams due to the increased presence of specialist herbivores in communities and the availability of nitrogen for algal growth (Göthe et al. 2009; Jonsson et al. 2018). There was also a negative effect of % EVSA in linear models, which may be because EVSAs increase the delivery of terrestrial organic matter and reduce relative availability of algae to consumers (Neary et al. 2009).

Overall, there was some evidence to suggest that % algae in the diet of Hydropsychids was affected by (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs and (b) by spatial position (Objective 1). There was also some of evidence indicating that their % dietary algae exhibited spatially cumulative trends in harvested catchments (Objective 2; $H_0 \#1$ rejected). The observation that there was an adverse impact on % algae consumed by Hydropsychids at an upstream and a downstream site provides limited evidence that BMPs were possibly not effective at preventing impacts from forest management at these spatial scales (Objective 3; H_0 possibly rejected).

4.1.7. *Mercury* (*Hg*)

The concentration of Hg in walleye, northern pike, and lake trout in Ontario is projected to increase within the next 30 years (Gandhi et al. 2015), and it is therefore critical to quantify the impact of various anthropogenic land uses on Hg transport to and fate in aquatic ecosystems. There was strong evidence for spatially cumulative trends in MeHg in water, indicating that MeHg in water in harvested catchments did not follow the natural river continuum (Figure 20, Appendix Table 38). Spatial variation in MeHg within a stream network is expected; Tsui et al. (2009) found that larger streams had the

highest aqueous MeHg due to the presence of methylation hotspots. MeHg may also increase downstream as a more open canopy may lead to greater rates of Hg photomethylation (O'Driscoll et al. 2004). In my study, this spatial trend was noted in the reference catchments, but the opposite trend was noted in the harvested catchments. There was also strong evidence of treatment impacts in my study, but impacts were only adverse (i.e., higher MeHg in water, due to its negative implications for health, survival, and reproduction) at upstream sites (some evidence), indicating that BMPs may not have been effective at the upstream scale. Increases in MeHg in run-off and surface water in logged catchments compared to undisturbed catchments have been well-documented (e.g., Povari et al. 2003; Eklöf et al. 2014; Olsson et al. 2017) and are commonly attributed to increased exports of DOM from logged catchments, a known carrier ligand for dissolved MeHg (Tsui and Finlay 2011). In agreement, the linear model analyses herein indicated a positive effect of DOM_PC1 (positively correlated with SUVA, Table 13) on aqueous MeHg, a relationship which has also been widely observed in the literature (e.g., Tsui and Finlay 2011; Lescord et al. 2018). Surprisingly, there was a negative effect of % EVSA in linear models; this was unexpected as EVSAs promote transport of DOM and may also represent ideal areas for methylation to occur (Bishop et al. 2009). However, % EVSA was positively correlated with % deciduous tree species in the catchment, which may better explain the negative MeHg relationship as conifers tend to accumulate Hg from the atmosphere more than deciduous trees due to their higher surface area for deposition and adsorption of atmospheric Hg, enhancing the delivery of Hg to the watershed during litterfall and throughfall (Munthe et al. 1995). However, this is likely not the case in my study, because sites with higher MeHg did not

tend to have higher % conifers (Table 1). While MeHg in surface water is influenced by soil organic matter content and Hg deposition, mobility, and methylation, there are conflicting reports of which factor is the most important determinant of MeHg concentration and subsequent accumulation in biota (Skyllberg et al. 2009; Eklöf et al. 2012). My study suggests that organic matter aromaticity appears to be a strong determinant of MeHg in stream water.

Higher MeHg in stream water often translates to higher MeHg in stream biota (Tsui and Finlay 2011; De Wit et al. 2012) and Bishop et al. (2009) estimate that forest harvesting is responsible for between one-tenth and one-quarter of Hg in fish in highlatitude, managed forest landscapes. There was strong evidence for spatially cumulative trends for MeHg in Hydropsychids, indicating that these RVs are not following the natural river continuum in harvested catchments (Figure 21). MeHg in invertebrates may be expected to increase downstream: Tsui and Finlay (2011) and Lescord et al. (2015) reported a positive relationship between catchment drainage area and MeHg in invertebrates. A strong effect of site was noted in my study, but increasing MeHg in Hydropsychids downstream was more common in reference catchments than in harvested catchments. In this study, harvesting was found to increase MeHg in Hydropsychids (an adverse treatment impact) at upstream and middle-reach sites (some evidence), indicating that BMPs were possibly not protective at these spatial scales. In addition, there was limited evidence suggesting that Hg(II) was higher in harvested catchments at the downstream site, which suggests that BMPs may not have been effective at preventing downstream accumulation in this species of Hg (Figure 22). Previous studies have found increased MeHg in biota after harvesting (Garcia and
Carignan 1999, 2000, 2005). In the linear model (Table 17), treatment (a positive predictor of MeHg in Hydropsychids) was positively correlated with WC_PC2 (positively correlated with TN), and therefore nitrogen may have also influenced MeHg in Hydropsychids; aqueous nitrogen is a strong predictor of MeHg in invertebrates, likely due to its stimulation of MeHg methylation (Lescord et al. 2015). Given that trends for MeHg in Hydropsychids were similar to those for filtered water, it is not surprising that there was a positive effect of the latter on the former. This also suggests that SUVA, which was a positive predictor of MeHg in filtered water, did not appear to be limiting Hg bioavailability to biota in these streams (Wood et al. 2011).

Conversely, I found no evidence of an effect of spatially cumulative trends, or effects of site or treatment on Hg in seston (Figure 23, Appendix Table 38). The reasons for this are unclear, but may be because invertebrates were selectively consuming particles in the bulk seston analyzed herein. There was no evidence of spatially cumulative trends for MeHg BAF in Hydropsychids, but there was for MeHg BMF in Hydropsychids (Figure 24 & Figure 25). There was also an adverse treatment (higher values) effect at the downstream and middle-reach sites for BAF and BMF, respectively, suggesting that BMPs may not be protective at these spatial scales. The consequences of increased Hg contamination caused by harvesting can influence terrestrial ecosystems as well, as larval invertebrates emerge as adults and become prey for predators on land (Speir et al. 2014).

Overall, analyses of MeHg in water and Hydropsychids gave a strong evidence of effects of (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs and (b) spatial position (Objective 1), and there was strong evidence of spatially cumulative trends in

harvested catchments (Objective 2; H_0 #1 rejected for MeHg RVs). Adverse treatment impacts were not observed at downstream sites, suggesting that BMPs were potentially effective at broader spatial scales (Objective 3; H_0 #2 not rejected). There was, however, some evidence for an adverse treatment impact at upstream and middle-reach sites for MeHg in water and Hydropsychids, indicating that BMPs were perhaps not effective at local spatial scales. In addition, there was limited to some evidence for adverse treatment impacts downstream for Hg(II) in Hydropsychids and MeHg BAF, suggesting that BMPs were again possibly not protective for these metrics at broader spatial scales (Objective 3; H_0 #2 possibly rejected).

4.2. Study Limitations & Future Directions

As with all studies and despite best efforts, there were limitations in my ability to detect, quantify, and comment on spatially cumulative trends and adverse impacts from forest harvesting. Firstly, application of the study findings is limited to selection-based forest harvesting within temperate, hardwood streams of similar size, geology, vegetation, and BMPs. Within this remote forested landscape, difficulties in accessing sample sites and identifying catchment pairs limited the amount of site/treatment replication that was possible; it would have been ideal to have at least a third catchment pair with perhaps four or five sites along the stream network. Moreover, while a variety of indicators representing abiotic, biotic, and contaminant parameters of a stream ecosystem that may be impacted by forestry activities were examined, some potentially important indicators were not measured (e.g., algal biomass, substrate cover), not all indicators were adequately characterized due to a lack of time and resources, and some EVs may have been missed. For example, stream hydrology is widely known to be

influenced by forest harvesting (Bosch and Hewlett 1982; Eklöf et al. 2016), but was measured only in 2017 and only at discrete time points throughout the sampling period, making it difficult to use to detect an effect of harvesting and potentially biasing results on the basis of individual fluxes in stream velocity and/or discharge. RVs like Hg in water and biota may be influenced by riparian vegetation composition, proportion of lakes and wetlands in the catchment, extent of canopy coverage of the stream, presence of other land uses in the catchment, and so on, all of which are potential EVs that were not measured in this study. In addition, only one EV was used to describe harvesting in the linear models: % area harvested in the last five years. While this EV attempted to account for intensity of and time since harvesting events within sub-catchments, it did not provide information about the proximity of the harvesting to the study site, as well as how recent within the five-year window the harvesting occurred (i.e., as RVs respond to and recover from disturbance at varying time scales).

There were also methodological limitations to consider. Missing data for Hydropsychids, seston, and biofilm represent instances where insufficient tissue mass was collected (e.g., due to extreme rainfall events causing biota to be carried downstream). Large rain events may have also influenced the results of grab-sample water collections, such as those for water chemistry, DOM quality, hydrogen isotopes, and Hg. Among the most prominent methodological limitations were my attempts to measure hydrogen isotopes in biofilm to indicate aquatic organic material contribution to stream consumer diet, which were largely unsuccessful and resulted in the use of calculated values for algal hydrogen isotope values instead. This was likely due to the presence of terrestrial, bacterial, and fungal organisms confounding the algal signature

of the biofilm. The lipid content of food sources and consumers were also not quantified, which may have limited my ability to compare hydrogen isotope values among sites as lipids are known to be depleted in deuterium relative to other tissues (Sessions et al. 1999). Finally, the use of a two-source mixing model assumed 100% herbivory and that Hydropsychids were feeding only on two food sources, which may be unlikely given that their feeding strategy is passive and food collected in silk nets may also include small animal tissue (i.e., rendering their diet omnivorous).

Some statistical limitations and challenges also presented themselves during data analysis. As methods for the assessment of spatially cumulative impacts of resource extraction and/or land use are largely missing in the literature, there was minimal direction on statistical approaches. Herein I attempted to quantify spatially cumulative trends using both categorical (i.e., the paired catchment comparisons) and continuous (i.e., the mixed effects models) variables for the effect of treatment, site, and their interaction, but the two approaches often gave inconsistent results (see Table 19), and limited replication may have decreased my ability to find spatially cumulative trends among RVs. In addition, there was a high degree of correlation among some of the EVs used, and while the process for excluding variables was standardized and the relationships between included and excluded EVs addressed in the text, it remained difficult to know which correlated variable was more influential.

In addressing the limitations of this study there is also the opportunity to identify areas for future research. In future studies of spatially cumulative trends from forest management, it is recommended that multiple (i.e., greater than two) pairs of reference and harvested treatments be sampled. It is also recommended to include a greater spatial

gradient of sample sites (i.e., greater distance between sites) such that longitudinal impacts may be more perceptible (e.g., changes in proportion of macroinvertebrate functional feeding group). Similar studies should also be conducted in other landscapes and biomes (e.g., softwood forests, tropical regions, etc.) and in areas with different forest harvesting practices (e.g., clear-cut, stump harvest, etc.). These studies should include a wide variety of indicators, RVs, and EVs and ensure that both the structural and functional aspects of stream ecosystems are considered. Perhaps most importantly for forest management studies, the development of an integrated measure of harvesting intensity/scale, time frame, and proximity to the stream could increase the ability to attribute impacts to harvesting activities in the catchment. To address issues related to quantifying the sources of organic matter in the diet of stream consumers, lipid content or carbon-to-nitrogen ratios could be measured and accounted for, a wider variety of food sources and potential consumers could be considered (i.e., with different feeding strategies), and innovative techniques such as fatty acid analysis could be used in conjunction with isotope analysis to distinguish between aquatic and terrestrial primary production. Given the interesting results from the Hg analyses, Hg may be a potential focal point for future forest management studies in general, and may be one of the variables most suited to spatially cumulative trends assessment. To expand on the research presented in this thesis, future studies examining Hg accumulation in more complex food webs (i.e., include higher trophic levels such as foraging and piscivorous fish) are recommended along with improved methods for collecting and measuring sestonic Hg in stream water.

5. Conclusions & Management Implications

In summary, the objectives of this study were to: (1) assess and quantify indicator responses in forest streams with varying (a) selection-based forest harvesting under Ontario BMPs and (b) spatial locations of sample sites; (2) determine if indicators exhibited spatially cumulative trends between headwaters and larger downstream areas in managed catchments relative to minimally-managed catchments; and (3) appraise whether BMPs designed to minimize local or stand-level impacts were potentially effective at protecting against adverse effects at broader spatial scales. For Objective 1, a two-factor ANOVA was used to test for a significant difference in indicator responses between treatments within site location (a) and site locations within a treatment (b). For Objective 2, spatially cumulative trends were defined as a significant difference in the spatial trend of an indicator response in harvested compared to reference catchments, regardless of direction. Evidence of spatially cumulative trends was provided if a twofactor ANOVA detected a significant interaction between treatment and site location within paired-catchment comparisons. Note that these trends may or may not manifest as a magnification of the endpoint at downstream sites. For Objective 3, potential effectiveness of BMPs at broader spatial scale was evaluated based on the presence of a significant treatment effect at downstream sites in harvested catchments, where the treatment response was considered "adverse" as it had the ability to have negative implications in the ecosystem.

Among the 28 RVs tested for spatially cumulative impacts (Table 19), five gave strong evidence (i.e., interaction present in >75% of paired comparisons) of spatially cumulative trends from forest harvesting: organic content of coarse sediment, MeHg in

filtered water, MeHg in unfiltered water, MeHg in Hydropsychids, and MeHg BMF for Hydropsychids. In addition, five gave some evidence (50 to 75% of paired comparisons; conductivity, TN, organic content of fine sediment, % algae in Hydropsychid diets, and THg in sediment), six gave limited evidence (>50% of paired comparisons; fine and coarse inorganic deposition per day, % leaf mass lost, leaf litter breakdown rate, Shannon's Diversity Index, and Hg(II) in Hydropsychids), and 12 gave no evidence (DOM quality metrics, leaf litter macroinvertebrate metrics other than Shannon's Diversity Index, MeHg in seston, Hg(II) in seston, and MeHg BAF for Hydropsychids) of spatially cumulative trends. Most RVs did not have an adverse impact of treatment at the downstream site (with the exception of limited to some evidence for inorganic sediment deposition, organic content of sediment, % dietary algae, Hg(II) in Hydropsychids, and MeHg BAF in Hydropsychids), indicating that BMPs were largely effective at protecting against adverse impacts at broader spatial scales, which is promising and important information for forest managers. RVs including conductivity, TN, organic content of sediment, % dietary algae, MeHg in water, and MeHg and Hg(II) in Hydropsychids saw localized (upstream) impacts of harvesting, suggesting that BMPs were possibly not effective at the reach-level for these indicators. In addition to ANOVAs, linear mixed effects models found that % EVSA and year commonly predicted indicator responses. Results for paired-catchment comparisons and average best-fitting linear models were not always consistent, but each provided important information about indicator responses.

Overall, the results of my study suggest that while indicators may follow different spatial trends along the river continuum in harvested catchments, current FMRs

and BMPs for forest management in Canada are mostly effective at preventing adverse impacts downstream as there was generally little evidence of adverse treatment impacts at these sites. However, because the results of this study suggest that forestry activities may influence abiotic, biotic, and contaminant parameters at individual sites (commonly upstream), forest managers should consider monitoring several variables when implementing forestry practices, and perhaps revise some regulations to better protect headwater sites. In improving our understanding of how impacts from forest harvesting are behaving over space (and time, and in combination with other stressors) in stream networks, mandated regulations and voluntary guidelines can be accordingly revised to better protect aquatic ecosystems for both human and wildlife uses. For example, Bishop et al. (2009) and Hsu-Kim et al. (2013) provide recommendations to reduce the impacts of forestry on Hg in streams, primarily focused on reducing Hg mobilization and methylation by minimizing machinery damage of soils, promoting rapid re-vegetation, avoiding stream-side burning of forest residues, and preventing creation of standing water pools where methylation can occur.

The assessment of spatially cumulative trends will also help managers and scientists to predict changes in forest ecosystems as forestry and climate change are expected to intensify in the near future (Price et al. 2013; Creed et al. 2016). Rising temperatures (4 to 5°C predicted in Canada's boreal zone) could cause tipping points in the state of forest ecosystems through permafrost decreasing, release of greenhouse gases increasing, forest fires intensifying, forest pests migrating northwards, hydrologic fluxes become more flashy, and others (Price et al. 2013). Such effects are predicted to change forest ecosystem services, such as decreased regulation of water flow and

quality, decreased resistance to abiotic and biotic hazards, increased or decreased climate regulation, and others (Pohjanmies et al. 2017). This information is highly relevant as forest sector competitiveness, social license to operate, and third-party certification are being increasingly linked to environmental performance. Overall, my study presents a case for the need to consider spatially cumulative trends of forestry operations in stream networks in an effort to maintain healthy forests and their aquatic ecosystem services for generations to come.

6. Bibliography

- Aiken, G.R. 2014. Dissolved organic matter in aquatic systems. In Comprehensive water quality and purification. Vol. 1. Edited by S. Ahuja. Elsevier Inc., Waltham, Mass. pp. 205–220.
- Allan, J. D. 1995. Heterotrophic energy sources. Pages 102–129 *in* Stream Ecology: Structure and Function of Running Waters. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Allison, P. D. 2001. Logistic regression using the SAS system. SAS Institute, Cary, N.C.
- Anderson, D. R. 2008. Model Based Inference in the Life Sciences: A Primer on Evidence. Springer, New York, NY.
- Barbour, M. T., J. Gerritsen, G. E. Griffith, R. Frydenborg, E. McCarron, J. S. White, and M. L. Bastian. 1996. A framework for biological criteria for Florida streams using benthic macroinvertebrates. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 15:185–211.
- Bärlocher, F. 1982. The contribution of fungal enzymes to the digestion of leaves by Gammarus fossarum Koch (Amphipoda). Oecologia 52:1–4.
- Bärlocher, F. 1985. The role of fungi in the nutrition of stream invertebrates. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 91:83–94.
- Bartoń, K. 2018. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.42.1.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1–48.
- Baxter, C. V., K. D. Fausch, and W. C. Saunders. 2005. Tangled webs: Reciprocal flows of invertebrate prey link streams and riparian zones. Freshwater Biology 50:201–220.
- Benfield, E. F., J. R. Webster, J. L. Tank, and J. J. Hutchens. 2001. Long-term patterns in leaf breakdown in streams in response to watershed logging. International Review of Hydrobiology 86:467–474.
- Berggren, M., H. Laudon, and M. Jansson. 2007. Landscape regulation of bacterial growth efficiency in boreal freshwaters. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 21:1-9.
- Bilby, R. E., and G. E. Likens. 1980. Importance of organic debris dams in the structure and function of stream ecosystems. Ecology 61:1107–1113.
- Bishop, K., C. Allan, L. Bringmark, E. Garcia, S. Hellsten, L. Hogbom, K. Johansson, A. Lomander, M. Meili, J. Munthe, M. Nilsson, P. Porvari, U. Skyllberg, R.

Sorensen, T. Zetterberg, and S. Akerblom. 2009. The effects of forestry on Hg bioaccumulation in Nemoral/Boreal waters and recommendations for good silvicultural practice. Ambio 38:373–380.

- Bosch, J. M., and H. D. Hewlett. 1982. A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 55:3–23.
- Brett, M. T., S. E. Bunn, S. Chandra, A. W. E. Galloway, F. Guo, M. J. Kainz, P. Kankaala, D. C. P. Lau, T. P. Moulton, M. E. Power, J. B. Rasmussen, S. J. Taipale, J. H. Thorp, and J. D. Wehr. 2017. How important are terrestrial organic carbon inputs for secondary production in freshwater ecosystems? Freshwater Biology 62:833–853.
- Brett, M. T., M. J. Kainz, S. J. Taipale, and H. Seshan. 2009. Phytoplankton, not allochthonous carbon, sustains herbivorous zooplankton production. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106:21197–21201.
- Broadmeadow, S., and T. R. Nisbet. 2004. The effects of riparian forest management on the freshwater environment: A literature review of best management practice. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions 8:286–305.
- Brogna, D., C. Vincke, Y. Brostaux, H. Soyeurt, M. Dufrêne, and N. Dendoncker. 2017. How does forest cover impact water flows and ecosystem services? Insights from "real-life" catchments in Wallonia (Belgium). Ecological Indicators 72:675–685.
- Brown, A. E., L. Zhang, T. A. McMahon, A. W. Western, and R. A. Vertessy. 2005. A review of paired catchment studies for determining changes in water yield resulting from alterations in vegetation. Journal of Hydrology 310:28–61.
- Brunke, M., and T. Gonser. 1997. The ecological significance of exchange processes between rivers and groundwater. Freshwater Biology 37:1–33.
- Burgess, N. M., and M. W. Meyer. 2008. Methylmercury exposure associated with reduced productivity in common loons. Ecotoxicology 17:83–91.
- Buttle, J. M. 2002. Rethinking the donut: The case for hydrologically relevant buffer zones. Hydrological Processes 16:3093–3096.
- Campbell, I. C., and T. J. Doeg. 1989. Impact of timber harvesting and production on streams: A review. Marine and Freshwater Research 40:519–539.
- Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. 2000. Canadian tissue residue guidelines for the protection of widlife consumers of aquatic biota.
- Carignan, R., P. D. Arcy, and S. Lamontagne. 2000. Comparative impacts of fire and forest harvesting on water quality in Boreal Shield lakes. Canadian Journal of

Fisheries and Aquatic Science 57:105–117.

- Chang, M. 2003. Forest Hydrology: An Introduction to Water and Forests. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Clapcott, J. E., and L. A. Barmuta. 2010. Forest clearance increases metabolism and organic matter processes in small headwater streams. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 29:546–561.
- Clarkson, T. W. 1990. Human health risks from methylmercury in fish. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 9:957–961.
- Cooper, J. R., J. W. Gilliam, and R. B. Daniels. 1987. Riparian areas as filters for agricultural sediment. Soil Science Society of America Journal 51:416-420.
- Cory, R. M., D. M. McKnight, Y. P. Chin, P. Miller, and C. L. Jaros. 2007. Chemical characteristics of fulvic acids from Arctic surface waters: Microbial contributions and photochemical transformations. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 112:1–14.
- Creed, I. F., L. E. Band, N. W. Foster, I. K. Morrison, J. A. Nicolson, R. S. Semkin, and D. S. Jeffries. 1996. Regulation of nitrate-N release from temperate forests: A test of the N flushing hypothesis. Water Resources Research 32:3337–3354.
- Creed, I. F., M. Weber, F. Accatino, and D. P. Kreutzweiser. 2016. Managing forests for water in the anthropocene - The best kept secret services of forest ecosystems. Forests 7:1-23.
- Dahlgren, R.A., and C.T. Driscoll. 1994. The effects of whole-tree clear-cutting on soil processes at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, New Hampshire, USA. Plant and Soil 158:239-262.
- Danehy, R. J., S. S. Chan, G. T. Lester, R. B. Langshaw, and T. R. Turner. 2007. Periphyton and macroinvertebrate assemblage structure in headwaters bordered by mature, thinned, and clearcut Douglas-fir stands. Forest Science 53:294-307.
- Davies, P., and M. Nelson. 1994. Relationships between riparian buffer widths and the effects of logging on stream habitat, invertebrate community composition and fish abundance. Marine and Freshwater Research 45:1289-1305.
- Davis, J. C., G. W. Minshall, C. T. Robinson, and P. Landres. 2001. Monitoring wilderness stream ecosystems. United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-70.
- De Wit, H. A., A. Granhus, M. Lindholm, M. J. Kainz, Y. Lin, H. F. V. Braaten, and J. Blaszczak. 2014. Forest harvest effects on mercury in streams and biota in

Norwegian boreal catchments. Forest Ecology and Management 324:52-63.

- De Wit, H. A., M. J. Kainz, and M. Lindholm. 2012. Methylmercury bioaccumulation in invertebrates of boreal streams in Norway: Effects of aqueous methylmercury and diet retention. Environmental Pollution 164:235–241.
- Deschênes, J., M. A. Rodríguez, and P. Bérubé. 2007. Context-dependent responses of juvenile Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) to forestry activities at multiple spatial scales within a river basin. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 64:1069–1079.
- Doucett, R. R., J. C. Marks, D. W. Blinn, M. Caron, and B. A. Hungate. 2007. Measuring terrestrial subsidies to aquatic food webs using stable isotopes of hydrogen. Ecology 88:1587-1592.
- Downing, J. A., J. J. Cole, C. M. Duarte, J. J. Middelburg, J. M. Melack, Y. T. Prairie, P. Kortelainen, R. G. Striegl, W. H. McDowell, and L. J. Tranvik. 2012. Global abundance and size distribution of streams and rivers. Inland Waters 2:229-236.
- Eckley, C. S., C. A. Eagles-Smith, M. T. Tate, B. Kowalski, R. Danehy, S. L. Johnson, and D. P. Krabbenhoft. 2018. Stream mercury export in response to contemporary timber harvesting methods (Pacific Coastal Mountains, Oregon, USA). Environmental Science & Technology 52:1971-1980.
- Eklöf, K., J. Fölster, L. Sonesten, and K. Bishop. 2012. Spatial and temporal variation of THg concentrations in run-off water from 19 boreal catchments, 2000-2010. Environmental Pollution 164:102–109.
- Eklöf, K., R. Lidskog, and K. Bishop. 2016. Managing Swedish forestry's impact on mercury in fish: Defining the impact and mitigation measures. Ambio 45:163– 174.
- Eklöf, K., J. Schelker, R. Sørensen, M. Meili, H. Laudon, C. Von Brömssen, and K. Bishop. 2014. Impact of forestry on total and methyl-mercury in surface waters: Distinguishing effects of logging and site preparation. Environmental Science & Technology 48:4690-4698.
- Emilson, C. E., D. P. Kreutzweiser, and J. M. Gunn. 2016. Effects of land use on the structure and function of leaf-litter microbial communities in boreal streams. Freshwater Biology 61:1049-1061.
- Emilson, C. E., D. P. Kreutzweiser, J. M. Gunn, and N. C. S. Mykytczuk. 2017. Leaflitter microbial communities in boreal streams linked to forest and wetland sources of dissolved organic carbon. Ecosphere 8:1-12.
- England, L. E., and A. D. Rosemond. 2004. Small reductions in forest cover weaken terrestrial-aquatic linkages in headwater streams. Freshwater Biology 49:721-

- Environment Canada. 2014. Turkey Lakes watershed study site: Meteorology. https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/turkey-lakeswatershed-study/site/meteorology.html.
- Erdozain, M., K. Kidd, D. Kreutzweiser, and P. Sibley. 2018. Linking stream ecosystem integrity to catchment and reach conditions in an intensively managed forest landscape. Ecosphere 9: 1-29.
- Erman, D. C., J. D. Newbold, and K. B. Roby. 1977. Evaluation of streamside buffer strips for protecting aquatic organisms. Davis, CA.
- Feller, M. C., and J. P. Kimmins. 1984. Effects of clearcutting and slash burning on streamwater chemistry and watershed nutrient budgets in southwestern British Columbia. Water Resources Research 20:29-40.
- Ferguson, W. 2012. Why wood pulp is world's new wonder material. http://www.newscientist.com/article/mg21528786.100-why-wood-pulp-isworlds-new-wonder-material.html#.U3CH4q2SxcI.
- Finlay, J. C., R. R. Doucett, and C. Mcneely. 2010. Tracing energy flow in stream food webs using stable isotopes of hydrogen. Freshwater Biology 55:941-951.
- Finlay, J. C., and C. Kendall. 2007. Stable isotope tracing of organic matter sources and food web interactions in watersheds. Pages 283–333 in K. Lajtha and R. Michener, editors. Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell, Oxford, U.K.
- Fiquepron, J., S. Garcia, and A. Stenger. 2013. Land use impact on water quality: Valuing forest services in terms of the water supply sector. Journal of Environmental Management 126:113-121.
- Folt, C.L. 1998. Implications of temporal and spatial scale for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) research. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55:9-21.
- Fox, J. 2002. An R and S-Plus companion to applied regression. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Fox, J. 2003. Effect displays in R for generalised linear models. Journal of Statistical Software 8:1-27.
- Fox, J., and S. Weisberg. 2011. An {R} COmpanion to Applied Regression, Second Edition. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Fry, B. 2006. Stable Isotope Ecology. Springer, New York, NY.
- Fuller, R. L., and R. J. Mackay. 1980. Feeding ecology of three species of

Hydropsyche (Trichoptera: Hydropsychidae) in southern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Zoology 58:2239-2251.

- Furniss, M., B. Staab, S. Hazelhurst, C. Clifton, K. Roby, B. Ilhadrt, E. Larry, A. Todd, L. Reid, S. Hines, K. Bennett, C. Luce, and P. Edwards. 2010. Water, climate change, and forests: Watershed stewardship for a changing climate. General Technical Report PNW-GTR812:75.
- Gandhi, N., S. P. Bhavsar, R. W. K. Tang, and G. B. Arhonditsis. 2015. Projecting fish mercury levels in the province of Ontario, Canada and the implications for fish and human health. Environmental Science & Technology 49:14494-14502.
- Garcia, E., and R. Carignan. 1999. Impact of wildfire and clear-cutting in the boreal forest on methyl mercury in zooplankton. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 56:339-345.
- Garcia, E., and R. Carignan. 2000. Mercury concentrations in northern pike (Esox lucius) from boreal lakes with logged, burned, or undisturbed catchments. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 57:129-135.
- Garcia, E., and R. Carignan. 2005. Mercury concentrations in fish from forest harvesting and fire-impacted Canadian boreal lakes compared using stable isotopes of Nitrogen. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24:685-693.
- Gessner, M. O., and E. Chauvet. 2002. A case for using litter breakdown to assess functional stream integrity. Ecological Applications 12:498-510.
- Glaz, P., Gagné, J.-P., P. Archambault, P. Sirois, and C. Nozais. 2015. Impact of forest harvesting on water quality and fluorescence characteristics of dissolved organic matter in eastern Canadian Boreal Shield lakes in summer. Biogeosciences 12:6999-7011.
- Gordon, N. D., T. A. McMahon, B. L. Finlayson, C. J. Gippel, and R. J. Nathan. 2004. Stream Hydrology: An Introduction for Ecologists. John Wiley & Sons, England, U.K.
- Göthe, E., F. Lepori, and B. Malmqvist. 2009. Forestry affects food webs in northern Swedish coastal streams. Fundamental and Applied Limnology / Archiv für Hydrobiologie 175:281-294.
- Graynoth, E. 1979. Effects of logging on stream environments and faunas in Nelson. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 13:79-109.
- Gregory, S. V., G. A. Lambertis, D. C. Erman, K. V. Koski, M. L. Murphy, and J. R. Sedell. 1987. Influence of forest practices on aquatic production. Pp. 223–255 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fishery Interactions. University of Washington, Institute of Forest Resources.

- Guo, F., M. J. Kainz, F. Sheldon, and S. E. Bunn. 2016a. Effects of light and nutrients on periphyton and the fatty acid composition and somatic growth of invertebrate grazers in subtropical streams. Oecologia 181:449-462.
- Guo, F., M. J. Kainz, D. Valdez, F. Sheldon, and S. E. Bunn. 2016b. High-quality algae attached to leaf litter boost invertebrate shredder growth. Freshwater Science 35:1213-1221.
- Haitzer, M., G. R. Aiken, and J. N. Ryan. 2002. Binding of mercury(II) to dissolved organic matter: The role of the mercury-to-DOM concentration ratio. Environmental Science & Technology 36:3564-3570.
- Hand, B. 1997. Inverse grading resulting from coarse-sediment transport lag. Journal of Sedimentary Research 67:124-129.
- Haro, R. J., S. W. Bailey, R. M. Northwick, K. R. Rolfhus, M. B. Sandheinrich, and J. G. Wiener. 2013. Burrowing dragonfly larvae as biosentinels of methylmercury in freshwater food webs. Environmental Science & Technology 47:8148-8156.
- Harr, R. D., W. Harper, and J. T. Kryfier. 1975. Changes in storm hydrographs after road building and clear-cutting in the Oregon coastal range. Water Resources 11:463-444.
- Harris, H. H., I. J. Pickering, and G. N. George. 2003. The chemical form of mercury in fish. Science 301:1203.
- Hassan, M. A., D. L. Hogan, S. A. Bird, C. L. May, T. Gomi, and D. Campbell. 2005. Spatial and temporal dynamics of wood in headwater streams of the Pacific Northwest. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 41:899-919.
- Holtby, L. B. 1988. Effects of logging on stream temperatures in Carnation Creek, British Columbia, and associated impacts on the coho salmon (*Ocorhynchus kisutch*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 45:502-515.
- Hondula, K. L., M. L. Pace, J. J. Cole, and R. D. Batt. 2014. Hydrogen isotope discrimination in aquatic primary producers: Implications for aquatic food web studies. Aquatic Sciences 76:217-229.
- Hornberger, G., K.E. Bencala, and D.M. McKnight. 1994. Hydrologic controls on dissolved organic carbon during snowmelt in the Snake River near Montezuma, Colorado. Biogeochemistry 25: 147-165.
- Hsu-Kim, H., K. H. Kucharzyk, T. Zhang, and M. A. Deshusses. 2013. Mechanisms regulating mercury bioavailability for methylating microorganisms in the aquatic environment: A critical review. Environmental Science & Technology 47: 2441-2456.

Huguet, A., L. Vacher, S. Relexans, S. Saubusse, J. M. Froidefond, and E. Parlanti.

2009. Properties of fluorescent dissolved organic matter in the Gironde Estuary. Organic Geochemistry 40:706-719.

- Hynes, H. B. N. 1970. The Ecology of Running Waters. Toronto University Press, Toronto.
- Hynes, H. B. N. 1975. The stream and its valley. Verhandlungen der Internationalen Vereinigung fur theoretiche und angewandte Limnologie 19:1-15.
- Irons III, J. G., M. W. Oswood, R. J. Stout, and C. M. Pringle. 1994. Latitudinal patterns in leaf litter breakdown: Is temperature really important? Freshwater Biology 32:401-411.
- Jackson, C. R., D. P. Batzer, S. S. Cross, S. M. Haggerty, and C. A. Sturm. 2007. Headwater streams and timber harvest: channel, macroinvertebrate, and amphibian response and recovery. (Special issue: Science and management of forest headwater streams). Forest Science 53:356-370.
- Jansson, M., L. Persson, A. M. De Roos, R. I. Jones, and L. J. Tranvik. 2007. Terrestrial carbon and intraspecific size-variation shape lake ecosystems. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 22:316-322.
- Jardine, T. D., K. A. Kidd, and R. A. Cunjak. 2009. An evaluation of deuterium as a food source tracer in temperate streams of eastern Canada. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 28:885-893.
- Jeglum, J., H. M. Kershaw, D. M. Morris, and D.A. Cameron. 2003. Best forestry practices: A guide for the boreal forest in Ontario. Sault Ste. Marie.
- Johnson, M. S., E. G. Couto, M. Abdo, and J. Lehmann. 2011. Fluorescence index as an indicator of dissolved organic carbon quality in hydrologic flowpaths of forested tropical watersheds. Biogeochemistry 105:149-157.
- Jonsson, M., L. E. Polvi, R. A. Sponseller, and K. Stenroth. 2018. Catchment properties predict autochthony in stream filter feeders. Hydrobiologia 815:83-95.
- Kellman, L., and C. Hillaire-Marcel. 1998. Nitrate cycling in streams: Using natural abundances of NO3/-- δ 15N to measure in-situ denitrification. Biogeochemistry 43:273-292.
- Kibler, K. M., A. Skaugset, L. M. Ganio, and M. M. Huso. 2013. Effect of contemporary forest harvesting practices on headwater stream temperatures: Initial response of the Hinkle Creek catchment, Pacific Northwest, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 310:680-691.

- Kiikkilä, O., A. Smolander, and L. Ukonmaanaho. 2014. Properties of dissolved organic matter in peatland: Implications for water quality after harvest. Vandose Zone Journal 13:1-9
- Klimesh, D., A. V. Gossman, Y. J. Xu, and M. D. Kaller. 2015. Responses of stream benthic macroinvertebrate communities to timber harvesting: Best management practices in a low-gradient watershed in Central Louisiana, USA. Riparian Ecology and Conservation 2:72-82.
- Köhler, S., J. Hruška, J. Jönsson, L. Lövgren, and S. Lofts. 2002. Evaluation of different approaches to quantify strong organic acidity and acid-base buffering of organic-rich surface waters in Sweden. Water Research 36:4487-4496.
- Kreutzweiser, D., F. Beall, K. Webster, D. Thompson, and I. Creed. 2013. Impacts and prognosis of natural resource development on aquatic biodiversity in Canada's boreal zone 1. Environmental Reviews 21:227-259.
- Kreutzweiser, D., E. Muto, S. Holmes, and J. Gunn. 2010. Effects of upland clearcutting and riparian partial harvesting on leaf pack breakdown and aquatic invertebrates in boreal forest streams. Freshwater Biology 55:2238-2252.
- Kreutzweiser, D. P., and S. S. Capell. 2001. Fine sediment deposition in streams after selective forest harvesting without riparian buffers. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 2142:2134-2142. (see also erratum in Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32, 1108).
- Kreutzweiser, D. P., S. S. Capell, and F. D. Beall. 2004. Effects of selective forest harvesting on organic matter inputs and accumulation in headwater streams. Northern Journal of Applied Forestry 21:19-30.
- Kreutzweiser, D. P., S. S. Capell, and K. P. Good. 2005. Effects of fine sediment inputs from a logging road on stream insect communities: A large-scale experimental approach in a Canadian headwater stream. Aquatic Ecology 39:55-66.
- Kreutzweiser, D. P., K. P. Good, S. S. Capell, and S. B. Holmes. 2008a. Leaf-litter decomposition and macroinvertebrate communities in boreal forest streams linked to upland logging disturbance. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 27:1-15.
- Kreutzweiser, D. P., P. W. Hazlett, and J. M. Gunn. 2008b. Logging impacts on the biogeochemistry of boreal forest soils and nutrient export to aquatic systems: A review. Environmental Reviews 16:157-179.
- Kuznetsova, A., P. B. Brockhoff, and R. H. B. Christensen. 2017. ImerTest Package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. Journal of Statistical Software 82:1-26.
- Lakel III, W. A., W. M. Aust, C. A. Dolloff, and A. W. Easterbrook. 2006. Soil

erosion from harvested sites versus streamside management zone sediment deposition in the piedmont of Virginia. Page Proceedings of the 13th biennial Southern Silvicultural Research Conference. Conner, K. USDA Forest Service Southern Research.

- Lamontagne, S., R. Carignan, P. D. Arcy, Y. T. Prairie, and D. Paré. 2000. Element export in runoff from eastern Canadian Boreal Shield drainage basins following forest harvesting and wildfires. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 57:118-128.
- Laudon, H., J. Hedtjarn, J. Schelker, K. Bishop, R. Sorensen, and A. Agren. 2009. Response of dissolved organic carbon following forest harvesting in a boreal forest. Ambio 38:381-386.
- Lecerf, A., and J. S. Richardson. 2010. Litter decomposition can detect effects of high and moderate levels of forest disturbance on stream condition. Forest Ecology and Management 259:2433-2443.
- Lemly, A. D. 1982. Modification of benthic insect communities in polluted streams: combined effects of sedimentation and nutrient enrichment. Hydrobiologia 87:229-245.
- Lenat, D. R., D. L. Penrose, and K. W. Eagleson. 1979. Biological evaluation of nonpoint source pollutants in North Carolina streams and rivers. Raleigh, NC.
- Lescord, G. L., E. J. S. Emilson, T. A. Johnston, B. A. Branfireun, and J. M. Gunn. 2018. Optical Properties of Dissolved Organic Matter and Their Relation to Mercury Concentrations in Water and Biota Across a Remote Freshwater Drainage Basin. Environmental Science & Technology 52:3344-3353.
- Lescord, G. L., K. A. Kidd, J. L. Kirk, N. J. O'Driscoll, X. Wang, and D. C. G. Muir. 2015. Factors affecting biotic mercury concentrations and biomagnification through lake food webs in the Canadian high Arctic. Science of the Total Environment 509-510:195–205.
- Lewis, B. M. E., and M. E. Brigham. 2004. Low-level mercury. Pages 1–26 *in* U.S. Geological Survey TWRI Book 9-A5.
- Lindsay, J. B. 2016. Whitebox GAT: A case study in geomorphometric analyses. Computers & Geosciences 95:75-84.
- Lorimer, C. G. 1989. Relative effects of small and large disturbances on temperate hardwood forest structure. Ecology 70:565-567.
- Macdonald, E., C. J. Burgess, G. J. Scrimgeour, S. Boutin, S. Reedyk, and B. Kotak. 2004. Should riparian buffers be part of forest management based on emulation of natural disturbance? Forest Ecology and Management 187:185-196.

- Macdonald, J. S., P. G. Beaudry, E. A MacIsaac, and H. E. Herunter. 2003. The effects of forest harvesting and best management practices on streamflow and suspended sediment concentrations during snowmelt in headwater streams in sub-boreal forests of British Columbia, Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33:1397-1407.
- Mansfield, C. R., and F. J. Black. 2015. Quantification of monomethylmercury in natural waters by direct ethylation: Interference characterization and method optimization. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 13:81-91.
- Martin, M. M., C. G. Jones, and E. A. Bernays. 1991. The Evolution of Cellulose Digestion in Insects [and Discussion]. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 333:281-288.
- McKie, B. G., and B. Malmqvist. 2009. Assessing ecosystem functioning in streams affected by forest management: Increased leaf decomposition occurs without changes to the composition of benthic assemblages. Freshwater Biology 54:2086-2100.
- McKnight, D. M., E. W. Boyer, P. K. Westerhoff, P. T. Doran, T. Kulbe, and D. T. Anderson. 2001. Spectroflourometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic material and aromaticity. Limnology and Oceanography 46:38-48.
- Medhurst, R. B., M. S. Wipfli, C. Binckley, K. Polivka, P. F. Hessburg, and R. B. Salter. 2010. Headwater streams and forest management: Does ecoregional context influence logging effects on benthic communities? Hydrobiologia 641:71-83.
- Mellina, E., and S. G. Hinch. 2009. Influences of riparian logging and in-stream large wood removal on pool habitat and salmonid density and biomass: a metaanalysis. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39:1280-1301.
- Merritt R.M., and K.W. Cummins. 1996. An Introduction to the Aquatic Insects of North America, Third Edition. Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company, Dubuque, IA.
- Meyer, J. L., and J. O'Hop. 1983. Leaf-shredding insects as a source of dissolved organic carbon in headwater streams. The American Midlnd Naturalist 109:175-183.
- Montgomery, D. C., and E. A. Peck. 1992. Introduction to linear regression analysis. Wiley, New York, NY.
- Montgomery, D. R. 1999. Process domains and the river continuum. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 35:397-410.

Moore, R. D., D. L. Spittlehouse, and A. Story. 2005. Riparian microclimate and

stream temperature response to forest harvesting: A review. Journal Of The American Water Resources Association 7:813-834.

- Morrison, K. A., and C. J. Watras. 1999. Mercury and methyl mercury in freshwater seston: Direct determination at picogram per litre levels by dual filtration. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56:760-766.
- Munthe, J., H. Hultberg, and A. Iverfeldt. 1995. Mechanisms of deposition of methylmercury and mercury to coniferous forests. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 80:363-371.
- Murphy, M. L., and J. D. Hall. 1981. Vaired effects of clear-cut logging on predators and their habitat in small streams of the Cascade Mountains, Oregon. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 38:137-145.
- Musetta-Lambert, J., E. Muto, D. Kreutzweiser, and P. Sibley. 2017. Wildfire in boreal forest catchments influences leaf litter subsidies and consumer communities in streams: Implications for riparian management strategies. Forest Ecology and Management 391:29-41.
- Natural Resources Canada. 2016. Sustainable forest management in Canada. http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/forests/canada/sustainable-forest-management/13183.
- Natural Resources Canada. 2017a. Key facts about Canada's forests. https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/forests/measuring-reporting/key-forest-facts/17643.
- Natural Resources Canada. 2017b. Forestry. http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/earthsciences/geography/atlas-canada/selected-thematic-maps/16874.
- Natural Resources Canada. 2017c. Softwood lumber factsheet. https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/19605
- Neary, D. G., G. G. Ice, and C. R. Jackson. 2009. Linkages between forest soils and water quality and quantity. Forest Ecology and Management 258:2269-2281.
- Newbold, J. D., D. C. Erman, and K. B. Roby. 1980. Effects of logging on macroinvertebrates in streams with and without buffer strips. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 37:1076-1085.
- Nicolson, J. A. 1988. Water and chemical budgets for terrestrial basins at the Turkey Lakes Watershed. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 45:s88s95.
- Nieuwenhuis, R., M. te Grotenhuis, and B. Pelzer. 2012. influence.ME: Tools for detecting influential data in mixed effects models. R Journal 4:38-47.
- Noel, D. S., C. W. Martin, and C. A. Federer. 1986. Effects of forest clearcutting in New England on stream macroinvertebrates and periphyton. Environmental

Management 10:661-670.

- O'Brien, R. M. 2007. A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. Quality and Quantity 41:673-690.
- O'Driscoll, N. J., D. R. S. Lean, L. L. Loseto, R. Carignan, and S. D. Siciliano. 2004. Effect of dissolved organic carbon on the photoproduction of dissolved gaseous mercury in lakes: Potential impacts of forestry. Environmental Science & Technology 38:2664-2672.
- Ohno, T. 2002. Fluorescence inner-filtering correction for determining the humification index of dissolved organic matter. Environmental Science & Technology 36:742-746.
- Oksanen, J., F. Guillaume Blanchet, M. Friendly, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, D. McGlinn, P. R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, G. L. Simpson, P. Solymos, M. H. M. Stevens, E. Szoecs, and H. Wagner. 2017. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.4-5. https://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan.
- Olsson, B. A., S. Åkerblom, K. Bishop, K. Eklöf, and E. Ring. 2017. Does the harvest of logging residues and wood ash application affect the mobilization and bioavailability of trace metals? Forest Ecology and Management 383:61-72.
- Omara, M., B.S. Crimmins, R.C. Back, P.K. Hopke, F-C. Chang, and T.M. Holsen. 2015. Mercury biomagnification and contemporary food web dynamics in lakes Superior and Huron. Journal of Great Lakes Research 41:473-483.
- Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources (OMNR). 2010. Forest management guide for conserving biodiversity at the stand and site scales background and rationale for direction. Toronto, ON.
- Palviainen, M., L. Finér, A. M. Kurka, H. Mannerkoski, S. Piirainen, and M. Starr. 2004. Decomposition and nutrient release from logging residues after clearcutting of mixed boreal forest. Plant and Soil 263:53–67.
- Petersen, R. C., and K. W. Cummins. 1974. Leaf processing in a woodland stream. Freshwater Biology 4:343-368.
- Peterson, B., and B. Fry. 1987. Stable isotopes in ecosystem studies. Annual Review of Ecological Systematics 18:293-320.
- Petkovska, V., and G. Urbanič. 2015. The links between river morphological variables and benthic invertebrate assemblages: comparison among three European ecoregions. Aquatic Ecology 49:159-173.
- Peuravuori, J., and K. Pihlaja. 1997. Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. Analytica Chimica Acta 337:133-149.

- PEW Environment Group. 2011. A Forest of Blue: Canada's Boreal Forest, the World's Water Keeper. http://www.pewenvironment.org/uploadedFiles/PEG/Publications/Report/PEG BorealWaterReport11March2011.pdf.
- Pires, M. 2004. Watershed protection for a world city: The case of New York. Land Use Policy 21:161-175.
- Planas, D., M. Desrosiers, S. Groulx, and S. Paquet. 2000. Pelagic and benthic algal responses in eastern Canadian Boreal Shield lakes following harvesting and wildfires. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 57:136-145.
- Pohjanmies, T., M. Triviño, E. Le Tortorec, A. Mazziotta, T. Snäll, and M. Mönkkönen. 2017. Impacts of forestry on boreal forests: An ecosystem services perspective. Ambio 46:743–755.
- Porter, J. 2017. Children of the poisoned river. http://www.cbc.ca/news2/interactives/children-of-the-poisoned-river-mercurypoisoning-grassy-narrows-first-nation/.
- Povari, P., M. Verta, J. Munthe, and M. Haapanen. 2003. Forestry practices increase mercury and methyl mercury output from boreal forest catchments. Environmental Science & Technology 37:2389-2393.
- Pozo, J., A. Basaguren, A. Elosegi, J. Molinero, E. Fabre, and E. Chauvet. 1998. Afforestation with Eucalyptus globulus and leaf litter decomposition in streams of northern Spain. Hydrobiologia 373/374:101-109.
- Price, D. T., R. I. Alfaro, K. J. Brown, M. D. Flannigan, R. A. Fleming, E. H. Hogg, M. P. Girardin, T. Lakusta, M. Johnston, D. W. Mckenney, J. H. Pedlar, T. Stratton, R. N. Sturrock, I. D. Thompson, J. A. Trofymow, and L. A. Venier. 2013. Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest ecosystems. Environmental Reviews 21:322-365.
- Pringle, C. M., R. J. Naiman, G. Bretschko, J. R. Karr, M. W. Oswood, J. R. Webster, R. L. Welcomme, M. J. Winterbourn, C. M. Pringle, R. J. Naiman, G. Bretschko, J. R. Karr, M. W. Oswood, J. R. Webster, R. L. Welcomme, and M. J. Winterbourn. 1988. Patchy dynamics in lotic systems: The stream as a mosaic. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 7:503-524.
- R Core Team. 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ravichandran, M. 2004. Interactions between mercury and dissolved organic matter A review. Chemosphere 55:319-331.
- Reid, D. J., J. M. Quinn, and A. E. Wright-Stow. 2010. Responses of stream macroinvertebrate communities to progressive forest harvesting: Influences of

harvest intensity, stream size and riparian buffers. Forest Ecology and Management 260:1804-1815.

- Richards, C., R. J. Haro, L. B. Johnson, and G. E. Host. 1997. Catchment and reachscale properties as indicators of macroinvertebrate spcies traits. Freshwater Biology 37:219-230.
- Richards, C., L. B. Johnson, and G. E. Host. 1996. Landscape-scale influences on stream habitats and biota. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53:295-311.
- Richardson, J. S. 1991. Seasonal food limitation of detritivores in a montane stream: An experimental test. Ecology 72:873-887.
- Richardson, J. S. 2008. Aquatic arthropods and forestry: Effects of large-scale land use on aquatic systems in Nearctic temperate regions. Canadian Entomologist 140:495-509.
- Richardson, J. S., and S. Béraud. 2014. Effects of riparian forest harvest on streams: A meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology 51:1712-1721.
- Richardson, J. S., R. E. Bilby, and C. A. Bondar. 2005. Organic Matter Dynamics in Small Streams of the Pacific Northwest. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 41:921-934.
- Richardson, J. S., T. M. Hoover, and A. Lecerf. 2009. Coarse particulate organic matter dynamics in small streams: Towards linking function to physical structure. Freshwater Biology 54:2116-2126.
- Robson, A., C. Neal, C. J. Smith, and S. Hill. 1992. Short-term variations in rain and stream water conductivity at a forested site in mid-Wales implications for water movement. Science of the Total Environment 119:1-18.
- Roiha, T., M. Tiirola, M. Cazzanelli, and M. Rautio. 2012. Carbon quantity defines productivity while its quality defines community composition of bacterioplankton in subarctic ponds. Aquatic Sciences 74:513-525.
- Rolfhus, K. R., B. D. Hall, B. A. Monson, M. J. Paterson, and J. D. Jeremiason. 2011. Assessment of mercury bioaccumulation within the pelagic food web of lakes in the western Great Lakes region. Ecotoxicology 20:1520-1529.
- Rolfhus, K. R., J. G. Wiener, R. J. Haro, M. B. Sandheinrich, S. W. Bailey, and B. R. Seitz. 2015. Mercury in streams at Grand Portage National Monument (Minnesota, USA): Assessment of ecosystem sensitivity and ecological risk. Science of the Total Environment 514:192-201.
- Rosen, K., and A. Lundmark-Thelin. 1987. Increased nitrogen leaching under piles of slash-a consequence of modern forest harvesting techniques. Scandinavian

Journal of Forest Research 2:21-29.

- Rounick, J. S., M. J. Winterbourn, and G. L. Lyon. 1982. Differential utilization of allochthonous and autochthonous inputs by aquatic invertebrates in some New Zealand streams: A stable carbon isotope study. Oikos 39:191-198.
- Ryan, P. A. 1991. Environmental effects of sediment on new zealand streams: A review. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 25:207–221.
- Sakamaki, T., and J. S. Richardson. 2013. Nonlinear variation of stream-forest linkage along a stream-size gradient: An assessment using biogeochemical proxies of in-stream fine particulate organic matter. Journal of Applied Ecology 50:1019-1027.
- Sandin, L., and R. K. Johnson. 2004. Local, landscape and regional factors structuring benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages in Swedish streams. Landscape Ecology 19:501-515.
- Schelker, J., K. Eklöf, K. Bishop, and H. Laudon. 2012. Effects of forestry operations on dissolved organic carbon concentrations and export in boreal first-order streams. Journal of Geophysical Research 117:1-12.
- Sessions, A. L., T. W. Burgoyne, A. Schimmelmann, and J. M. Hayes. 1999. Fractionation of hydrogen isotopes in lipid biosynthesis. Organic Geochemistry 30:1193-1200.
- Short, R. A., and P. E. Maslin. 1977. Processing of leaf litter by a stream detritivore: Effect of nutrient availability to collectors. Ecology 58:935-938.
- Shortreed, K. S., and J. G. Stockner. 1983. Periphyton biomass and species composition in a coastal rainforest stream in British Columbia. Effects of environmental changes caused by logging.pdf. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 40:1887-1895.
- Skyllberg, U., M. B. Westin, M. Meili, and E. Bjorn. 2009. Elevated concentrations of methyl mercury in streams after forest clear-cut: A consequence of mobilization from soil or new methylation? Environmental Science & Technology 43:8535-8541.
- Solomon, C. T., S. R. Carpenter, M. K. Clayton, J. J. Cole, J. J. Coloso, M. L. Pace, M. J. Vander Zanden, and B. C. Weidel. 2011. Terrestrial, benthic, and pelagic resource use in lakes: Results from a three-isotope Bayesian mixing model. Ecology 92:1115-1125.
- Solomon, C. T., J. J. Cole, R. R. Doucett, M. L. Pace, N. D. Preston, L. E. Smith, and B. C. Weidel. 2009. The influence of environmental water on the hydrogen stable isotope ratio in aquatic consumers. Oecologia 161:313-324.

- Speir, S. L., M. M. Chumchal, R. W. Drenner, W. G. Cocke, M. E. Lewis, and H. J. Whitt. 2014. Methyl mercury and stable isotopes of nitrogen reveal that a terrestrial spider has a diet of emergent aquatic insects. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 33:2506-2509.
- Statistics Canada. 2017. Human Activity and the Environment: Forests in Canada. Statistics.
- Suberkropp, K., G. L. Godshalk, and M. J. Klug. 1976. Changes in the chemical composition of leaves during processing in a woodland stream. Ecology 57:720-727.
- Tank, J. J. L., E. J. E. Rosi-Marshall, N. A. Griffiths, S. A. Entrekin, and M. L. Stephen. 2010. A review of allochthonous organic matter dynamics and metabolism in streams. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 29:118-146.
- Thorp, J. H., and R. E. Bowes. 2017. Carbon sources in riverine food webs: New evidence from amino acid isotope techniques. Ecosystems 20:1029-1041.
- Thorp, J. H., and M. D. Delong. 2002. Dominance of autochthonous autotrophic carbon in food webs on heterotrophic rivers. Oikos 96:543-550.
- Thurman, E. H. 1985. Organic Geochemistry of Natural Waters. Matinus-Nijhoff/Dr. W. Junk Publsihers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Tipping, E., C. Woof, and M. A. Hurley. 1991. Humic substances in acid surface waters; Modelling aluminium binding, contribution to ionic charge-balance, and control of pH. Water Research 25:425-435.
- Trombulak, S. C., and C. A. Frissell. 2000. Review of ecological effects of roads on terrestrial and aquatic communities. Conservation Biology 14:18-30.
- Tsui, M. T. K., and J. C. Finlay. 2011. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on methylmercury bioavailability across Minnesota stream ecosystems. Environmental Science & Technology 45:5981-5987.
- Tsui, M. T. K., J. C. Finlay, and E. A. Nater. 2009. Mercury bioaccumulation in a stream network. Environmental Science & Technology 43:7016-7022.
- Vannote, R. L., W. G. Minshall, K. W. Cummins, J. R. Sedell, and C. E. Cushing. 1980. The river continuum concept. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 37:130-137.
- Venables, W. N., and B. D. Ripley. 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with S. Fourth Edition. Springer, New York, NY.

Wallace, J. B., J. R. Webster, and W. R. Woodall. 1977. The role of filter feeders in

flowing waters. Archiv für Hydrobiologie 79:506-532.

- Walshe, B. M. Y. B. M. 1947. The oxygen requirements and thermal resistance of chironomid larvae from flowing and from still waters. The Journal of Experimental Biology 25:35-44.
- Wang, J., P. J. Edwards, and F. Wood. 2013. Turbidity and suspended-sediment changes from stream-crossing construction on a forest haul road in West Virginia, USA. International Journal of Forest Engineering 24:1-16.
- Wang, Y. V., D. M. O'Brien, J. Jenson, D. Francis, and M. J. Wooller. 2009. The influence of diet and water on the stable oxygen and hydrogen isotope composition of Chironomidae (Diptera) with paleoecological implications. Oecologia 160:225-233.
- Ward, D.M., K.H. Nislow, and C.L. Folt. 2010. Bioaccumulation syndrome: Identifying factors that make some stream food webs prone to elevated mercury bioaccumulation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1995:62-83.
- Wassenaar, L. I., and K. A. Hobson. 2003. Comparative equilibration and online technique for determination of non-exchangeable hydrogen of keratins for use in animal migration studies. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies 39:211-217.
- Webster, J. R., and J. L. Meyer. 1997. Organic Matter Budgets for Streams : A Synthesis. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 16:141-161.
- Webster, K. L., F. D. Beall, I. F. Creed, and D. P. Kreutzweiser. 2015. Impacts and prognosis of natural resource development on water and wetlands in Canada's boreal zone. Environmental Reviews 21:227-259.
- Weigel, B. M., J. Lyons, L. K. Paine, S. I. Dodson, and D. J. Undersander. 2000. Using stream macroinvertebrates to compare riparian land use practices on cattle farms in southwestern wisconsin. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 15:93-106.
- Weishaar, J. L., G. R. Aiken, B. A. Bergamaschi, M. S. Fram, R. Fujii, and K. Mopper. 2003. Evaluation of specific ultraviolet absorbance as an indicator of the chemical composition and reactivity of dissolved organic carbon. Environmental Science and Technology 37:4702-4708.
- Wiener, J. G., D. P. Krabbenhoft, G. H. Heinz, and A. M. Scheuhammer. 2003. Ecotoxicology of Mercury *in* Handbook of Ecotoxicology. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385-397.

- Wilkinson, G. M., J. J. Cole, and M. L. Pace. 2015. Deuterium as a food source tracer: Sensitivity to environmental water, lipid content, and hydrogen exchange. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 13:213-223.
- Winfrey, R., and W. M. Rudd. 1990. Formation of methylmercury in low pH lakes. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 9:853-869.
- Wipfli, M. S., J. S. Richardson, and R. J. Naiman. 2007. Ecological linkages between headwaters and downstream ecosystems: Transport of organic matter, invertebrates, and wood down headwater channels. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 43:72-85.
- Wood, C. M., H. A. Al-Reasi, and D. S. Smith. 2011. The two faces of DOC. Aquatic Toxicology 105:3-8.
- Wu, P., K. Bishop, C. von Brömssen, K. Eklöf, M. Futter, H. Hultberg, J. Martin, and S. Åkerblom. 2018. Does forest harvest increase the mercury concentrations in fish? Evidence from Swedish lakes. Science of the Total Environment 622-623:1353-1362.
- Yeung, A. C. Y., A. Lecerf, and J. S. Richardson. 2017. Assessing the long-term ecological effects of riparian management practices on headwater streams in a coastal temperate rainforest. Forest Ecology and Management 384:100-109.
- Zhang, Y., J. S. Richardson, and X. Pinto. 2009. Catchment-scale effects of forestry practices on benthic invertebrate communities in Pacific coastal streams. Journal of Applied Ecology 46:1292-1303.
- Zuur, A. F., E. N. Ieno, and G. M. Smith. 2007. Analysing Ecological Data. Springer, New York, NY.
- Zuur, A. F., E. N. Ieno, N. J. Walker, A. A. Saveliev, and G. M. Smith. 2009. Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. Springer, New York, NY.

Appendix I

A.1. Stream Temperature

Appendix Table 1: Temperature logger deployment and removal dates for every sample site in 2016.

Site Name	Temperature Logger Deployment Date	Temperature Logger Removal Date
PAN 3	01/07/2016	28/10/2016
PAN 2	01/07/2016	28/10/2016
PAN 1	01/07/2016	28/10/2016
BAT 3	01/07/2016	27/10/2016
BAT 2	01/07/2016	27/10/2016
BAT 1	01/07/2016	27/10/2016
KER 3	01/07/2016	26/10/2016
KER 2	01/07/2016	26/10/2016
KER 1	01/07/2016	25/10/2916
KER 6	01/07/2016	26/10/2016
KER 5	01/07/2016	26/10/2016
KER 4	01/07/2016	25/10/2016

Appendix Table 2: Temperature logger deployment and removal dates for every sample site in 2017.

Site Name	Temperature Logger	Temperature Logger Removal
PAN 3	06/22/2017	23/10/2017
PAN 2	06/27/2017	23/10/2017
PAN 1	06/22/2017	23/10/2017
BAT 3	06/22/2017	27/10/2017
BAT 2	06/22/2017	27/10/2017
BAT 2new*	07/21/2017	27/10/2017
BAT 1	06/22/2017	27/10/2017
KER 3	06/22/2017	25/10/2017
KER 2	06/22/2017	25/10/2017
KER 1	06/22/2017	26/10/2017
KER 6	06/22/2017	25/10/2017
KER 5	06/22/2017	26/10/2017
KER 4	06/22/2017	26/10/2017

Site Name	July Avg (± SD, °C)	July Max (°C)	July Min (°C)	July Degree Davs	Aug Avg (± SD, °C)	Aug Max (°C)	Aug Min (°C)	Aug Degree Davs	Sept Avg (± SD, °C)	Sept Max (°C)	Sept Min (°C)	Sept Degree Davs	Oct Avg (± SD, °C)	Oct Max (°C)	Oct Min (°C)	Oct Degree Davs
PAN 3	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data
PAN 2	18.47 (1.57)	21.92	14.31	572.53	18.53 (1.12)	21.51	15.99	574.67	16.75 (1.57)	20.60	13.83	572.53	11.66 (2.50)	15.80	6.41	290.67
PAN 1	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data
BAT 3	13.80 (1.25)	16.46	10.74	427.99	14.73 (0.79)	17.13	12.65	456.61	13.07 (1.34)	16.30	9.78	427.99	9.85 (1.89)	13.69	5.26	245.08
BAT 2	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data	No Data
BAT 1	16.87 (1.69)	20.70	12.82	523.11	16.25 (1.46)	20.29	12.82	503.79	14.10 (1.76)	18.46	9.71	523.11	9.87 (2.08)	13.79	4.71	245.37
KER 3	13.70 (0.91)	15.53	11.66	424.78	12.87 (1.03)	15.22	11.32	398.83	14.22 (1.37)	16.20	11.30	424.78	11.78 (1.42)	13.98	9.29	293.97
KER 2	16.40 (1.67)	20.46	12.61	508.68	16.41 (1.22)	19.10	13.21	508.76	14.43 (1.57)	18.13	10.61	508.68	10.57 (2.23)	15.15	5.28	263.15
KER 1	16.96 (1.70)	21.15	12.87	525.92	17.47 (1.53)	21.37	14.00	541.73	14.50 (1.41)	17.49	11.03	525.92	10.59 (2.20)	14.58	5.02	263.34
KER 6	17.52 (1.17)	20.08	13.76	530.79	17.25 (1.12)	20.08	13.76	534.60	15.32 (1.55)	18.58	12.03	530.79	10.91 (2.47)	15.37	4.45	271.23
KER 5	15.04 (2.30)	20.65	10.10	466.50	13.54 (2.28)	19.13	8.67	419.48	14.09 (1.87)	18.06	9.88	466.50	10.50 (2.31)	15.03	4.71	261.19
KER 4	17.59 (2.36)	23.57	12.63	545.60	17.75 (2.22)	24.12	12.92	550.46	14.24 (1.75)	17.75	9.81	545.60	10.21 (2.27)	14.53	4.71	253.94

Appendix Table 3: Monthly average (± SD), maximum, and minimum stream temperature, as well as monthly degree days, at all study sites for duration of temperature logger deployment (Appendix Table 1) in 2016. Note that no temperature data was recorded for PAN 3, PAN 1, and BAT 2 because temperature loggers were lost or dead upon retrieval.

Site Name	June Avg (± SD, °C)	June Max (°C)	June Min (°C)	June Degree Days	July Avg (± SD, °C)	July Max (°C)	July Min (°C)	July Degree Days	Aug Avg (± SD, °C)	Aug Max (°C)	Aug Min (°C)	Aug Degree Days	Sept Avg (± SD, °C)	Sept Max (°C)	Sept Min (°C)	Sept Degree Days	Oct Avg (± SD, °C)	Oct Max (°C)	Oct Min (°C)	Oct Degree Days
PAN 3	11.43 (0.89)	13.40	9.30	102.68	12.87 (1.19)	15.90	10.50	398.00	13.21 (1.15)	16.40	10.90	409.65	11.59 (1.41)	13.70	9.50	347.60	10.12 (1.41)	13.10	10.12	232.53
PAN 2	15.64 (1.11)	17.90	12.90	62.32	18.38 (1.62)	22.50	14.50	567.39	17.11 (1.56)	22.40	13.50	529.19	15.30 (2.48)	21.10	9.80	458.36	11.56 (1.86)	16.10	6.70	265.66
PAN 1	14.08 (0.96)	16.50	11.40	126.45	16.32 (1.48)	19.60	12.80	504.19	15.59 (1.41)	20.00	12.10	482.21	13.73 (2.04)	18.00	9.40	411.84	10.59 (1.78)	14.20	6.90	243.56
BAT 3	11.09 (0.77)	12.50	9.10	99.45	12.51 (0.79)	14.30	10.30	386.56	12.60 (0.96)	14.70	10.00	389.82	11.40 (1.64)	14.90	8.30	341.87	9.10 (1.70)	12.80	5.00	341.87
BAT 2	12.77 (0.92)	14.80	10.30	114.52	14.44 (1.35)	17.70	11.10	445.35	13.63 (1.22)	16.90	10.50	421.07	12.23 (1.30)	15.10	9.00	366.57	9.31 (1.61)	13.20	5.80	250.43
BAT 2new*		No data	No data	No data	16.89 (1.99)	21.70	12.80	184.44	15.58 (2.02)	21.50	10.70	480.03	13.84 (2.28)	19.50	7.80	412.15	9.67 (2.37)	16.10	4.80	258.57
BAT 1	13.40 (1.10)	15.70	10.10	120.13	15.29 (1.53)	19.10	11.70	471.09	14.24 (1.60)	18.90	10.20	439.41	12.36 (1.74)	16.50	8.10	370.21	9.19 (1.90)	13.80	5.50	246.78
KER 3	13.66 (1.02)	16.37	11.42	122.90	16.56 (1.58)	20.60	13.11	513.35	16.97 (1.37)	19.70	11.86	526.17	15.29 (1.91)	19.70	11.86	458.68	12.06 (2.07)	17.56	-2.45	297.64
KER 2	12.86 (0.89)	15.32	10.88	115.76	14.07 (1.07)	16.58	11.69	436.16	14.43 (0.88)	16.82	12.20	447.25	13.18 (1.72)	16.87	9.78	395.38	10.82 (1.44)	14.05	7.87	270.00
KER 1	13.47 (1.04)	16.42	11.05	121.23	15.28 (1.27)	18.41	12.34	473.79	15.00 (1.05)	17.58	12.39	464.97	13.46 (1.76)	17.23	9.88	403.68	10.68 (1.58)	14.03	7.34	276.92
KER 6	15.30 (1.08)	17.63	12.00	137.72	17.55 (1.84)	22.11	13.98	544.19	16.91 (1.74)	21.53	12.27	524.28	14.74 (2.29)	20.03	9.26	442.12	11.00 (2.06)	15.61	6.13	274.52
KER 5	13.79 (1.52)	17.39	10.69	124.13	15.80 (1.51)	19.89	12.80	489.86	13.12 (1.82)	17.03	8.72	477.82	13.12 (1.82)	17.03	8.72	393.75	10.08 (1.84)	14.29	5.39	260.39
KER 4	13.89 (1.26)	17.15	11.13	125.05	15.43 (1.36)	19.34	12.39	478.28	14.71 (1.05)	17.03	11.59	455.99	12.90 (1.59)	16.56	9.81	387.11	9.82 (1.64)	13.04	4.97	253.27

Appendix Table 4: Monthly average (\pm SD), maximum, and minimum stream temperature, as well as monthly degree days, at all study sites for duration of temperature logger deployment (Appendix Table 2) in 2017.



Appendix Figure 1: Mean (SD, N=3) and maximum discharge (green, maximum of singular measurements in August, September and October) for all study sites in 2017. Note that no discharge measurements were taken for site PAN 2 in August due to adverse weather conditions.

Appendix Table 5: Mean air temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) for months in which sampling took place, as obtained from Environment & Climate Change Canada's monthly climate summaries database (Sault Ste. Marie station).

Date	Air Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)
September 2016	16.2	166.0
October 2016	8.4	110.3
August 2017	16.5	122.6
September 2017	15.4	37.4
October 2017	9.5	174.0

A.3. Water Chemistry

Appendix Table 6: Water chemistry parameters measured and number of measurements for all sites excluding BAT 2new*. Some parameters have fewer measurements because they were below instrument limit of detection for certain sampling periods. Note that Cl, SRP, Cd, Ni, and Pb are not reported for any sites because they were consistently below instrument quantification limit.

	Ν	
	(number of	
Water Chemistry Parameter	measurements included	Details of N
	in average for all sites	
	besides BAT 2new*)	
pH	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Conductivity (umho/cm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Alkalinity (meq/L)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Ca (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
K (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Mg (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Na (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
SO ₄ (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
SiO ₂ (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
NO ₂ +NO ₃ (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
NH ₄ (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
TOC (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
TIC (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
TP (ppm)	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
TN (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Al (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Fe (ppm)	5	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Mn (ppm)	4	Aug & Sept 2016; Aug, Sept 2017
Zn (ppm)	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
Cu (ppm)	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017

Appendix Table 7: Water chemistry parameters measured and number of measurements for BAT 2new*. Some parameters have fewer measurements because they were below instrument limit of detection for certain sampling periods. Note that Cl, SRP, Cd, Ni, and Pb are not reported for any sites because they were consistently below instrument quantification limit.

Ν	
(number of	
measurements	Details of N
included in average	
for site BAT 2new*)	
3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
2	Aug & Sept 2017
3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
	N (number of measurements included in average for site BAT 2new*) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Site	рН	Conduc tivity (umho/c m)	Alkalini ty (meq/L)	Ca (ppm)	K (ppm)	Mg (ppm)	Na (ppm)	SO4 (ppm)	CI (ppm)	SiO2 (ppm)	NO2+N O3 (ppm)	NH4 (ppm)	T.O.C. (ppm)	T.I.C. (ppm)	SRP (ppm)	T.P. (ppm)	T.N. (ppm)	Al (ppm)	Fe (ppm)	Mn (ppm)	Zn (ppm)	Cd (ppm)	Cu (ppm)	Ni (ppm)	Pb (ppm)
												Septem	ber 2016												
PAN 3	6.40	13.36	0.06	1.76	0.24	0.24	0.47	1.66	0.10	3.86	0.04	0.02	6.81	0.73	0.00	0.01	0.39	0.21	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
PAN 2	7.00	24.00	0.16	3.21	0.30	0.49	0.67	1.88	0.16	2.97	0.02	0.01	4.71	2.18	0.00	0.01	0.25	0.05	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 1	7.08	32.50	0.22	4.64	0.35	0.73	0.84	2.19	0.21	5.71	0.04	0.01	9.13	2.83	0.00	0.01	0.40	0.14	0.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 3	6.91	30.00	0.19	3.59	0.75	0.62	1.07	1.81	0.18	7.63	0.46	0.01	6.59	2.27	0.00	0.01	0.71	0.16	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 2	7.04	30.20	0.21	3.67	0.32	0.67	0.92	2.28	0.25	7.37	0.25	0.02	3.80	2.59	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.07	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 1	6.95	25.60	0.15	3.40	0.35	0.60	0.82	2.21	0.23	5.77	0.19	0.00	6.43	1.87	0.00	0.01	0.46	0.10	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 3	7.04	24.00	0.16	3.30	0.23	0.50	0.57	2.12	0.15	1.04	0.02	0.01	2.83	2.24	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 2	7.29	48.80	0.39	7.85	0.23	0.66	0.60	2.89	0.16	3.72	0.08	0.01	5.89	4.90	0.00	0.00	0.32	0.05	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 1	7.34	52.00	0.43	8.23	0.34	0.95	0.74	2.91	0.16	4.74	0.09	0.01	5.61	5.14	0.00	0.01	0.32	0.18	0.17	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 6	7.00	30.90	0.19	4.40	0.36	0.84	0.87	2.48	0.12	4.60	0.02	0.01	13.62	2.19	0.00	0.01	0.54	0.20	0.40	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 5	7.23	45.50	0.33	6.34	0.52	1.23	1.12	2.61	0.43	6.09	0.11	0.01	10.35	4.03	0.00	0.01	0.54	0.28	0.38	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 4	7.34	55.70	0.45	7.90	0.58	1.69	1.26	2.68	0.41	6.59	0.13	0.01	9.74	5.04	0.00	0.01	0.52	0.35	0.45	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
												Octob	er 2016												
PAN 3	6.69	17.02	0.07	2.04	0.18	0.30	0.57	2.19	0.14	4.90	0.11	0.01	3.70	1.04	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.08	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 2	7.01	23.80	0.16	3.13	0.32	0.49	0.70	2.02	0.19	3.96	0.05	0.00	4.49	2.06	0.00	0.00	0.20	0.06	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 1	7.15	32.20	0.24	4.38	0.29	0.69	0.89	2.22	0.22	6.82	0.06	0.00	5.41	2.93	0.00	0.00	0.22	0.08	0.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 3	6.92	26.50	0.14	2.99	0.58	0.53	0.96	1.93	0.18	7.90	0.58	0.01	4.17	1.85	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.16	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 2	7.04	27.80	0.18	3.29	0.31	0.60	0.85	2.26	0.19	7.69	0.36	0.02	1.93	2.33	0.00	0.00	0.38	0.07	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 1	7.03	26.20	0.17	3.24	0.33	0.61	0.86	2.27	0.21	7.01	0.33	0.02	2.45	2.10	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.10	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 3	7.05	24.30	0.16	3.47	0.23	0.52	0.56	2.04	0.15	1.14	0.01	0.00	3.51	2.22	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.02	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 2	7.29	41.90	0.34	6.54	0.23	0.61	0.61	2.37	0.17	4.86	0.08	0.00	4.20	4.10	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.04	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 1	7.36	46.80	0.39	7.12	0.30	0.87	0.74	2.41	0.18	5.72	0.11	0.00	4.49	4.62	0.00	0.00	0.22	0.10	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 6	6.96	24.20	0.16	3.68	0.44	0.73	0.91	1.95	0.16	6.19	0.04	0.01	8.48	1.83	0.00	0.01	0.30	0.18	0.18	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 5	7.24	42.60	0.32	5.77	0.43	1.16	1.16	2.26	0.57	7.00	0.14	0.00	6.47	3.87	0.00	0.00	0.31	0.16	0.18	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 4	7.37	52.00	0.43	6.84	0.47	1.51	1.21	2.31	0.46	7.69	0.15	0.00	6.15	5.04	0.00	0.01	0.34	0.18	0.20	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Appendix Table 8: Raw data for water chemistry parameters for sampling in September and October 2016 and in August, September, and October 2017. Values in bold were below instrument limit of detection.

												August	2017												0
PAN 3	6.90	17.30	0.10	2.35	0.18	0.31	0.67	1.77	0.09	4.42	0.14	0.00	4.03	1.26	0.00	0.01	0.33	0.10	0.06	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 2	7.10	25.50	0.19	3.95	0.25	0.57	0.83	1.38	0.16	3.08	0.03	0.02	4.43	2.30	0.00	0.00	0.24	0.06	0.15	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
PAN 1	7.23	38.10	0.33	5.91	0.31	0.89	1.17	1.53	0.21	6.80	0.07	0.02	6.42	3.76	0.00	0.01	0.31	0.09	0.31	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
BAT 3	7.23	34.70	0.23	4.38	0.52	0.74	1.34	1.64	0.17	8.54	0.54	0.00	4.20	2.97	0.00	0.00	0.63	0.08	0.14	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 2	7.22	27.50	0.19	3.51	0.31	0.62	0.92	1.88	0.17	6.96	0.22	0.01	2.36	2.59	0.00	0.00	0.31	0.05	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 2new*	7.21	26.90	0.19	3.53	0.31	0.63	0.95	1.83	0.16	6.45	0.17	0.01	2.21	2.30	0.00	0.00	0.28	0.04	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 1	7.29	28.10	0.18	3.50	0.30	0.62	0.91	2.00	0.19	6.71	0.26	0.01	2.29	2.54	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.03	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 3	7.22	23.30	0.16	3.25	0.21	0.48	0.58	1.73	0.15	0.65	0.05	0.01	3.24	2.08	0.00	0.00	0.72	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 2	7.53	46.50	0.38	7.63	0.21	0.67	0.75	1.97	0.17	4.39	0.13	0.00	3.36	4.52	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.04	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER I	7.57	53.30	0.45	8.11	0.29	0.98	0.90	2.02	0.15	5.51	0.18	0.01	3.63	5.52	0.00	0.00	0.30	0.11	0.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 6	7.25	26.80	0.20	3.86	0.19	0.71	0.86	1.23	0.07	4.96	0.07	0.00	7.85	2.40	0.00	0.01	0.39	0.14	0.25	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 5	7.48	52.30	0.42	6.97	0.40	1.45	1.36	1.84	0.69	6.75	0.18	0.01	6.03	4.91	0.00	0.01	0.38	0.30	0.33	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 4	7.62	60.10	0.50	8.16	0.46	1.74	1.39	1.87	0.54	7.14	0.19	0.01	6.03	5.94	0.00	0.01	0.40	0.29	0.31	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
												Septembe	r 2017												
PAN 3	6.95	21.90	0.13	2.76	0.16	0.40	0.94	2.40	0.12	6.49	0.20	0.01	1.96	1.23	0.00	0.00	0.26	0.05	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 2	7.13	26.20	0.19	3.74	0.24	0.58	0.86	1.60	0.17	2.84	0.04	0.01	3.61	2.37	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.03	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 1	7.36	40.10	0.33	5.62	0.30	0.87	1.23	1.76	0.22	6.75	0.08	0.01	4.78	3.91	0.00	0.01	0.28	0.06	0.27	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 3	7.09	33.80	0.23	4.42	0.47	0.75	1.36	1.68	0.15	8.68	0.52	0.02	3.44	2.88	0.00	0.00	0.62	0.08	0.11	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT 2	7.15	28.80	0.21	3.87	0.33	0.70	1.07	2.05	0.18	7.43	0.24	0.02	1.56	2.59	0.00	0.00	0.29	0.03	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BAT	7.02	24.90	0.17	3.21	0.32	0.59	0.98	1.76	0.15	6.25	0.18	0.01	2.60	2.18	0.00	0.00	0.27	0.05	0.11	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
BAT 1	7.14	27.60	0.22	3.74	0.32	0.66	1.03	2.00	0.19	6.93	0.27	0.01	2.21	2.36	0.00	0.00	0.34	0.03	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 3	7.09	22.80	0.16	3.33	0.23	0.52	0.63	1.72	0.13	0.80	0.05	0.02	3.47	1.92	0.00	0.00	0.20	0.02	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 2	7.39	47.50	0.40	8.16	0.37	0.70	0.86	1.76	0.14	4.95	0.11	0.01	4.54	4.78	0.00	0.00	0.26	0.04	0.10	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 1	7.43	53.60	0.45	9.03	0.31	1.09	0.98	1.92	0.16	6.09	0.15	0.03	4.09	5.57	0.00	0.00	0.27	0.12	0.18	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KED 4	7 12	27.50	0.21	4.08	0.24	0.80	1.01	1.17	0.09	5 11	0.05	0.02	8 13	2.44	0.00	0.01	0.35	0.17	0.28	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 5	7.78	47.90	0.39	6.91	0.42	1.43	1.40	1.65	0.51	6.75	0.14	0.01	6.40	4.64	0.00	0.01	0.36	0.24	0.33	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
VED 4	7.54	69.20	0.62	9.40	0.59	2.18	1.75	2 19	0.73	7 87	0.23	0.01	4.42	7.01	0.00	0.01	0.39	0.42	0.43	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
											October 2017	,													
--------------	------	-------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	--------------	------	-------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------
PAN 3	6.87	17.78	0.10	2.04	0.36	0.33	0.71	2.00	0.17	4.63	0.03	0.01	3.93	1.20	0.00	0.00	0.18	0.08	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PAN 2	7.12	25.70	0.18	3.52	0.40	0.55	0.79	1.50	0.28	3.49	0.05	0.01	5.45	2.26	0.00	0.01	0.22	0.06	0.09	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
PAN 1	7.26	36.80	0.28	5.16	0.59	0.85	1.12	1.77	0.38	6.99	0.06	0.00	7.39	3.34	0.00	0.01	0.28	0.09	0.30	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
BAT 3	6.79	20.10	0.10	2.33	0.60	0.41	0.79	1.55	0.19	6.95	0.30	0.01	5.73	1.37	0.00	0.00	0.41	0.16	0.11	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
BAT 2	6.95	23.00	0.15	2.94	0.40	0.54	0.86	1.74	0.19	6.99	0.21	0.01	4.37	1.94	0.00	0.00	0.28	0.10	0.11	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
BAT 2new*	6.85	20.10	0.13	2.59	0.41	0.48	0.79	1.58	0.18	5.96	0.17	0.01	5.06	1.65	0.00	0.00	0.28	0.10	0.08	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Bat 1	7.00	21.00	0.12	2.58	0.40	0.47	0.76	1.65	0.18	5.96	0.18	0.01	4.90	1.50	0.00	0.00	0.31	0.09	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 3	7.09	24.00	0.16	3.38	0.31	0.52	0.63	1.77	0.15	1.90	0.10	0.01	4.07	2.17	0.00	0.00	0.24	0.03	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
KER 2	7.31	41.40	0.33	7.19	0.41	0.58	0.60	1.74	0.20	4.64	0.12	0.01	7.57	4.02	0.00	0.00	0.31	0.09	0.14	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
KER 1	7.39	45.50	0.37	7.41	0.45	0.83	0.76	1.86	0.20	5.56	0.15	0.01	6.34	4.42	0.00	0.01	0.30	0.18	0.17	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 6	6.84	22.30	0.14	2.92	0.65	0.60	0.84	1.43	0.24	5.62	0.09	0.01	10.16	1.43	0.00	0.01	0.37	0.19	0.24	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
KER 5	7.12	32.90	0.23	4.50	0.66	0.90	0.98	1.64	0.34	6.48	0.20	0.01	8.92	2.69	0.00	0.01	0.41	0.29	0.28	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KER 4	7.30	41.40	0.32	5.72	0.73	1.27	1.09	1.71	0.33	7.17	0.19	0.01	8.42	3.69	0.00	0.01	0.41	0.36	0.36	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00



Appendix Figure 2: Correlation matrix for all water chemistry parameters, averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=2 for all sites except BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3).

Appendix Table 9: Pearson's Correlation Coefficients among all water chemistry parameters averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=2 for all sites except BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3) and the first two Principal Component Analysis (PCA) axes (WC_PC1 and WC_PC2).

Water Chemistry Parameter	WC_PC1	WC_PC2
pH	-0.78	-0.51
Conductivity (µmho/cm)	-0.90	-0.35
Alkalinity (meq/L)	-0.88	-0.42
Ca (ppm)	-0.82	-0.50
K (ppm)	-0.73	0.61
Mg (ppm)	-0.96	-0.009
Na (ppm)	-0.79	0.53
SO ₄ (ppm)	-0.43	-0.51
SiO ₂ (ppm)	-0.49	0.61
NO_2+NO_3 (ppm)	-0.09	0.72
NH ₄ (ppm)	0.40	0.21
TOC (ppm)	-0.65	0.11
TIC (ppm)	-0.86	-0.43
TP (ppm)	-0.79	-0.003
TN (ppm)	-0.37	0.78
Al (ppm)	-0.88	0.26
Fe (ppm)	-0.89	0.17
Mn (ppm)	-0.67	0.33
Zn (ppm)	0.21	0.20
Cu (ppm)	0.04	-0.39

A.4. DOM Quality

Appendix Table 10: Raw data for DOM parameters for sampling in September and October 2016 and in August, September, and October 2017.

Site	HIX	mHIX	FI	β:α	SUVA	E2E3	SAC340					
			Septen	ıber 2016								
PAN 3	7.19	0.88	1.29	0.46	32.03	3.13	314.14					
PAN2	8.57	0.90	1.11	0.40	25.08	2.83	260.58					
PAN 1	10.63	0.91	1.25	0.38	43.98	3.39	410.71					
BAT 3	10.23	0.91	1.24	0.44	31.27	3.14	305.30					
BAT 2	8.02	0.89	1.33	0.39	23.36	2.67	255.28					
BAT 1	10.49	0.91	1.36	0.41	32.60	3.06	324.99					
KER 3	3.58	0.78	1.32	0.48	15.76	2.33	186.01					
KER 2	8.36	0.89	1.32	0.42	28.45	3.02	292.71					
KER 1	9.41	0.90	1.28	0.44	28.12	3.06	276.10					
KER 6	15.48	0.94	1.19	0.40	60.39	3.67	535.58					
KER 5	10.61	0.91	1.23	0.43	46.81	3.49	426.46					
KER 4	11.00	0.92	1.29	0.44	44.58	3.43	410.85					
October 2016												
PAN 3	8.17	0.89	1.34	0.38	19.77	2.47	228.96					
PAN 2	6.75	0.87	1.32	0.45	22.82	2.72	244.58					
PAN 1	7.88	0.89	1.26	0.44	28.58	2.95	289.62					
BAT 3	6.13	0.86	1.31	0.45	22.39	2.69	243.47					
BAT 2	7.21	0.88	1.24	0.37	15.49	2.19	195.50					
BAT 1	6.64	0.87	1.19	0.40	17.75	2.35	212.27					
KER 3	8.11	0.89	1.31	0.47	40.76	3.25	391.55					
KER 2	10.00	0.91	1.30	0.39	23.15	2.72	247.66					
KER 1	8.47	0.89	1.32	0.48	24.08	2.76	255.57					
KER 6	5.02	0.83	1.27	0.48	18.63	2.51	209.43					
KER 5	12.77	0.93	1.32	0.40	32.82	3.06	327.87					
KER 4	7.89	0.89	1.28	0.42	32.07	3.04	321.80					
			Augu	st 2017								
PAN 3	8.23	0.89	1.32	0.41	16.77	3.32	155.92					
PAN 2	6.05	0.86	1.30	0.45	18.11	3.61	157.00					

PAN 1	11.57	0.92	1.19	0.39	25.65	3.90	214.77
BAT 3	10.25	0.91	1.27	0.43	19.05	2.93	193.88
BAT 2	5.33	0.84	1.26	0.40	9.42	2.72	101.13
BAT 2new*	7.55	0.88	1.40	0.45	9.92	2.65	107.32
KER 3	6.28	0.86	1.20	0.45	11.60	3.34	102.56
KER 2	9.52	0.90	1.33	0.41	14.29	3.40	127.67
KER 1	10.85	0.92	1.25	0.43	15.30	3.39	138.28
KER 6	13.59	0.93	1.09	0.40	34.49	4.07	282.69
KER 5	12.62	0.93	1.12	0.42	25.27	3.89	211.29
KER 4	12.44	0.93	1.19	0.40	28.31	3.76	243.41
			Septen	1017 nber 2017			
PAN 3	7.31	0.88	1.33	0.35	9.60	2.80	99.59
PAN 2	6.84	0.87	1.22	0.43	14.78	3.33	133.60
PAN 1	11.52	0.92	1.27	0.39	21.64	3.71	187.57
BAT 3	7.60	0.88	1.38	0.40	13.74	3.41	126.07
BAT 2	4.32	0.81	1.32	0.41	6.32	2.37	72.59
BAT 2new*	4.54	0.82	1.40	0.43	10.86	2.96	107.21
BAT 1	4.46	0.82	1.36	0.38	10.53	2.89	106.34
KER 3	5.70	0.85	1.39	0.42	12.69	3.39	111.25
KER 2	8.87	0.90	1.20	0.39	18.27	3.75	154.83
KER 1	9.12	0.90	1.26	0.40	17.07	3.58	148.96
KER 6	13.62	0.93	1.10	0.39	34.22	3.90	290.44
KER 5	11.97	0.92	1.12	0.40	26.66	3.87	225.53
KER 4	9.41	0.90	1.28	0.41	18.63	3.56	164.95
			Octob	oer 2017			
PAN 3	6.85	0.87	1.45	0.43	14.69	3.45	133.57
PAN 2	7.64	0.88	1.31	0.43	21.76	3.82	184.14
PAN 1	9.93	0.91	1.29	0.36	31.01	3.94	262.80
BAT 3	9.37	0.90	1.26	0.39	22.79	3.94	191.21
BAT 2	6.52	0.87	1.29	0.36	19.14	3.55	170.89
BAT 2new*	6.87	0.87	1.27	0.36	20.55	3.60	181.78
BAT 1	7.28	0.88	1.28	0.39	19.13	3.62	168.66
KER 3	6.29	0.86	1.17	0.44	13.61	3.60	114.65
KER 2	9.60	0.91	1.21	0.40	30.00	4.00	248.33
KER 1	9.61	0.91	1.21	0.41	25.25	3.86	212.06
KER 6	8.92	0.90	1.22	0.35	25.28	3.83	214.56

KER 5	8.44	0.89	1.33	0.35	26.27	3.19	248.43
KER 4	7.43	0.88	1.14	0.40	34.06	4.04	281.39



Appendix Figure 3: Correlation matrix among all DOM optical properties, averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=2 for all sites except BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3).

Appendix Table 11: Pearson's Correlation Coefficients among all DOM quality optical properties averaged for all collections in 2016 (N=2 for all sites except BAT 2new*, where N=0) and 2017 (N=3) and the first two Principal Component Analysis (PCA) axes (DOM_PC1 and DOM_PC2).

DOM Quality Optical Property	DOM_PC1	DOM_PC2
HIX	0.97	0.12
mHIX	0.91	0.15
FI	-0.83	0.13
β:α	-0.19	-0.97
SUVA	0.98	-0.05
E2E3	0.90	-0.31
SAC ₃₄₀	0.98	-0.002

Appendix Table 12: Test results for significance for interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site for sediment deposition response variables excluded from results section. All variables were transformed when necessary to meet the assumption of normal distribution.

Paired- Catchment Comparison	Response Variable	Year	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Fluorescence Index (FI)	2016 and 2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.068)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.35)	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.27)
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Fluorescence Index (FI)	2016 and 2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.55$)	No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05):	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.75)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Freshness Index (β:α)	2016 and 2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.54)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.90)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.13$)
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Freshness Index (β:α)	2016 and 2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.18)	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.034: higher in KER A than KER B at upstream site (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.030))	Yes – KER A only (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p<0.05: higher upstream than middle-reach (p=0.02))

Appendix Table 13: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for β : α , as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

D	X 7 • 11	Explanatory Variables					
Kes	ponse Variable	Year	Dep				
	Slope Coefficient	-0.01	0.02				
β:α	95% Confidence Interval	-0.02 to -0.004	0.005 to 0.03				
·	Relative Variable Importance	0.19	0.08				

¹Year = year of sampling; Dep = fine, inorganic sediment deposition (g/day). ²ep highly correlated (r=-0.70) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model).

A.5. Sediment Deposition

Appendix Table 14: Average (\pm SD, N=3-7) daily deposition of coarse (1 mm to 250 µm) inorganic sediment (CIS), fine (1.5 to 250 µm) inorganic sediment (FIS), coarse organic sediment (COS), fine organic sediment (FOS), and average (\pm SD) % organic for coarse sediment (CS) and fine sediment (FS) in 2016 (including exact deployment and removal dates and number of days deployed for sediment collectors). Note than PAN 3 collectors were found to be stranded after original deployment and re-deployed at end of September.

Site Name	Deployment Date	Removal Date	# Days Deployed	Avg CIS (± SD, g/day)	Avg FIS (± SD, g/day)	Avg COS (± SD, g/day)	Avg FOS (± SD, g/day)	Avg % Organic CS (± SD)	Avg % Organic FS (± SD)
DAN 2	Sant 20, 2016	Oct 28, 2016	28	0.20	0.065	0.0070	0.0069	3.38	9.65
FAIN 5	Sept 30, 2010	001 28, 2010	28	(0.073)	(0.026)	(0.0015)	(0.0015)	(137)	(1.74)
DAN 2	Sept 10, 2016	Oct 28, 2016	40	0.36	0.040	0.0047	0.0039	1.29	8.77
I AN 2	Sept 10, 2010	001 28, 2010	49	(0.15)	(0.015)	(0.0015)	(0.0020)	(1.18)	(1.57)
PAN 1	Sept 10, 2016	Oct 28, 2016	/0	0.44	0.16	0.0039	0.0035	0.87	2.15
	Sept 10, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.30)	(0.13)	(0.0026)	(0.0025)	(0.26)	(1.43)
BAT 3	Sept 8, 2016	Oct 27, 2016	40	0.054	0.027	0.0038	0.0042	6.53	13.72
DATS	Sept 8, 2010	00127, 2010	49	(0.031)	(0.011)	(0.0018)	(0.0020)	(1.60)	(1.96)
BAT 2	Sept 8, 2016	Oct 27, 2016	40	0.018	0.017	0.0038	0.0048	17.44	22.16
DAT 2	Sept 8, 2010	00127,2010	49	(0.026)	(0.0040)	(0.0065)	(0.00088)	(15.46)	(4.78)
BAT 1	Sept 8, 2016	Oct 27, 2016	40	0.27	0.030	0.0029	0.0015	1.07	4.81
DATI	Sept 8, 2010	00127,2010	49	(0.15)	(0.015)	(0.0020)	(0.00089)	(0.39)	(0.95)
KEB 3	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.16	0.13	0.0077	0.0090	4.48	6.45
KLK 5	Sept 9, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.16)	(0.058)	(0.0023)	(0.0026)	(7.27)	(3.16)
KER 2	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.24	0.067	0.0046	0.0033	1.88	4.62
KLK 2	Sept 9, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.16)	(0.038)	(0.0038)	(0.0016)	(0.54)	(1.17)
KEP 1	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 25, 2016	46	0.39	0.19	0.0068	0.0058	1.69	2.91
KLK I	Sept 9, 2010	001 25, 2010	40	(0.050)	(0.049)	(0.0013)	(0.0019)	(2.29)	(0.54)
KER 6	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.26	0.21	0.0089	0.0055	3.26	2.48
KLK 0	Sept 9, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.12)	(0.065)	(0.011)	(0.0012)	(8.80)	(0.49)
KER 5	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.32	0.087	0.0032	0.0035	1.01	3.29
KLK J	Sept 9, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.20)	(0.049)	(0.0010)	(0.0018)	(0.65)	(1.38)
KFR 4	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 25, 2016	46	0.41	0.29	0.0061	0.0074	1.16	2.33
KER 4	Sept 9, 2010	001 23, 2010	+0	(0.19)	(0.13)	(0.00088)	(0.0041)	(0.87)	(0.42)

Appendix Table 15: Average (\pm SD, N=6) daily deposition of coarse (1 mm to 250 µm) inorganic sediment (CIS), fine (1.5 to 250 µm) inorganic sediment (FIS), coarse organic sediment (COS), fine organic sediment (FOS), and average (\pm SD) % organic content for coarse sediment (CS) and fine sediment (FS) in 2017 (including exact deployment and removal dates and number of days deployed for sediment collectors).

Site Name	Deployment Date	Removal Date	# Days Deployed	Avg CIS (± SD, g/day)	Avg FIS (± SD, g/day)	Avg COS (± SD, g/day)	Avg FOS (± SD, g/day)	Avg % Organic CS (± SD)	Avg % Organic FS (± SD)
DANG	G 0 0017	0 . 00 0017		0.024	0.012	0.0023	0.0027	20.91	1.73
PAN 3	Sept 9, 2017	Oct 23, 2017	44	(0.029)	(0.0060)	(0.00083)	(0.00060)	(18.34)	(6.49)
DANO	See 0 2017	0 + 22 2017	4.4	0.026	0.0088	0.0024	0.0029	22.14	2.46
PAN 2	Sept 9, 2017	Oct 23, 2017	44	(0.032)	(0.0028)	(0.00047)	(0.00062)	(18.07)	(3.75)
DAN 1	Samt 0, 2017	Oct 22, 2017	4.4	0.053	0.038	0.0016	0.0024	10.90	1.37
PAN I	Sept 9, 2017	Oct 23, 2017	44	(0.066)	(0.020)	(0.00049)	(0.00070)	(13.34)	(3.31)
DAT 2	Sant 11 2017	Oct 27, 2017	16	0.0044	0.0092	0.0022	0.0030	31.75	0.51
DAIS	Sept 11, 2017	00127, 2017	40	(0.0029)	(0.0023)	(0.0016)	(0.00073)	(24.62)	(0.85)
DAT 2	Sopt 11 2017	Oct 27, 2017	16	0.0044	0.0086	0.0013	0.0020	23.93	0.53
DAT 2	Sept 11, 2017	001 27, 2017	40	(0.0016)	(0.0017)	(0.00033)	(0.00093)	(7.06)	(7.41)
BAT	Sant 8 2017	Oct 27, 2017	40	0.0044	0.0041	0.00143	0.0020	38.04	0.69
2new*	Sept 8, 2017	00127, 2017	49	(0.0046)	(0.0025)	(0.0065)	(0.0011)	(3.02)	(11.81)
DAT 1	Sont 8 2017	Oct 27, 2017	40	0.23	0.029	0.0064	0.0047	2.53	7.22
DATI	Sept 8, 2017	001 27, 2017	49	(0.19)	(0.014)	(0.0065)	(0.0072)	(1.50)	(24.72)
KED 3	Sept 6, 2017	Oct 25, 2017	40	0.087	0.059	0.0083	0.0086	20.23	1.42
KEK J	Sept 0, 2017	001 25, 2017	42	(0.089)	(0.038)	(0.0038)	(0.0029)	(18.57)	(7.46)
KER 2	Sept 6, 2017	Oct 25, 2017	40	0.12	0.076	0.0034	0.0056	6.42	1.46
KLK 2	Sept 0, 2017	00125,2017	47	(0.19)	(0.039)	(0.0025)	(0.0022)	(3.74)	(1.15)
KED 1	Sept 7 2017	Oct 26, 2017	40	0.23	0.10	0.0060	0.0054	2.23	2.14
KLK I	Sept 7, 2017	001 20, 2017	42	(0.14)	(0.71)	(0.0042)	(0.0034)	(1.64)	(0.58)
KER 6	Sept 7 2017	Oct 25, 2017	48	0.21	0.096	0.0038	0.0095	2.66	2.18
KLK 0	Sept 7, 2017	00125,2017	40	(0.15)	(0.019)	(0.0017)	(0.012)	(2.13)	(12.08)
KER 5	Sept 7 2017	Oct 26, 2017	40	0.18	0.12	0.0048	0.0057	4.70	1.53
KLK J	Sept 7, 2017	001 20, 2017	47	(0.16)	(0.035)	(0.0019)	(0.0016)	(3.70)	(0.60)
KER /	Sept 12, 2017	Oct 26, 2017	44	0.46	0.18	0.0064	0.0065	1.60	2.47
KLK 4	Sept 12, 2017	001 20, 2017		(0.27)	(0.069)	(0.0030)	(0.0027)	(0.67)	(0.67)

Appendix Table 16: Test results for significance for interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site for sediment deposition response variables excluded from results section. All variables were transformed when necessary to meet the assumption of normal distribution.

Paired- Catchment Comparison	Response Variable	Year	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Coarse Sediment Deposition Per Day	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.20)	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p < 0.0001): higher PAN than BAT at middle-reach (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0006)	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p =0.001: higher downstream than upstream for PAN (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.016), higher downstream than upstream and middle-reach for BAT (p =0.033, 0.011))
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Coarse Sediment Deposition Per Day	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.95)	No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05):	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.18)
PAN _{ref} vs. BAT _{harv}	Coarse Sediment Deposition Per Day	2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0076)	No (multiple t-tests, p>0.05)	Yes - BAT only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0033: higher downstream than upstream and middle-reach (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0075, 0.0070))
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Coarse Sediment Deposition Per Day	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.50)	No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05)	Yes – KER B only (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.014$: higher downstream than middle-reach (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.025))
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{harv}	Coarse % Organic Content	2016	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0005)	Yes (higher BAT than PAN at the upstream and middle-reach sites (multiple t- tests, p =0.006, 0.012))	Yes (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0002, 0.0017: higher upstream than middle-reach and downstream for PAN (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons,

					p=0.0037, 0.0002), higher middle-reach than upstream and downstream for BAT (p =0.0211, 0.0015) Yes
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Coarse % Organic Content	2016	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0024)	Yes (higher KER A at the upstream and middle-reach sites (multiple t-tests, p=0.005, 0.014))	(one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0017: higher upstream than downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0012)) Yes – BAT only
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Coarse % Organic Content	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.15)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.25)	(two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0019: higher at upstream and middle-reach than downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0078, 0.0013))
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Coarse % Organic Content	2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0090)	No (multiple t-tests, <i>p</i> >0.05)	Yes – KER A only (one-factor ANOVA, $p=0.031$: higher upstream than downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.031))

Appendix Table 17: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for coarse inorganic sediment deposition per day, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). The conditional R² was 0.54. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables								
Response	e Variable	Voor	Sito	%	Treat	Pood	Treat:	Treat:		
		Tear	Site	EVSA	ment	Koau	Site	Year		
Coarse	Slope Coefficient	-0.76	0.84	0.43	-0.06	0.36	0.75	0.05		
Sediment	95%	-0.96	0.074	0.22.45	0.00.4-	0.92 +-	0.007	0.15.45		
Deposition	Confidence	to -	0.27 to	-0.55 to	-0.90 to	-0.82 to	-0.007	-0.15 to		
(g/day)	Interval	0.56	1.40	1.19	0.77	1.55	to 1.52	0.25		
2017	Relative Variable Importance	0.96	0.89	0.34	0.45	0.31	0.26	0.02		

¹Year = year of sampling; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % subcatchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); Treat:Site = interaction between Treatment and Site; Treat:Year = interaction between Treatment and Year.

²Site highly correlated (r=0.89) with catchment size (not included in full model); Site highly correlated (r=0.79) with Flow (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model.

Appendix Table 18: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for % organic content coarse sediment, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). The conditional R² was 0.66. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

			Explanatory Variables							
Response	e Variable	Site	Year	% EVSA	Treat ment	Road	% Leaf Lost	Treat: Site		
	Slope Coefficient	-0.82	0.56	-0.06	0.13	-0.04	0.22	-0.29		
% Organic Content of Coarse	95% Confidence Interval	-1.18 to -0.45	0.38 to 0.73	-0.53 to 0.41	-0.43 to 0.69	-0.54 to 0.46	-0.04 to 0.48	-0.75 to 0.17		
Sediment	Relative Variable Importance	0.90	0.90	0.12	0.22	0.13	0.22	0.06		

¹Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Year = year of sampling; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); % Leaf Lost = % leaf mass lost per degree day; Treat:Site = interaction between Treatment and Site. ²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.89) with catchment size (not included in full model); Site highly correlated (*r*=0.79) with Flow (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model.

A.6. Leaf Litter Decomposition

Appendix Table 19: Average (\pm SD, N=3) % leaf mass lost per degree day (DD) and average (\pm SD, N=3) leaf litter breakdown rate (K) in 2016 (including exact deployment and removal dates and number of days deployed for leaf packs). Note that because no temperature data was collected for sites PAN 3, 1 and BAT 2 in 2016, degree days at these sites was assumed to be the same as sites with the same orientation the KER reference or harvested catchments (i.e., KER 3, 1, and 5).

Site Name	Deployment Date	Removal Date	# Days Deployed	Avg % Lost (± SD, DD ⁻¹)	Avg K (± SD, DD ⁻¹)
DAN 2	Sant 20, 2016	Oat 28, 2016	20	0.057	0.00071
FAIN 5	Sept 30, 2010	001 28, 2010	28	(0.016)	(0.00026)
DAN 2	Sopt 10, 2016	Oct 28, 2016	40	0.065	0.00085
	Sept 10, 2010	00120,2010	49	(0.012)	(0.00019)
ΡΛΝ 1	Sept 10, 2016	Oct 28, 2016	49	0.048	0.00058
I AIN I	Sept 10, 2010	001 28, 2010	49	(0.026)	(0.00035)
Р Л Т 3	Sopt 8, 2016	Oct 27, 2016	40	0.090	0.0016
DATS	Sept 8, 2010	00127,2010	49	(0.014)	(0.00041)
ВАТ 2	Sept 8, 2016	Oct 27, 2016	49	0.046	0.00054
DAT 2	Sept 8, 2010	OCt 27, 2010	49	(0.014)	(0.00020)
Р АТ 1	Sopt 8, 2016	Oct 27, 2016	40	0.081	0.0011
DATI	Sept 8, 2010	00127,2010	49	(0.0034)	(0.000062)
KED 3	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.066	0.00086
KLK J	Sept 9, 2010	00120,2010	47	(0.099)	(0.00017)
KED 2	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.051	0.00061
KLK 2	Sept 9, 2010	00120,2010	47	(0.0085)	(0.00012)
KED 1	Sopt 9, 2016	Oct 25, 2016	16	0.088	0.0016
KLK I	Sept 9, 2010	001 23, 2010	40	(0.059)	(0.0016)
KED 6	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.098	0.0017
KLK 0	Sept 9, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.040)	(0.00093)
KED 5	Sopt 9, 2016	Oct 26, 2016	17	0.093	0.0013
KLK J	Sept 9, 2010	001 20, 2010	47	(0.017)	(0.00039)
KED /	Sept 9, 2016	Oct 25, 2016	16	0.063	0.00079
IXLIX 4	Sept 9, 2010	001 25, 2010	40	(0.011)	(0.00018)

Site Name	Deployment Date	Removal Date	# Days Deployed	Avg % Lost (± SD, DD ⁻¹)	Avg K (± SD, DD ⁻¹)
ΡΛΝ 3	Sept 9, 2017	Oct 23, 2017	11	0.099	0.0015
I AN 5	Sept 9, 2017	001 23, 2017		(0.048)	(0.0011)
ΡΔΝ 2	Sept 9, 2017	Oct 23, 2017	44	0.067	0.00089
	Sept 9, 2017	001 25, 2017		(0.022)	(0.00036)
ΡΔΝ 1	Sept 9, 2017	Oct 23, 2017	44	0.084	0.0012
	Sept 9, 2017	001 25, 2017		(0.031)	(0.00065)
ΒΔΤ 3	Sept 11 2017	Oct 27, 2017	46	0.11	0.0017
DAT 5	Sept 11, 2017	00127,2017	40	(0.030)	(0.00065)
ΒΔΤ 2	Sept 11 2017	Oct 27, 2017	46	0.071	0.00087
	Sept 11, 2017	00127,2017	40	(0.0076)	(0.00012)
BAT	Sept 8, 2017	Oct 27, 2017	40	0.12	0.0021
2new*	Sept 8, 2017	00127, 2017	+2	(0.010)	(0.00034)
ΒΔΤ 1	Sept 8, 2017	Oct 27, 2017	49	0.11	0.0017
	Sept 8, 2017	00127,2017	۲ ۶	(0.021)	(0.00049)
KEB 3	Sept 6, 2017	Oct 25, 2017	19	0.076	0.0011
KLK 5	Sept 0, 2017	001 25, 2017	۲ ۶	(0.0089)	(0.00019)
KFR 2	Sept 6, 2017	Oct 25, 2017	49	0.056	0.00068
KLK 2	Sept 0, 2017	001 25, 2017		(0.0055)	(0.000084)
KFR 1	Sept 7, 2017	Oct 26, 2017	49	0.067	0.00087
KLK I	Sept 7, 2017	001 20, 2017	+2	(0.0073)	(0.00012)
KED 6	Sept 7, 2017	Oct 25, 2017	18	0.078	0.0011
KER 0	Sept 7, 2017	00125, 2017	40	(0.019)	(0.00041)
KED 5	Sept 7, 2017	Oct 26, 2017	49	0.070	0.00091
KLK J	Sept 7, 2017	001 20, 2017	+9	(0.013)	(0.00021)
KER /	Sept 12, 2017	Oct 26, 2017	44	0.11	0.0020
KLK 4	Sept 12, 2017	001 20, 2017		(0.052)	(0.0015)

Appendix Table 20: Average (\pm SD, N=3) % leaf mass lost per degree day (DD) and average (\pm SD, N=3) leaf litter breakdown rate (K) in 2017 (including exact deployment and removal dates and number of days deployed for leaf packs).

Appendix Table 21: Test results for significance for interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site for leaf litter decomposition response variables excluded from results section. All variables were transformed when necessary to meet the assumption of normal distribution.

Paired- Catchment Comparison	Response Variable	Year	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Leaf Litter Breakdown Rate	2016	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0078)	No (multiple t-tests, <i>p</i> >0.05)	Yes – BAT only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0088: higher upstream than middle-reach (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0071))
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Leaf Litter Breakdown Rate	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.17)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.55)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.81)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{harv}	Leaf Litter Breakdown Rate	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.41)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.079)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.91)
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Leaf Litter Breakdown Rate	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.32)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.0.15)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.26)

Appendix Table 22: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for leaf breakdown rate, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). The conditional R² was 0.32. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

Response Variable			Explanatory Variables									
		Year	DOM_	Treat	Shred	Dep	DOM_	Site	%			
			PC2	ment	ders	- •r	PC1		EVSA			
	Slope Coefficient	0.16	-0.13	0.16	0.14	-0.06	-0.05	-0.04	-0.005			
Leaf Breakdown Rate	95% Confidence Interval	0.03 to 0.30	-0.27 to 0.006	0.04 to 0.29	-0.01 to 0.30	-0.24 to 0.11	-0.21 to 0.14	-0.17 to 0.09	-0.14 to 0.13			
	Relative Variable Importance	0.46	0.16	0.16	0.14	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.02			

¹Year = year of sampling; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Shredders = % of invertebrates with shredding feeding strategy; Dep = fine, inorganic sediment deposition per day; Site2: site name as a category (as fixed effect); DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area. ²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.86) with catchment size (not included in full model); % EVSA highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with Flow (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.78) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and DOM_PC2 highly correlated (*r*=-0.68, -0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full model; Road and Dep had high VIFs (>4), so Road removed from full model.

A.7. Leaf Litter Macroinvertebrates

Appendix Table 23: Complete list and average counts (N=3) of invertebrates identified in leaf packs in 2016.

ORDER	FAMILY	GENERA (etc.)	SPECIES (etc.)	PAN 3	PAN 2	PAN 1	BAT 3	BAT 2	BAT 1
Ephemeroptera	Baetidae	Baetis	early instar	0	0	0	0	0	0
			broken	0	4.00	3.67	0	15.00	2.33
			amplus	0	0	0	0	0	2.00
			brunniecolour	0	0	0	0	1.33	1.00
			flavistriga	0	0	0	0	0.33	0
	Caenidae	Caenis		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Ephemerellidae	Immature		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Ephemerella		0	1.67	1.33	0	0.67	11.67
		Eurylophella	funeralis	1.33	2.67	1.67	1.67	6.67	2.33
			versimilus	0	1	9	0.33	14.33	0.33
	Heptageniidae	Broken		0	0	0.33	0	0.33	0
		Epeorus		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Stenacron		0	0	0.33	0	0	0
		Stenonema		0	0	0.33	0	1.33	0
		Heptagenia		0	0	0	0	0.33	0.33
		Rhithrogena		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Leptophlebidae	Early instar		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Broken		0	2	1	0	0.67	0.67
		Habrophlebia		0	8	3	0	1	0.33
		Leptophlebia		0	1.33	4	0	1.67	0
		Paraleptophlebia		0	4.33	9.67	0	0.67	8.67
	Ephemeridae	Litobrancha		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Ephemera		0	0	1.33	0	0	0
Plecoptera	Pteronarcyidae	Pteronarcys		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Perlidae	Acroneuria		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Taeniopterygidae	Taeniopteryx		0	0.33	0	0	1.67	0
	Nemouridae	Nemoura		0	0.33	1.67	0.33	0.67	4
	Chloroperlidae	Broken		0	0	0	0	0	0.33
		Alloperla		4.33	0.67	0	1	0.67	3.67
		Suwalia / Sweltsa		1	0.33	0	0.67	0	2

	Perlodidae	Broken or		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Immature							
		Isoperla		0	2	2.67	0	1.67	5.67
	Capniidae	Paracapnia		0	3.67	8.00	0	1.67	4.33
	Leuctridae	Leuctra		1	7	2.33	1	5.33	2.67
Trichoptera	Leptoceridae	Trianeodes		0	1	0.33	0	0	0
1		Oecetis		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hydroptillidae	Hydroptila		0	0	0.67	0	0	0
	•	Öxyethira		0	0	0.67	0	20	0
	Polycentropodida	Nyctiophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
	e								
		Polycentropus		0.33	1.33	0.67	0.33	0	0
	Philopotamidae	Dolophilodes		0	0.33	0	0	0	0
	Glossomatidae	Glossosoma		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Lepidostomatidae	Lepidostoma		6	8.33	8.33	71.33	12.00	25.67
	Limnephillidae	Broken or Early		0	0	0.67	0.33	0	0.67
		Instar							
		Hydatophylax		0	0	0.33	0	1.33	0
		Hesperophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Dipseudopsidae	Phylocentropus		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Uenoidae	Neophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hydropsychidae	Hydropsyche		0	0.33	0.33	0	1.00	0
		Parapsche		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Diplectrona		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Cheumatopsyche		0	0	0	0	0.33	0
	Rhyacophilidae	Rhyacophila	fuscula	0	0	0	0	0.33	0
			carolina	0	0.33	0.33	0	0	1.00
			invaria	0	0.33	0	0.67	0	0.33
	Phryganeidae	Oligostomis		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Ptilostomis		0	0.33	0	0	0	0
Diptera	Chironomidae	Pupae		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Tanytarsini		4.33	29.00	56.67	24.33	45.67	84.00
		Tanipodinae		0	11.00	18.33	1.33	17.00	10.67
		Other		20.67	32.00	38.00	16.67	64.00	31.33
	Ceratopogonidae			0	4.00	5.33	2.00	0.67	6.33
	Empididae	Chelifera		0	0	0	0	0.67	0
		Clinocera		0	0	0	0	0	0

		Oreogeton	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Other	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Simuliidae	Pupae	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Prosimulium	0	1.33	0	0	0	0
		Simulium	0	0	0.67	0	0.33	0
	Tabanidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Tipulidae	Dicranota	0	0.67	0	0.33	1.00	3.67
		Dolichopodidae	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Antocha	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Hexatoma	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Limnophila	0	0	1.00	0	0	0
		Molophilus	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Holorusia	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Pedicia	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Tipula	1.33	0.67	1.00	0.33	0.33	0.67
		Pilaria	0	0.67	0	0	0	0
Odonata	Gomphidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Aeshnidae	Boyeria	0	0.33	0.33	0	0	0
	Cordulegastridae	Cordulegaster	0	0	0.33	0	0	0
Annelida	Oligochaeta		1.33	21.33	21.33	3.00	1.67	21.33
	Hirudinea		0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	Elmidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Dytiscidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
Megaloptera	Sialidae	Sialis	0	0	0	0	0	0
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	Gammarus	0	0.33	0	0	0	0

ORDER	FAMILY	GENERA (etc.)	SPECIES (etc.)	KER 3	KER 2	KER 1	KER 6	KER 5	KER 4
Ephemeroptera	Baetidae	Baetis	early instar	0					
			broken	2.00	5.50	16.00	9.00	13.00	17.33
			amplus	0	4.00	0	2.00	4.00	2.00
			brunniecolour	0	0	0	0	0	0
			flavistriga	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Caenidae	Caenis		0	0	0	0	1.00	10.67
	Ephemerellidae	Immature		1.00	0	1.00	0	0	0
		Ephemerella		1.00	6.00	0	2.50	11.00	10.50

			versimilus	0	0	0	7.67	3.50	0
	Heptageniidae	Broken		0	1	0	0	0	2.00
		Epeorus		0	1	0	0	0	0
		Stenacron		0	0	0	1.00	0	0
		Stenonema		0	2	3.00	3.00	2.00	8.67
		Heptagenia		0	1	0	0	1.00	0
		Rhithrogena		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Leptophlebidae	Early instar		2.00	1	2.00	0	0	0
		Broken		5.67	0	2.00	2.33	1.00	1.00
		Habrophlebia		2.67	0	0	2.00	0	0
		Leptophlebia		0	0	0	200	2.00	0
		Paraleptophlebia		1.00	6.67	2.50	1.67	5.50	33.50
	Ephemeridae	Litobrancha		0	0	1.00	0	1.00	0
		Ephemera		0	0	0	0	0	0
Plecoptera	Pteronarcyidae	Pteronarcys		0	0	2.00	0	0	0
	Perlidae	Acroneuria		0	1.00	1.00	0	0	0
	Taeniopterygidae	Taeniopteryx		2.00	5.50	1.00	6.00	2.50	5.00
	Nemouridae	Nemoura		0	0	1.00	7.00	5.67	2.67
	Chloroperlidae	Broken		1.00	0	0	0	0	0
		Alloperla		0	0	0	0	1.00	0
		Suwalia / Sweltsa		2.00	1.33	2.67	1.00	0	0
	Perlodidae	Broken or		1.00	1.50	5.00	0	0	0
		Immature							
		Isoperla		1.00	7.50	2.00	3.33	3.00	3.67
	Capniidae	Paracapnia		5.00	9.67	3.00	34.33	17.00	20.33
	Leuctridae	Leuctra		4.33	7.00	8.50	9.00	15.50	5.00
Trichoptera	Leptoceridae	Trianeodes		1.50	0	0	0	0	0
		Oecetis		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hydroptillidae	Hydroptila		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Oxyethira		1.00	1.00	1.00	0	2.00	0
	Polycentropodida	Nyctiophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
	e								
		Polycentropus		0	1.00	0	0	0	0
	Philopotamidae	Dolophilodes		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Glossomatidae	Glossosoma		1.00	0	0	0	0	1.00
	Lepidostomatidae	Lepidostoma		8.67	5.33	5.67	2.00	20.50	3.50

Lininepinindae Bioken of Early 0 1.00 0 0	0	0
Instar Hydatophylar 200 0 100 0	0	0
Hyddiophylax = 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0	0
Dinseudonsidae Phylocentronus 300 0 0	0	0
Uenoidae Neonbular 0 0 0	0	1.00
Hydronsychidae Hydronsycha 0 100 0 0	0	1.00
Paranscha 0 1.00 0	0	1.00
Diplectrong 0 0 0	0	1.00
Cheumatonsyche 0 0 100 0	0	7.00
Rhyaconhilidae Rhyaconhila fuscula 0 0 0 0	0	1.00
carolina 0 0 0	0	1.00
invaria 100 100 200	0	3.00
Phryganeidae Oligostomis 0 0 1.00 2.00	0	1.00
Ptilostomis 0 0 0 0	0	1.00
Diptera Chironomidae Punge 0 0 0 0	0	0
<i>Tapytarsini</i> 77.33 32.67 26.00 27.33	17 33	28.00
Taninodinae 25.00 5.00 17.00 9.33	6.67	13.00
$\begin{array}{c} 1000000000000000000000000000000000000$	19.00	18.00
Ceretonogonidae $13.00 2.00 1.00 3.00$	2 00	167
Empididae Chalifara 0 0 0 0	2.00	1.07
Clinocera 0 0 0	0	0
Oregation = 0 = 0 = 0 = 0	0	0
$\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 $	0	0
$\mathbf{Simuliidae} \qquad \mathbf{Punae} \qquad 0 \qquad 0 \qquad 0 \qquad 0$	0	0
Prosimulium 0 100 0 0	2 00	1.00
$\frac{100}{\text{Simultum}}$	1.00	1.00
Tahanidae 0 0 0	0	0
Tipulidae Dicranota 100 100 400 0	1 50	2 50
Dolichopodidae	0	2.50
Antocha 0 0 0	0	1.00
Heratoma 100 0 0	0	0
$Limnonhila \qquad 3.00 \qquad 0 \qquad 2.50 \qquad 0$	0	0
Molonhilus 0 0 0	0	0
Holorusia 0 0 0	0	0
Pedicia 0 0 0	0	0
Tinula 2.00 1.00 3.67 1.00	Ő	2.00

		Pilaria	0	0	0	0	0	0
Odonata	Gomphidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Aeshnidae	Boyeria	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Cordulegastridae	Cordulegaster	2.00	2.00	5.00	5.67	0	2.00
Annelida	Oligochaeta	-	18.00	4.67	17.33	0	10.00	17.33
	Hirudinea		0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	Elmidae		0	0	1.00	2.00	0	1.00
-	Dytiscidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
Megaloptera	Sialidae	Sialis	0	0	0	0	0	1.00
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	Gammarus	0	0	0	0	1.00	1.00

ODDED	FAMIL V	GENERA	SPECIES	PAN	PAN	PAN	BAT	BAT	BAT	BAT
OKDEK		(etc.)	(etc.)	3	2	1	3	2	2*new	1
Ephemeroptera	Baetidae	Baetis	early instar	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			broken	9.67	7.00	13.67	2.00	14.67	13.00	5.33
			amplus	0	0	1.00	2.00	5.67	2.00	3.33
			brunniecol	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			our							
			flavistriga	0	0	0	0	0	1.00	0
	Caenidae	Caenis		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Ephemerellidae	Immature		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Ephemerella		0	2.50	6.00	6.00	7.00	3.33	16.00
		Eurylophella	funeralis	8.00	4.00	1.50	1.00	4.67	1.00	7.00
			versimilus	0	1.00	2.00	0	8.33	1.00	1.00
	Heptageniidae	Broken		0	0	1.00	0	0	0	0
		Epeorus		0	0	0	0	0	3.00	0
		Stenacron		0	1.00	2.00	0	0	0	0
		Stenonema		0	1.50	1.67	0	4.00	3.67	1.50
		Heptagenia		0	0	2.00	0	0	0	0
		Rhithrogena		0	0	0	0	0	0	1.00
	Leptophlebidae	Early instar		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Broken		0	1.50	0	0	0	3.00	1.00
		Habrophlebia		0	4.50	0	0	0	1.00	0
		Leptophlebia		7.00	700	1.00	1.00	12.00	3.00	2.00
		Paraleptophlebia		0	6.33	54.00	0	2.00	5.00	10.00
	Ephemeridae	Litobrancha		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Ephemera		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Plecoptera	Pteronarcyidae	Pteronarcys		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Perlidae	Acroneuria		0	0	1.00	0	0	0	0
	Taeniopterygidae	Taeniopteryx		0	0	6.00	1.00	4.50	1.00	2.50
	Nemouridae	Nemoura		1.67	1.50	10.50	1.00	2.50	2.33	6.50
	Chloroperlidae	Broken		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Alloperla		0	0	0	0	0	1.00	1.00
		Suwalia / Sweltsa		8.00	0	0	2.00	1.00	0	5.67
	Perlodidae	Broken or Immature		0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix Table 24: Complete list and average counts (N=3) of invertebrates identified in leaf packs in 2017.

		Isoperla		0	1.00	0	0	4.50	4.50	5.67
	Capniidae	Paracapnia		1.00	1.33	33.33	0	3.33	2.00	3.33
	Leuctridae	Leuctra		1.00	2.00	2.00	3.00	6.67	1.00	0
Trichoptera	Leptoceridae	Trianeodes		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
L.	1	Oecetis		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hydroptillidae	Hydroptila		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Öxyethira		0	0	0	0	1.00	0	0
	Polycentropodida	Nyctiophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	e									
		Polycentropus		2.50	2.00	4.00	3.50	0	0	0
	Philopotamidae	Dolophilodes		0	1.00	0	0	0	0	0
	Glossomatidae	Glossosoma		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Lepidostomatidae	Lepidostoma		22.33	109.00	47.33	87.00	36.00	33.33	37.33
	Limnephillidae	Broken or Early		2.00	1.00	13.33	2.00	3.67	0	0
	-	Instar								
		Hydatophylax		2.00	3.00	7.00	4.00	19.67	1.00	1.33
		Hesperophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Pseudostenophylax		0	0	0	3.00	0	0	0
	Dipseudopsidae	Phylocentropus		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Molandidae	Molanna		0	0	0	0	3.00	0	0
	Uenoidae	Neophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hydropsychidae	Hydropsyche		0	0	0	0	3.00	2.00	0
		Parapsyche		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Diplectrona		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Cheumatopsyche		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Rhyacophilidae	Rhyacophila	fuscula	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			carolina	0	0	1.00	0	0	0	1.00
			invaria	2.00	1.00	0	0	3.00	1.00	0
	Phryganeidae	Oligostomis		1.00	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Ptilostomis		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Diptera	Chrionomidae	Pupae		0	0	0	0	1.00	0	0
		Tanytarsini		154.67	167.33	899.33	128.33	172.33	35.67	68.33
		Tanipodinae		46.00	46.67	143.33	54.67	40.33	14.00	7.67
		Other		129.67	166.67	798.33	130.67	281.33	91.33	53.67
	Ceratopogonidae			0	1.00	11.50	2.00	1.00	0	3.50
	Empididae	Chelifera		0	0	0	0	3.33	1.00	0
		Clinocera		0	0	0	1.00	0	0	0

		Oreogeton	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Other	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Simulidae	Pupae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Prosimulium	1.00	0	1.00	0	0	19.50	6.67
		Simulium	0	0	0	0	1.00	20.00	0
	Tabanidae		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Tipulidae	Dicranota	2.00	0	0	0	4.50	0	4.00
	-	Dolichopodidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Antocha	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Hexatoma	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Limnophila	0	1.00	0	0	0	0	0
		Molophilus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Holorusia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Pedcia	1.00	0	0	0	0	0	1.00
		Tipula	1.00	2.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0	1.50
		Pilaria	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Odonata	Gomphidae		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Aeshnidae	Boyeria	0	1.00	0	0	1.00	1.00	0
	Cordulegastridae	Cordulegaster	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Cordullidae		0	0	0	0	0	0	1.00
Annelida	Oligochaeta		1.00	0	16.33	18.33	2.50	0	5.00
	Hirudinea		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	Elmidae		0	0	1.00	0	1.00	0	1.00
	Dytiscidae		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Megaloptera	Sialidae	Sialis	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	Gammarus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera	Coenagrionidae		0	0	0	0	0	0	0

ORDER	FAMILY	GENERA (etc.)	SPECIES (etc.)	KER 3	KER 2	KER 1	KER 6	KER 5	KER 4
Ephemeroptera	Baetidae	Baetis	early instar	0	0	0	0	0	0
			broken	3.00	3.00	10.00	11.33	23.00	9.50
			amplus	2.00	1.00	4.00	4.00	6.00	22.67
			brunniecol	0	0	1.00	0	0	0
			our						

			flavistriga	1.00	0	0	0	2.00	1.00
	Caenidae	Caenis		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Ephemerellidae	Immature		3.50	0	0	0	1.00	0
		Ephemerella		8.67	6.00	9.67	10.00	14.00	17.00
		Eurylophella	funeralis	10.17	13.33	2.50	23.67	9.00	3.00
		× 1	versimilus	0	1.33	1.00	5.67	7.67	2.00
	Heptageniidae	Broken		0	1.50	3.00	2.00	0	2.00
	1 0	Epeorus		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Stenacron		0	0	0	0	0	1.00
		Stenonema		0	2.00	1.50	6.67	5.00	3.33
		Heptagenia		0	1.00	1.00	3.00	1.00	0
		Rhithrogena		0	0	0	0	0	1.50
	Leptophlebidae	Early instar		0	0	2.50	0	1.00	0
		Broken		1.00	0	0	1.33	1.00	2.33
		Habrophlebia		2.00	1.00	0	3.00	0	0
		Leptophlebia		51.00	6.33	2.00	3.33	2.50	4.33
		Paraleptophlebia		3.00	2.67	7.33	20.00	3.67	13.33
	Ephemeridae	Litobrancha		0	2.00	0	2.00	5.00	2.00
		Ephemera		0	0	0	0	0	0
Plecoptera	Pteronarcyidae	Pteronarcys		0	0	0	0	0	0
-	Perlidae	Acroneuria		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Taeniopterygidae	Taeniopteryx		0	0	4.50	3.00	2.00	1.50
	Nemouridae	Nemoura		1.67	2.00	5.00	9.00	11.00	3.33
	Chloroperlidae	Broken		0	0	0	0	0	0
	-	Alloperla		1.00	1.67	2.67	0	0	0
		Suwalia / Sweltsa		3.50	5.00	3.50	1.00	2.00	0
	Perlodidae	Broken or Immature		0	0	0	0	0	0
		Isoperla		4.00	4.00	2.50	5.67	3.67	3.50
	Capniidae	Paracapnia		5.00	3.67	17.67	8.33	19.67	14.33
	Leuctridae	Leuctra		5.00	7.67	13.67	4.67	20.00	10.50
Trichoptera	Leptoceridae	Trianeodes		1.50	0	0	0	0	0
-	-	Oecetis		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hydroptillidae	Hydroptila		0	0	0	0	0	0
	• •	Oxyethira		0	0	0	0	1.00	0
	Polycentropodida	Nyctiophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
	e								
		Polycentropus		1.00	0	1.00	0	1.00	0

Philopotamidae	Dolophilodes		0	0	0	1.00	0	0
Glossomatidae	Glossosoma		0	0	0	1.00	1.00	0
Lepidostomatidae	Lepidostoma		17.67	35.67	15.00	20.67	37.67	6.50
Limnephillidae	Broken or Early		0	0	1.00	0	0	0
-	Instar							
	Hydatophylax		0	3.50	1.00	5.67	3.00	2.00
	Hesperophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Pseudostenophylax		0	0	0	0	0	0
Dipseudopsidae	Phylocentropus		1.00	0	0	0	0	0
Molandidae	Molanna		0	0	0	3.00	2.00	
Uenoidae	Neophylax		0	0	0	2.50	0	0
Hydropsychidae	Hydropsyche		0	0	2.00	2.50	0	15.67
	Parapsyche		0	0	0	0	0	1.00
	Diplectrona		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Cheumatopsyche		1.50	0	0	0	0	2.00
Rhyacophilidae	Rhyacophila	fuscula	0	0	0	0	0	1.00
		carolina	1.00	1.00	1.00	0	0	0
		invaria	1.00	0	2.50	2.50	1.50	1.50
Phryganeidae	Oligostomis		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Ptilostomis		0	0	0	0	0	0
Chironomidae	Pupae		0	0	0	1.00	0	1.00
	Tanytarsini		578.67	255	151.67	228.33	142.67	75.00
	Tanipodinae		108.00	77.67	34.33	56.00	79.33	37.50
	Other		321.67	256.33	304.00	395.00	326.00	204.33
Ceratopogonidae			6.67	1.67	3.50	0	2.00	1.50
Empididae	Chelifera		2.00	0	1.33	9.00	6.00	1.50
L.	Clinocera		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Oreogeton		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Other		0	0	0	0	1.00	0
Simuliidae	Pupae		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Prosimulium		1.00	1.00	2.50	1.00	1.00	63.50
	Simulium		1.67	0	1.00	2.00	0	2.00
Tabanidae			0	0	0	0	0	0
Tipulidae	Dicranota		1.00	3.00	6.33	4.00	1.50	2.00
1	Dolichopodidae		0	1.00	0	0	0	0
	Antocha		0	0	0	0	0	0
			1					

Diptera

		Limnophila	0	0	1.00	2.00	1.00	2.00
		Molophilus	1.00	0	0	0	0	0
		Holorusia	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Pedicia	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Tipula	3.67	0	1.00	1.00	2.00	0
		Pilaria	0	0	0	0	0	0
Odonata	Gomphidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
	Aeshnidae	Boyeria	0	0	0	0	1.00	0
	Cordulegastridae	Cordulegaster	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Cordullidae	-	0	0	0	1.00	0	0
Annelida	Oligochaeta		18.00	10.00	10.33	5.00	9.50	5.50
	Hirudinea		0	0	0	0	1.00	0
Coleoptera	Elmidae		0	0	1.00	3.00	2.00	3.00
-	Dytiscidae		0	0	0	0	0	0
Megaloptera	Sialidae	Sialis	0	0	1.00	0	0	0
Amphipoda	Gammaridae	Gammarus	0	0	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera	Coenagrionidae		0	0	0	1.00	0	0

Appendix Table 25: Average (± SD, N=3) abundance (Ab), taxonomic richness (TR), % Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera (% EPT), % shredders (% Sh), % Chironomidae (% Ch), Margalef's Richness (MR), and Shannon's Diversity Index (SDI) for invertebrate separated from leaf packs in 2016. See Appendix Table 18 above for deployment and removal dates of leaf packs.

Site Name	Avg Ab (± SD)	Avg TR (± SD)	Avg % EPT (± SD)	Avg % Sh (± SD)	Avg % Ch (± SD)	Avg MR (± SD)	Avg SDI (± SD)
DAN 2	41.67	7.00	33.30	21.06	61.03	1.59	1.65
PAN 3	(11.06)	(2.65)	(3.64)	(10.49)	(8.35)	(0.62)	(0.46)
DANO	153.00	22.33	34.30	10.64	48.53	4.26	2.12
PAN 2	(37.80)	(4.16)	(10.64)	(1.80)	(18.44)	(0.74)	(0.29)
DAN 1	205.67	22.00	32.36	11.95	52.43	3.96	2.62
PAN I	(45.35)	(2.00)	(13.02)	(8.11)	(18.95)	(0.41)	(0.34)
DAT 2	125.67	10.00	51.16	57.48	34.46	1.86	1.34
BAI 3	(37.86)	(3.61)	(19.99)	(4.81)	(4.93)	(0.69)	(0.24)
	222.33	22.33	41.50	10.53	56.41	3.96	2.10
BAI 2	(23.03)	(3.51)	(8.45)	(2.80)	(8.13)	(0.73)	(0.16)
D A TT 1	238.00	20.33	29.74	19.71	55.54	3.52	2.42
BALI	(66.57)	(6.03)	(21.01)	(3.07)	(13.94)	(0.94)	(0.42)
KED 2	254.33	21.67	19.98	9.58	63.92	3.86	2.10
KER 3	(135.40)	(1.15)	(5.85)	(2.28)	(11.19)	(0.46)	(0.21)
KED 0	143.33	20.67	45.29	19.69	49.98	3.98	2.33
KER 2	(31.77)	(1.53)	(23.69)	(8.93)	(21.00)	(0.32)	(0.37)
KED 1	133.33	20.00	27.09	19.83	33.81	4.15	2.32
KEK I	(147.55)	(7.55)	(3.67)	(8.52)	(23.77)	(0.70)	(0.12)
	161.33	19.00	48.56	25.92	45.81	3.60	2.28
KEK 0	(97.90)	(4.58)	(13.65)	(15.41)	(12.31)	(0.45)	(0.07)
VED 5	141.33	18.33	62.13	34.14	30.91	3.53	2.43
KER 5	(56.58)	(2.89)	(16.07)	(8.40)	(7.73)	(0.26)	(0.05)
	193.67	22.00	56.45	23.65	29.96	4.11	2.54
KER 4	(185.65)	(10.58)	(3.74)	(10.43)	(8.70)	(1.20)	(0.19)

Site Name	Avg Ab (± SD)	Avg TR (± SD)	Avg % EPT (± SD)	Avg % Sh (± SD)	Avg % Ch (± SD)	Avg MR (± SD)	Avg SDI (± SD)
DAN 2	393.67	13.67	17.22	7.82	82.26	2.15	1.55
PAN 3	(187.36)	(0.58)	(10.13)	(5.01)	(9.99)	(0.14)	(0.27)
DANO	536.67	19.00	17.57	19.44	72.35	2.89	1.64
PAN 2	(237.65)	(1.73)	(18.17)	(13.39)	(11.17)	(0.12)	(0.02)
DAN 1	2039.33	19.33	25.07	18.99	73.77	2.83	1.72
PAN I	(3028.73)	(4.51)	(26.04)	(20.46)	(25.57)	(0.59)	(0.53)
DAT 2	442.33	14.00	24.12	21.34	71.40	2.14	1.63
DAIS	(32.33)	(1.00)	(13.17)	(12.75)	(11.44)	(0.19)	(0.11)
DAT 2	635.67	23.00	20.83	12.05	77.44	3.43	1.75
BAT 2	(121.59)	(3.46)	(1.77)	(2.40)	(2.69)	(0.63)	(0.06)
BAT	243.00	18.67	34.90	15.80	57.19	3.23	1.76
2new*	(36.37)	(3.21)	(11.43)	(4.98)	(16.41)	(0.63)	(0.07)
DAT 1	256.67	23.67	42.22	20.48	48.95	4.09	1.98
DALL	(79.19)	(4.16)	(2.67)	(5.56)	(8.07)	(0.52)	(0.27)
VED 2	1156.00	26.00	10.27	3.05	69.01	3.57	2.30
KEK 3	(483.44)	(3.61)	(2.39)	(1.13)	(48.31)	(0.51)	(0.08)
VED 2	691.67	22.33	13.58	7.38	84.31	3.29	1.49
KEK 2	(222.98)	(2.08)	(4.21)	(1.04)	(4.71)	(0.39)	(0.10)
KED 1	619.00	28.00	23.65	12.88	71.37	4.35	1.62
KLK I	(377.21)	(4.36)	(17.38)	(10.33)	(20.21)	(0.52)	(0.10)
VED 6	836.00	28.33	17.05	5.91	80.98	4.10	1.88
KEK U	(418.57)	(3.21)	(2.89)	(2.11)	(2.64)	(0.22)	(0.51)
VED 5	718.00	24.33	28.06	17.78	70.33	3.72	1.73
KEK J	(690.69)	(8.50)	(14.79)	(13.53)	(13.31)	(0.63)	(0.12)
	484.67	26.33	33.46	7.27	49.43	4.18	1.88
KER 4	(351.90)	(6.03)	(15.32)	(4.19)	(29.50)	(0.70)	(0.08)

Appendix Table 26: Average (± SD, N=3) abundance (Ab), taxonomic richness (TR), % Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera (% EPT), % shredders (% Sh), % Chironomidae (% Ch), Margalef's Richness (MR), and Shannon's Diversity Index (SDI) for invertebrate separated from leaf packs in 2017. See Appendix Table 19 above for deployment and removal dates of leaf packs.

Appendix Table 27: Test results for significance for interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site for leaf litter macroinvertebrate response variables excluded from results section. All variables were transformed when necessary to meet the assumption of normal distribution.

Paired- Catchment Comparison	Response Variable	Year	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.48)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.29)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.42)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	% Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.67)	No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, <i>p</i> >0.05)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.075)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.80) No	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.081)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.37)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	⁷⁰ Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera	2017	(two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> - =0.84)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.079)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.12)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Margalef's Richness	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.93)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.54)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.25)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Margalef's Richness	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.88)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.61)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.37)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Margalef's Richness	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.059)	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.022$: higher for BAT than PAN at the downstream site (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0071))	Yes – BAT only (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0005: higher middle-reach and downstream than upstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.022, 0.0003))
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Margalef's Richness	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.48)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.31)	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.075) Yes
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Shannon's Diversity Index	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.76)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.28)	(two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0007: higher downstream than upstream for PAN (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.010) and

					middle-reach and downstream than upstream (p=0.041, 0.005)
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	Shannon's Diversity Index	2016	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.87)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.10)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.13)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Shannon's Diversity Index	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.83)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.25)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.28)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Shannon's Diversity Index	2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.037)	No (multiple t-tests, <i>p</i> >0.05)	Yes – KER A only (one-factor ANOVA, p<0.0001: higher upstream than middle-reach and downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0001, 0.0003)

Appendix Table 28: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for % Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera (EPT) in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c<7). The conditional R² in 2016 and 2017 were 0.73 and 0.33, respectively. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

Response Variable		Explanatory Variables								
		Treat ment	DOM_ PC2	Road	% Organi c	% EVSA	Site	DOM_ PC1	Treat: Site	
% EPT 2016	Slope Coefficient	0.32	0.16	0.15	0.09	-0.05	-0.05			
	95% Confidence Interval	-0.07 to 0.72	-0.13 to 0.46	-0.16 to 0.46	-0.25 to 0.43	-0.35 to 0.24	-0.33 to 0.23			
	Relative Variable Importance	0.26	0.10	0.09	0.06	0.05	0.05			
% EPT 2017	Slope Coefficient	0.36	0.20	-0.15		-0.27	0.28	-0.09	0.22	
	95% Confidence Interval	0.06 to 0.66	-0.09 to 0.50	0.50 to 0.20		-0.57 to 0.03	-0.002 to 0.56	-0.51 to 0.33	-0.054 to 0.50	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.33	0.15	0.09		0.23	0.33	0.08	0.01	

¹Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); % Organic = % organic of fine sediment; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; Treat:Site = interaction between Treatment and Site.

²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full models); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC1 (not included in full models); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=-0.70) with Flow (not included in full model); Dep and DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full models; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016, so DOM_PC1 removed from full models; Road and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2017, so Road removed from full model.

Appendix Table 29: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for Margalef's Richness in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). The conditional R² in 2016 and 2017 were 0.66 and 0.68, respectively. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

	Explanatory Variables								
Response Variable		% EVSA	Site	Treat ment	DOM_ PC2	Road	DOM_ PC1	Treat:S ite	% Organi c
Margalef's Richness 2016	Slope Coefficient	0.51	0.44	-0.33	-0.26	-0.16	0.04	0.01	
	95% Confidence Interval	-1.01 to - 0.006	-0.08 to 0.10	-0.82 to 0.15	-0.76 to 0.23	-0.73 to 0.40	-0.53 to 0.60	-0.54 to 0.56	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.21	0.34	0.25	0.18	0.13	0.11	< 0.01	
Margalef's Richness 2017	Slope Coefficient	-0.30	0.35	-0.19	-0.19	-0.16			0.36
	95% Confidence Interval	-0.63 to 0.024	-0.001 to 0.71	-0.64 to 0.27	-0.53 to 0.15	-0.57 to 0.25			0.10 to 0.63
	Relative Variable Importance	0.29	0.33	0.10	0.12	0.08			0.54

¹% EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; Treat:Site = Interaction between Treatment and Site; % Organic = % organic of fine sediment.

²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full models); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (r=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (r=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (r=-0.70) with Flow (not included in full model); Dep and DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (r=-0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full models; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so DOM_PC1 removed from full models; Interaction between Treatment and Site, Road, and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2017, so Interaction and Dep removed from full model.
Appendix Table 30: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for Shannon's Diversity Index in 2016 and 2017, as determined via AIC_c model selection (Δ AIC_c < 7). The conditional R² in 2016 and 2017 were 0.68 and 0.44, respectively. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

				Expla	natory Va	ariables		
Response	Variable	% EVSA	Site	Treat ment	Road	DOM_ PC1	DOM_ PC2	% Organic
	Slope Coefficient	-0.24	0.22	-0.15	-0.13	0.13	-0.03	
Shannon's Diversity Index 2016	95% Confidence Interval	-0.42 to -0.05	0.02 to 0.42	-0.35 to 0.05	-0.35 to 0.08	-0.10 to 0.36	-0.25 to 0.18	
	Relative Variable Importance	0.34	0.28	0.07	0.08	0.08	0.04	
Shannon's Diversity Index 2017	Slope Coefficient	-0.17	0.15	0.10	-0.04	-0.11	0.06	0.11
	95% Confidence Interval	-0.27 to -0.06	0.04 to 0.25	-0.03 to 0.22	-0.14 to 0.06	-0.25 to 0.03	-0.06 to 0.19	-0.0002 to 0.22
	Relative Variable Importance	0.39	0.37	0.05	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.13

¹% EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Road = road density (m per ha sub-catchment); DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; % Organic = % organic of fine sediment. ²Site in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.87, 0.85) with catchment size (not included in full models); Treatment in 2016 and 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.77, 0.78) with WC_PC1 (not included in full models); DOM_PC2 in 2016 was highly correlated (*r*=0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with Flow (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 in 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % EVSA in 2017 highly correlated (*r*=0.87, 0.75) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); % Dec (% of deciduous tree species) and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4) in 2016 and 2017, so % Dec removed from full models; Road and DOM_PC1 had high VIFs (>4) in 2016, so DOM_PC1 removed from full model; Interaction between Treatment and Site, Road, and Dep had high VIFs (>4) in 2017, so Interaction and Dep removed from full model.

Appendix Table 31: List of "rare" taxa (i.e., present at less than 10% of sites) excluded from NMDS analysis of leaf litter invertebrate community structure in 2016 (total possible N=90) and 2017 (total possible N=94). See Tables A22 to A23 above for complete list of taxa and invertebrate counts.

Rare Taxa 2016	Rare Taxa 2017
• <i>Baetis</i> (early instar)	• <i>Baetis</i> (early instar)
Rhithrogena	Baetis brunniecolour
• Ephemera	• Caenis
Pteronarcys	• Epeorus
Oecetis	• Ephemera
• Hydroptila	Pteronarcys
• Nyctophylax	Acroneuria
Hesperophylax	Chloroperlidae (broken)
• Diplectrona	Perlodidae (broken/immature)
Ptilostomis	• Oecetis
Chironomidae (pupae)	• Hydroptila
• Clinocera	• Nyctiophylax
Oreogeton	Hesperophylax
• Empididae (other)	Pseudostenophylax
• Simuliidae (pupae)	Phylocentropus
• Tabanidae	• Hydropsychidae (other)
Dolichopodidae	Hydropsyche
• Antocha	Diplectrona
Molophilus	Rhyacophila fuscula
• Holorusia	• Clinocera
Pedicia	Oreogeton
• Pilaria	• Simuliidae (pupae)
Gomphidae	Tabanidae
Hirudinea	Dolichopodidae
Dysticidae	• Antocha
• Sialis	• Hexatoma
	• Holorusia
	• Pedicia
	• Pilaria
	Gomphidae
	Cordulegaster
	Hirudinea
	• Dystiscidae
	• Sialis
	• Gammarus
	Coenagrionidae
Total # Excluded: 26	Total # Excluded: 36
Total # Included: 64	Total # Included: 58

A.8. Hydrogen Stable Isotopes

Appendix Table 32: Average (\pm SD, N=1-3) hydrogen isotope values (δ^2 H, ∞) for stream water, Hydropsychids (H), leaves, biofilm, algae (calculated – not measured), coarse sediment (CS), and fine sediment (FS) in October 2016.

Site Name	Avg Water δ ² H	Avg H ⁸ ² H	Avg Leaf δ ² H	Avg Biofilm δ²H	Avg Algae δ²H	Avg CS δ ² H	Avg FS δ ² H
	(± SD, ‰)	(± SD, ‰)	(± SD, ‰)	(± SD, ‰)	$(\pm SD, \%)$	(± SD, ‰)	$(\pm SD, \%)$
DAN 2	-62.85	No doto	-106.68	-111.67	-232.71	-92.25	-89.34
PAN 5	(0.25)	INO dala	(2.44)	(2.08)	(0.25)	(5.16)	(2.52)
DAN 2	-72.65	-110.77	-115.02	-142.17	-242.74	-58.26	-76.44
FAN 2	(0.30)	(8.79)	(2.04)	(2.91)	(0.30)	(6.35)	(2.75)
DAN 1	-69.85	-104.94	-118.27	-103.91	-239.89	-71.03	-74.40
FANI	(0.26)	(1.52)	(2.90)	(1.07)	(0.26)	(2.37)	(1.47)
DAT 2	-75.24	-98.17	-119.16	-114.75	-245.29	-95.56	-100.09
DAT 5	(0.32)	(10.35)	(3.38)	(0.52)	(0.32)	(8.33)	(2.97)
D A T 2	-85.79	-133.90	-127.58	-139.44	-255.90	-104.14	-101.60
DAT 2	(0.25)	(8.76)	(5.10)	(3.81)	(0.25)	(6.96)	(0.77)
DAT 1	-83.29	-117.10	-112.40	-120.73	-253.06	-80.91	-65.43
DATI	(0.94)	(8.72)	(3.48)	(6.89)	(0.94)	(15.28)	(10.44)
KED 3	-68.71	-114.84	-109.49	-138.12	-239.02	-76.01	-83.45
KEK J	(0.58)	(10.90)	(1.05)	(1.82)	(0.58)	(5.42)	(2.89)
KED J	-69.79	-107.99	-117.08	-134.45	239.84	-73.62	-79.69
KEK 2	(0.41)	(6.43)	(3.42)	(0.60)	(0.41)	(1.48)	(2.03)
KED 1	-69.72	-138.19	-122.16	-119.15	-239.67	-76.74	-77.29
KLK I	(0.68)	(5.21)	(1.33)	(3.05)	(0.68)	(11.49)	(1.61)
	-63.39	-118.67	-119.28	-135.93	-233.76	-73.53	-78.10
KER 6	(0.26)	(11.46)	(0.73)	(1.44)	(0.26)	(5.82)	(2.91)
VED 5	-66.15	-108.31	-119.07	-117.92	-236.25	-71.49	-88.64
KEK J	(0.17)	(7.53)	(2.50)	(1.92)	(0.17)	(11.73)	(2.83)
	-67.49	-129.52	-127.29	-110.85	-237.69	-78.65	-89.70
NEK 4	(0.36)	(9.44)	(1.33)	(1.33)	(0.36)	(11.39)	(0.55)

Site Name	Avg Water δ ² H (± SD, ‰)	Avg H δ ² H (± SD, ‰)	Avg Leaf $\delta^2 H$ (± SD, ‰)	Avg Biofilm δ ² H (± SD, ‰)	Avg Algae δ²H (± SD. ‰)
		Augu	st 2017		
DAN 2	-69.48	-115.64	-111.34	-115.64	-239.48
ran 5	(0.10)	(1.38)	(2.94)	(1.38)	(0.10)
DAN 2	-74.09	-116.28	-112.54	121 21	-244.09
PAN 2	(0.30)	(0.59)	(2.45)	-131.21	(0.30)
DAN 1	-74.44	100.40	-102.76	104.50	-244.44
PAN I	(0.46)	-120.40	(1.23)	-104.56	(0.46)
DAT 2	-80.97	-106.79	-111.55		-250.97
BAIS	(0.69)	(3.95)	(2.14)		(0.69)
в лт 2	-83.81	140.40	-117.12	-129.27	-253.81
BAT 2	(0.48)	-149.40	(5.96)	(7.17)	(0.48)
	-84.38	-134.07	-117.67	-144.95	-254.38
BAT 2new*	(0.45)	(0.68)	(3.29)	(3.88)	(0.45)
DAT 1	-84.55	-115.75	-112.22	148.00	-254.55
BALI	(0.64)	(0.57)	(1.97)	-148.99	(0.64)
	-68.47	-109.15	-115.74	-117.24	-238.47
BAT 2new* BAT 1 KER 3	(0.06)	(1.14)	(5.43)	(0.27)	(0.06)
	-73.71	-107.18	-117.12	-119.43	-243.71
KER 2	(0.42)	(2.95)	(2.91)	(3.89)	(0.42)
VED 1	-75.04	-126.14	-118.87	-150.18	-245.04
KEK I	(0.24)	(1.47)	(2.11)	(1.94)	(0.24)
	-70.18	-112.71	-108.87	-128.80	-240.18
KEK 0	(0.27)	(5.93)	(2.11)	(0.46)	(0.27)
KEP 5	-73.31	-115.23	-108.07	-116.81	-243.31
KEK J	(0.84)	(3.07)	(1.23)	(0.58)	(0.84)
KED 1	-73.70	-116.40	-114.63	-120.45	-243.70
NLN 4	(0.54)	(1.70)	(0.98	(1.74)	(0.54)

Appendix Table 33: Average (\pm SD, N=1-3) hydrogen isotope values (δ^2 H, ‰) for stream water, Hydropsychids (H), leaves, biofilm, and algae (calculated – not measured) in August, September, and October 2017.

		Septem	ber 2017		
DAN 2	-73.04	102.72	-111.03	102 11	-243.04
PAN 3	(0.45)	-102.72	(2.38)	-123.11	(0.45)
DANO	-74.52	100.00	-103.96	-134.42	-244.52
PAN 2	(0.34)	-109.00	(1.89)	(1.28)	(0.34)
DAN 1	-76.84	-117.98	-115.69	-127.92	-246.84
PAN I	(0.39)	(6.89)	(6.06)	(2.52)	(0.39)
	-82.34	-98.27	-112.64	-119.57	-252.34
PAN 3 PAN 2 PAN 1 BAT 3 BAT 2 BAT 2new* BAT 1 KER 3 KER 2 KER 1 KER 6 KER 5 KER 4 PAN 3 PAN 2 PAN 1	(0.17)	(0.84)	(2.97)	(0.26)	(0.17)
	-87.33	-131.71	-119.99	-130.33	-257.33
BAT 3 BAT 2 3AT 2new* BAT 1 KER 3 KER 2 KER 1	(0.54)	(13.45)	(0.68)	(2.94)	(0.54)
	-84.17	-145.77	-137.06	-147.06	-254.17
3AT 2new*	(0.09)	(10.65)	(2.62)	(1.09)	(0.09)
BAT 1	-84.53	-123.05	-108.81	-137.48	-254.53
	(0.14)	(4.10)	(2.02)	(0.94)	(0.14)
	-68.12	-105.48	-106.28	-127.95	-238.12
KER 3 KER 2	(0.77)	(3.66)	(2.29)	(1.19)	(0.77)
KER 2	-73.04	-113.19	-114.83	-118.17	-243.04
	(0.46)	(3.41)	(1.38)	(2.21)	(0.46)
VED 1	-73.88	-121.75	-118.21	-123.85	-243.88
KEK I	(0.37)	(2.79)	(2.19)	(2.34)	(0.37)
	-70.01	-108.60	-99.83	-123.48	-240.01
BAT 1 KER 3 KER 2 KER 1 KER 6 KER 5 KER 4	(0.15)	(4.22)	(1.82)	(1.17)	(0.15)
KER 2 (() KER 1 -7 KER 6 (() KER 5 -7 KER 4 -7	-71.89	-123.16	-106.17	-104.48	-241.89
	(0.18)	(4.91)	(3.47)	(0.80)	(0.18)
	-74.93	-110.74	-117.59	-115.08	-244.93
KER 4	(0.63)	(2.92)	(0.70)	(3.02)	(0.63)
	·	Octob	er 2017	·	
DAN 2	-66.43	-104.27	-120.52	-117.07	-236.43
PAN 3	(3.34)	(6.12)	(1.33)	(0.69)	(3.34)
DANO	-69.95	-108.33	-109.12	117.00	-239.95
PAN 2	(0.25)	(3.44)	(5.09)	-11/.02	(0.25)
DAN 1	-67.87	-106.62	-117.84	-114.15	-237.87
PAN I	(2.54)	(1.62)	(4.62)	(2.10)	(2.54)
	-71.42	-91.06	-116.96	-120.35	-241.42
BAT 3	(0.29)	(7.79)	(2.06)	(2.87)	(0.29)

рат 2	-79.03	-151.89	-121.15	-149.72	-249.03
BAT 2	(0.40)	(1.80)	(1.39)	(5.09)	(0.40)
DAT 2maur*	-77.14	-139.75	-122.90	-141.05	-247.14
DAT Zilew ⁴	(0.39)	(4.79)	(2.53)	(3.66)	(0.39)
DAT 1	-76.53	-121.93	-124.69	-120.77	-246.53
DALI	(0.35)	(0.27)	(2.06)	(1.61)	(0.35)
VED 2	-61.27	-102.33	-113.92	106.06	-231.27
NEK J	(12.17)	(7.40)	(0.52)	-106.96	(12.17)
VED 2	-66.35	-110.73	-113.34	-116.53	-236.35
KEK Z	(0.30)	(0.95)	(2.36)	(0.78)	(0.30)
VED 1	-67.20	119 62	-121.45	-107.59	-237.20
KEK I	(0.50)	-118.03	(3.09)	-149.72 (5.09) -141.05 (3.66) -120.77 (1.61) -106.96 -116.53 (0.78) -107.59 (0.14) 108.57 (2.75) -96.65 (0.62) -104.10 (0.64)	(0.50)
VED 6	-67.45	-108.14	-113.14	108.57	-237.45
KEK 0	(0.35)	(8.68)	(3.99)	(2.75)	(0.35)
VED 5	-67.43	-109.89	-123.89	-96.65	-237.43
KEK J	(0.66)	(5.67)	(1.27)	(0.62)	(0.66)
KED 4	-67.37	-120.34	-131.71	-104.10	-237.37
NEN 4	(0.18)	(3.08)	(1.95)	(0.64)	(0.18)

Appendix Figure 4: Average (\pm SD) hydrogen isotope values (δ^2 H, ‰) for consumer (Hydropsychids) and all possible food sources in each catchment in October 2016.



PAN





- ▲Hydropsychids (corrected for dietary water) ◇Biofilm □Algae (Calculated) ○Leaves *Coarse Sediment
- ×Fine Sediment



KER 1

▲Hydropsychids (corrected for dietary water) △Biofilm

□Algae (Calculated)

Cleaves

- ★Coarse Sediment
- ×Fine Sediment

KER 2



Appendix Figure 5: Average $(\pm SD)$ hydrogen isotope values (dD, ‰) for consumer (Hydropsychids) and all possible food sources in each catchment in August 2017.







 Hydropsychids (corrected for dietary water) ◊Biofilm

DLeaves

KER 2



Appendix Figure 6: Average (±SD) hydrogen isotope values (dD, ‰) for consumer (Hydropsychids) and all possible food sources in each catchment in September 2017.











Appendix Figure 7: Average (± SD) hydrogen isotope values (dD, ‰) for consumer (Hydropsychids) and all possible food sources in each catchment in October 2017.







♦ Biofilm

□ Algae



KER 2

Appendix Table 34: Test results for significance for interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site for leaf litter %algae excluded from results section. All variables were transformed when necessary to meet the assumption of normal distribution.

Paired- Catchment Comparison	Response Variable	Year	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% Algae	Aug 2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.0003)	Yes (higher for PAN than BAT at upstream (multiple t-tests, <i>p</i> =0.0066))	Yes (one-factor ANOVA, p =0.0018, 0.020: higher upstream and downstream than middle-reach for PAN (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0029, 0.0030) and for middle- reach than upstream for BAT (p =0.019)) Yes
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	% Algae	Aug 2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> <0.0001)	Yes (higher for KER B than KER A at middle-reach (multiple t-tests, p=0.00061), for KER A than KER B at downstream (p <0.0001))	(one-factor ANOVA, $p < 0.0001$, 0.026: higher downstream than upstream and middle-reach and upstream than middle-reach for KER A (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p < 0.0001, < 0.0001 , 0.0038) and upstream than downstream for KER B ($p=0.030$)) Yes – BAT only
PAN _{ref} vs. BAT _{harv}	% Algae	Oct 2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.0006)	Yes (higher for BAT than PAN at middle- reach and downstream (multiple t-tests, p=0.011, 0.0058))	(one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0010: higher middle-reach and downstream than upstream and middle-reach than downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0008, 0.012, 0.018))
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	% Algae	Oct 2017	No	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> -0.12)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.98)

(two-factor ANOVA, *p*=0.38)

A.9. Mercury

Appendix Table 35: Average (± SD, N=3) concentration of MeHg in unfiltered (UF) and filtered (F, 0.45 µm) water, average (± SD, N=3) MeHg and Hg(II) in Hydropscyhids (H, µg/kg dw), %MeHg in Hydropsychids, and bioaccumulation factor for MeHg in Hydropscyhids (BAF) in October 2016.

04 N	Avg UF Water	Avg F Water	Avg	Avg		DAE	
Site Name	MeHg	MeHg	H MeHg	H Hg(II)	н %менд	BAF	
	$(\pm SD, ng/L)$	$(\pm$ SD, ng/L)	$(\pm SD, \mu g/Kg)$	$(\pm SD, \mu g/Kg)$			
PAN 3	0.099	0.10	34.24	80.89	32.56	342327	
	(0.029)	(0.014)	(1.47)	(43.90)			
PAN 2	0.081	0.12	93.01	60.60	36.81	754104	
1111,2	(0.011)	(0.0028)	(23.66)	(28.43)	50.01	751101	
ΡΔΝ 1	0.15	0.13	65.19	84.59	12 65	/193817	
	(0.0026)	(0.013)	(24.13)	(14.31)	72.03	475017	
DAT 2	0.16	0.17	136.09	31.45	<u>81 20</u>	704050	
DAT 5	(0.0032)	(0.011)	(8.21)	(6.27)	01.20	794039	
DAT 2	0.13	0.12	65.61	157.20	20.50	540592	
BAT 2	(0.0051)	(0.025)	(3.51)	(18.95)	29.39	5-7505	
	0.15	0.10	119.20	151.12	44.12	N. D.G.	
BALI	(0.036)	(0.0081)	(15.81)	(22.28)	44.13	No Data	
KED 2	0.096	0.095	29.68	41.04	42.00	1147100	
KER 3	(0.027)	(0.0066)	(4.98)	(6.45)	42.08	114/108	
VED 0	0.27	0.36	69.80	125.73	25.02	011071	
KER 2	(0.13)	(0.22)	(2.61)	(18.12)	35.92	3112/1	
	0.12	0.19	83.78	108.98	10.15	101150	
KER I	(0.059)	(0.015)	(6.15)	(4.76)	43.45	194470	
	0.40	0.30	100.90	117.74		440204	
KER 6	(0.15)	(0.11)	(6.51)	(15.93)	46.28	448381	
	0.20	0.24	132.14	131.66			
KER 5	(0.047)	(0.087)	(6.40)	(9.69)	50.12	338988	
	0.18	0.16	87.81	82.50			
KER 4	(0.012)	(0.025)	(11.07)	(18.09)	51.80	550115	

	Ν	
Site Name	(number of measurements	Details of N
	included in average for all sites)	
PAN 3	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
PAN 2	2	Aug, Oct 2017
PAN 1	1	Aug 2017
BAT 3	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
BAT 2	1	Aug 2017
BAT 2new*	2	Aug, Oct 2017
BAT 1	2	Aug, Oct 2017
KER 3	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
KER 2	3	Aug, Sept, Oct 2017
KER 1	1	Aug 2017
KER 6	2	Aug, Oct 2017
KER 5	2	Aug, Oct 2017
KER 4	1	Oct 2017

Appendix Table 36: Number of measurements for average seston Hg in 2017.

Appendix Table 37: Average (\pm SD, N=1-3) concentration of MeHg in unfiltered (UF) and filtered (F, 0.45 µm) water, average (\pm SD, N=1-3) MeHg and Hg(II) in Hydropscyhids (H, µg/kg dw) and seston (S, µg/kg dw), % MeHg in Hydropsychids and seston, THg in sediment (Sed, ppm), bioaccumulation factor for MeHg in filtered water and Hydropsychids (BAF), and biomagnification factor for MeHg in seston and Hydropsychids in August, September, and October 2017.

Site Name	Avg UF Water MeHg (± SD, ng/L)	Avg F Water MeHg (± SD, ng/L)	Avg Η MeHg (± SD, μg/kg)	Avg H Hg(II) (± SD, μg/kg)	H % MeHg	Avg S MeHg	Avg S Hg(II) (± SD, μg/kg)	S % MeHg (± SD, μg/kg)	THg Sed (ppm)	BAF	BMF
		•			Augus	st 2017					
PAN 3	0.074 (0.0060)	0.060 (0.0059)	45.71 (7.41)	93.02 (20.90)	32.95	3.26	239.72	1.34	66.79	761110	19.74
PAN 2	0.18	0.14	194.20 (2.64)	238.90 (86.13)	44.84	4.43	794.17	0.55	40.22	1355598	55.01
PAN 1	0.31	0.30	179.74 (24.16)	150.53 (31.02)	54.42	9.39	263.20	3.45	18.17	595493	19.13
BAT 3	0.16 (0.0077)	0.14 (0.0096)	191.37 (12.60)	67.95 (8.31)	73.80	5.43 (0.19)	196.04 (2.073)	2.69	48.01	1375229	39.85
BAT 2	0.18	0.084	137.86	111.83	55.21	4.93	205.88	2.34	24.49	1638599	27.97
BAT 2new*	0.13	0.11	170.11 (10.02)	180.53 (25.62)	48.52	9.87	318.14	3.01	173.62	1535650	26.67
BAT 1	0.12	0.095	185.67 (15.56)	158.11 (13.40)	54.01	7.79	185.20	4.04	4.04	1961018	33.11
KER 3	0.066 (0.011)	0.038	56.17 (4.32)	68.42 (11.88)	45.09	12.05 (11.34)	403.89 (314.56)	2.90	No data	1465995	8.94
KER 2	0.081	0.065	123.30 (9.77)	107.86 (9.11)	53.34	32.90	858.32	3.69	34.63	1885684	8.88
KER 1	0.079 (0.0057)	0.062	98.39 (10.37)	99.44 (37.47)	49.73	2.98	94.47	3.06	5.45	1577532	33.01
KER 6	0.18 (0.0061)	0.19	136.67 (10.03)	112.50 (9.60)	54.85	2.84	92.96	2.96	3.64	718059	51.04
KER 5	0.15	0.18	229.99 (2.29)	156.90 (40.57)	59.44	1.87	49.34	3.65	1.90	1291511	80.22
KER 4	0.16 (0.013)	0.13	137.05 (6.68)	89.50 (5.43)	60.50	No data	No data	No data	13.80	1084133	52.79

	September 2017												
PAN 3	0.014 (0.0013)	0.024 (0.0028)	58.22 (2.83)	38.66 (7.39)	60.09	2.93	169.11	1.70	68.17	2398583	25.14		
PAN 2	0.12	0.12	192.23 (32.09)	162.57 (58.28)	54.18	No data	No data	No data	16.28	1561675	54.45		
PAN 1	0.30	0.27	175.07 (21.93)	138.96 (30.91)	55.75	No data	No data	No data	16.14	655708	18.64		
BAT 3	0.40 (0.034)	0.13 (0.0075)	133.72 (7.19)	45.99 (1.40)	74.41	3.98	156.66	2.48	25.57	1035638	27.85		
BAT 2	0.10	0.093	131.09 (20.61)	154.07 (26.79)	45.97	No data	No data	No data	43.81	1409239	26.59		
BAT 2new*	0.15	0.14	150.84 (22.32)	213.58 (35.92)	41.39	No data	No data	No data	135.05	1069845	23.65		
BAT 1	0.11	0.11	153.06 (10.68)	187.17 (28.66)	44.99	No data	No data	No data	1.81	1451381	27.30		
KER 3	0.14 (0.085)	0.074 (0.0043)	77.57 (21.04)	126.24 (76.66)	29.14	3.46	149.43	2.26	34.00	1042641	12.35		
KER 2	0.14	0.11	109.99 (11.82)	181.75 (50.90)	37.70	6.65	149.60	4.26	14.53	960481	7.93		
KER 1	0.10 (0.0089)	0.091 (0.012)	93.17 (2.21)	145.53 (2.26)	39.03	No data	No data	No data	24.81	1025812	31.26		
KER 6	0.17 (0.0065)	0.16 (0.0061)	105.70 (2.91)	164.01 (30.52)	39.19	No data	No data	No data	9.20	676814	39.47		
KER 5	0.14	0.13	160.49 (10.49)	184.78 (27.68)	46.48	No data	No data	No data	18.47	1195546	55.98		
KER 4	0.095 (0.0096)	0.086 (0.0096)	85.35 (2.58)	107.68 (6.43)	44.22	No data	No data	No data	11.33	992816	32.88		
					Octobe	er 2017							
PAN 3	0.050 (0.024)	0.088 (0.0088)	36.33 (1.43)	58.74 (4.80)	38.21	0.76	61.49	1.22	13.21	413245	15.69		
PAN 2	0.11	0.097	88.50 (3.49)	152.08 (29.44)	36.79	2.63	194.28	1.34	8.57	911319	25.07		
PAN 1	0.30	0.26	93.38 (8.42)	163.64 (41.07)	36.33	No data	No data	No data	4.61	363772	9.94		
BAT 3	0.13 (0.026)	0.079 (0.0038)	No data	No data	No data	5.00	187.76	2.59	62.13	No data	No data		

BAT 2	0.066	0.051	107.45	305.27	26.04	No data	No data	No data	45.24	2101841	21.80
BAT 2new*	0.081	0.063	No data	No data	No data	2.89	146.02	1.94	220.53	No data	No data
BAT 1	0.082	0.076	122.85	708.96	14.77	3.42	115.43	115.43	2.88	1.84	1623078
KER 3	0.043 (0.0034)	0.027 (0.0039)	72.54 (3.92)	118.03 (16.84)	38.06	3.33	104.07	104.07	3.10	17.40	2674355
KER 2	0.10	0.076	68.59 (2.15)	151.71 (11.31)	31.13	2.09	78.19	78.19	2.60	16.94	899835
KER 1	0.083 (0.00068)	0.069 (0.0047)	72.85 (7.01)	146.66 (30.73)	33.19	No data	No data	No data	No data	7.90	1053443
KER 6	0.18 (0.0088)	0.16 (0.0054)	54.51 (9.26)	115.81 (11.06)	32.01	2.52	72.37	72.37	3.36	1.53	331382
KER 5	0.14	0.13	112.83 (2.72)	159.58 (20.48)	41.42	3.87	118.18	118.18	3.17	7.39	850140
KER 4	0.13 (0.0096)	0.11 (0.0041)	95.65 (6.28)	125.75 (30.15)	43.20	2.60	97.21	97.21	2.60	4.01	900090

Appendix Figure 8: Average $(\pm$ SD, N=3) THg (ppb) in sediment (averaged for three collections in August, September, and October 2017) plotted against the average $(\pm$ SD, N=3) % organic of that sediment (i.e., loss on ignition (LOI), averaged for 3 collections in August, September, and October in 2017).



Appendix Table 38: Test results for significance for interaction between treatment and site, effect of treatment, and effect of site for mercury response variables excluded from results section. All variables were transformed when necessary to meet the assumption of normal distribution.

Paired- Catchment Comparison	Response Variable	Year	Interaction?	Effect of Treatment?	Effect of Site?
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	MeHg Unfiltered Water	2016	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.023)	Yes (higher for BAT than PAN at middle-reach (multiple t-tests, <i>p</i> =0.010))	Yes – PAN only (one-factor ANOVA, p =0.014: higher downstream than middle-reach (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.014)) Yes
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	MeHg Unfiltered Water	2016	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0033)	Yes (higher for KER B than KER A at upstream (multiple t-tests, <i>p</i> =0.018))	(one-factor ANOVA, $p=0.045$, 0.020: higher at middle-reach than upstream for KER A (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.047), at upstream than middle-reach and downstream for KER B ($p=0.043$, 0.023)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	MeHg Unfiltered Water	2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.0008)	Yes (higher PAN than BAT at downstream (multiple t-tests, p=0.0002)	Yes – PAN only (one-factor ANOVA, p<0.0001: higher at middle-reach and downstream than upstream, and downstream than middle-reach (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0130, <0.0001, 0.0006)))
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	MeHg Unfiltered Water	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.18)	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.0010: higher KER B than KER A upstream (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0042)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.37)

PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	MeHg Hydropsychids	Aug 2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p<0.0001)	Yes (higher BAT than PAN at upstream (multiple t-tests, p=0.0002) and PAN than BAT middle-reach ($p=0.0310$))	Yes – PAN only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0450: higher middle-reach and downstream than upstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=<0.0001, <0.0001)) Yes
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	MeHg Hydropsychids	Aug 2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, p<0.0001)	Yes (higher KER B than KER A at all sites (multiple t-tests p=0.0002, 0.00005, 0.00560))	(one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0002, < 0.0001 : higher middle-reach than upstream and downstream and downstream than upstream for KER A (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0002, 0.0280, 0.0023) and higher middle-reach than upstream and downstream for KER B (p=<0.0001, 0.0001
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	MeHg Hydropsychids	Oct 2017	N/A (missing data in BAT)	N/A (missing data in BAT)	<0.0001)) N/A (missing data in BAT)
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	MeHg Hydropsychids	Oct 2017	Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> <0.0001)	Yes (higher KER A than KER B at upstream, higher KER A than KER B at middle-reach and downstream (multiple t-tests, p=0.03600, 0.00008, 0.02700))	Yes – KER B only (one-factor ANOVA, p=0.0001: higher middle-reach than upstream and downstream, higher downstream than upstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p<0.0001, =0.0007, 0.044))
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Hg(II) Hydropsychids	Aug 2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.39)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.21)	=0.0007, 0.044)) Yes (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.0005: higher middle-reach than upstream and downstream for PAN (Tukey's

			No	Νο	Multiple Comparisons, p=0.0022, 0.048), higher middle- reach and downstream than upstream for BAT (p=0.013, 0.044) Yes – KER B only (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.019$:
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Hg(II) Hydropsychids	Aug 2017	(two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.098$)	(Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05)	higher middle- reach than downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.012)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	Hg(II) Hydropsychids	Oct 2017	N/A (missing data in BAT)	N/A (missing data in BAT)	N/A (missing data in BAT)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	Hg(II) Hydropsychids	Oct 2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.52)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.63)	No (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05)
PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids	2016	N/A (not an average)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.50)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.62)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids	2016	N/A (not an average)	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.091)	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.52)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids	2016 Aug 2017	N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average)	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.091) No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.38)	No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.52) No (two-factor ANOVA, p=0.88)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids	2016 Aug 2017 Aug 2017	N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.091$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.38$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.52$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.88$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.37$)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids	2016 Aug 2017 Aug 2017 Sept 2017	N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.091$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.38$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.76$)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.52$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.88$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.37$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER A _{REF} vs. KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids % MeHg Hydropsychids	2016 Aug 2017 Aug 2017 Sept 2017 Sept 2017	N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.091$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.38$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.76$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.52$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.88$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.37$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids	2016 Aug 2017 Aug 2017 Sept 2017 Sept 2017 Oct 2017	N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.091$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.38$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.76$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) NA (missing data in BAT)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.52$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.88$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.37$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.74$) N/A (missing data in BAT)
KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. KER B _{HARV} PAN _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV} KER A _{REF} vs. BAT _{HARV}	% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids% MeHg Hydropsychids	2016 Aug 2017 Aug 2017 Sept 2017 Sept 2017 Oct 2017 Oct 2017	N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (not an average) N/A (missing data in BAT) N/A (not an average) YA	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.091$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.38$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.76$) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) No (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p>0.05) N/A (missing data in BAT) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.47$)	No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.52$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.88$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.37$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.34$) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.74$) N/A (missing data in BAT) No (two-factor ANOVA, $p=0.90$) Yes – BAT only

				reach (multiple t- tests, <i>p</i> -0.025)	middle-reach than upstream and downstream, and upstream than downstream (Tukey's Multiple Comparisons p=0.012, <0.0001, 0.0003))
KER A _{ref} vs. KER B _{harv}	THg Sediment	2017	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.20)	Yes (two-factor ANOVA p =0.013: higher KER A than KER B at upstream site (Sidak's Multiple Comparisons, p=0.35))	No (two-factor ANOVA, <i>p</i> =0.89)

Appendix Table 39: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for MeHg in unfiltered stream water, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). The conditional R² was 0.50. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables							
Response Variable		Voor	DOM_	%	Flow	% Organic			
		Tear	PC1	EVSA	Flow				
MeHg in	Slope Coefficient	-0.03	0.05	-0.02	0.02	-0.03			
Unfiltered Water	95% Confidence Interval	-0.05 to - 0.005	0.02 to 0.08	-0.07 to 0.02	-0.001 to 0.04	-0.06 to - 0.007			
	Relative Variable Importance	0.29	0.23	0.01	0.02	0.04			

¹Year = year of sampling; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Flow = stream velocity (m/s); % Organic = % organic of fine sediment.

²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.75) with Road (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.78) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep highly correlated (*r*=-0.73, -0.73) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep had high VIFs (>4), so Dep removed from full model; Catchment (as a fixed effect) and % Dec has high VIFs (>4), so Catchment removed from full model.

Appendix Table 40: Slope coefficient estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and relative variable importance for explanatory variables (EVs) included in the average model for % MeHg in Hydropsychids, as determined via AIC_c model selection ($\Delta AIC_c < 7$). The conditional R² was 0.79. Statistically significant EVs are bolded.

		Explanatory Variables											
Respons	se Variable	MeHg F Water	Year	% EVSA	Treat ment	Month	Site	DOM_ PC1	MeHg Seston	DOM_ PC2	Dep	% Organic	Treat: Year
	Slope Coefficient	-0.05	-0.40	0.26	0.14	0.04	-0.07	0.14	-0.07	-0.18	0.02	-0.13	-0.14
% MeHg in Hydrops ychids	95% Confidence Interval	-0.13 to 0.04	-0.50 to - 0.31	0.06 to 0.46	-0.08 to 0.37	-0.02 to 0.11	-0.36 to 0.22	-0.08 to 0.35	-0.33 to 0.19	-0.41 to 0.05	-0.13 to 0.17	-0.24 to -0.02	-0.20 to -0.07
	Relative Variable Importance	0.02	0.82	0.44	0.81	0.03	0.06	0.10	0.05	0.15	0.02	0.25	0.81

¹MeHg F water = concentration of MeHg (ng/L) in filtered water; Year = year of sampling; % EVSA = % effective variable source area compared to sub-catchment area; Treatment = % sub-catchment area harvested within the last 5 years; Month = month of sampling (1=August, 2=September, 3=October); Site = distance (km) to farthest downstream site within catchment multiplied by -1; DOM_PC1 = scores for DOM PCA axis 1; MeHg Seston = concentration of MeHg (μ g/kg) in seston; DOM_PC2 = scores for DOM PCA axis 2; % Organic = % organic of fine sediment; Treat:Year = interaction between Treatment and Year.

²Site highly correlated (*r*=0.85) with catchment size (not included in full model); Treatment highly correlated (*r*=0.73) with WC_PC2 (not included in full model); DOM_PC1 and Dep highly correlated (*r*=0.75, -0.74) with WC_PC1 (not included in full model); MeHg in filtered water highly correlated (*r*=0.70) with MeHg in unfiltered water (not included in full model); % Dec and % EVSA had high VIFs (>4), so % Dec removed from full models; Road and Treat:Site had high VIFs (>4), so Road removed from full model.

Curriculum Vitae

Kelli Leona Charbonneau

Bachelor of Science in Environmental Toxicology, Queen's University, 2016

Publications:

- Adams, J., K. Charbonneau, D. Tuori, R.S. Brown, and P.V. Hodson. 2017. Review of Methods for Measuring the Toxicity to Aquatic Organisms of the Water Accommodated Fraction (WAF) and Chemically-Enhanced Water Accommodated Fraction (CEWAF) of petroleum. DFO Can. Si. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2017/nnn. Vi + xx p.
- Adams, J., K. Charbonneau, D. Tuori, R.S. Brown, and P.V. Hodson. (2017). The case for standardizing oil toxicity test methods. Pp. 441-462 *In:* Proceedings of the Fortieth AMOP Technical Seminar, Calgary, AB, October 2015, 2017. Environment and Climate Change Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Charbonneau, K. 2016. Lethal and sub-lethal defects demonstrate the chronic toxicity of chemically-dispersed diluted bitumen to rainbow trout embryos (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Queen's University at Kingston. Bachelor's Honours.

Conference Presentations:

- Charbonneau, K., K. Kidd, M. Gray, D. Kreutzweiser, E. Emilson, P. Sibley, and N. O'Driscoll. Poster presentation. "Do impacts from forest harvesting accumulate spatially in streams? A multi-indicator study." Society for Freshwater Science Annual Meeting. May 20-24, 2018. Detroit, MI.
- Charbonneau, K., K. Kidd, M. Gray, D. Kreutzweiser, E. Emilson, P. Sibley, and N. O'Driscoll Poster presentation. "Do harvesting-induced disturbances accumulate in forest streams? A multi-indicator study." McMaster Water Network Student Research Showcase. Nov 3, 2017. Hamilton, ON.
- Charbonneau, K., K. Kidd, D. Kreutzweiser, P. Sibley, and N. O'Driscoll. Poster presentation. "Are there spatially cumulative impacts downstream of forest harvesting operations in northern hardwood catchments?" 13th International Conference on Mercury as a Global Pollutant. July 16-21, 2017. Providence, RI.
- Charbonneau, K., K. Kidd, D. Kreutzweiser, P. Sibley, and N. O'Driscoll. Poster and oral presentations. "Are there spatially cumulative impacts downstream of forest harvesting operations in northern hardwood catchments?" Canadian Network for Aquatic Ecosystem Services General Meeting. April 26-28, 2017. Toronto, ON.

Charbonneau, K., J. Adams, V. Langa, R.S. Brown, and P.V. Hodson. Poster presentation. "Morphological deformities indicate the chronic toxicity of chemically-dispersed dilbit to rainbow trout embryos." Gananoque Environmental Science and Engineering Conference. January 29-31, 2016. Gananoque, ON.